
 

 

 
Neuadd Cyngor Ceredigion, Penmorfa, 

Aberaeron, Ceredigion SA46 0PA 
www.ceredigion.gov.uk 

 
 

1 
 

PLEASE NOTE: This meeting may be broadcasted on the Council’s Facebook site 
and in the archive record of the meeting.  The images and sound recording may also 
be used for training purposes within the Council. 
 
At the start of the meeting the Chair will confirm if all or part of the meeting is being 
filmed.  

14 October 2021 
 
Dear Sir / Madam 
 
I write to inform you that a MEETING of COUNCIL will be held remotely via video 
conferencing on Thursday, 21 October 2021 at 10.00 am for the transaction of the 
following business: 
 
1.   Apologies  

 
2.   Disclosure of personal / prejudicial interests  

 
3.   Personal matters  

 
4.   A verbal update by the Leader of the Council in relation to COVID-19  

 
5.   To confirm the Minutes of the Meetings of the Council held on 23 

September 2021 (Pages 3 - 14) 
 

6.   To confirm the Minutes of the Special Meetings of the Council held on 
27 September 2021 (Pages 15 - 26) 
 

7.   To consider the Joint report of the Corporate Director on the Through 
Age & Wellbeing Strategy 2021 - 2027 and Action Plan (Pages 27 - 88) 
 

8.   To consider the report of the Corporate Lead Officer for Policy, 
Performance and Public Protection on the Draft Well-being & 
Improvement Objectives Annual Report 2020-21 (Pages 89 - 136) 
 

9.   To consider the report of the Corporate Lead Officer for Economy and 
Regeneration on the implications of phosphate levels in the Teifi SAC 
catchment on delivery of the replacement LDP (Pages 137 - 214) 
 

10.   To consider the Democratic Services Committee Annual Report 2020-
21 (Pages 215 - 228) 
 

11.   To consider the report of the Chief Executive in relation to The 
County of Ceredigion (Electoral Arrangements) Order 2021 (Pages 
229 - 238) 

Public Document Pack



 
 

  
 

A Translation Service will be provided at this meeting and those present 
are welcome to speak in Welsh or English at the meeting. 

 
 
 
Yours faithfully 

 
Miss Lowri Edwards 
Corporate Lead Officer: Democratic Services 
 
To:  Chairman and Members of Council 



 

1 
 

Minutes of the Meeting of COUNCIL 
held remotely via video-conference on 

Thursday, 23rd September, 2021 
 
PRESENT;  Councillor Paul Hinge (Chairman), Councillors Gareth Davies, John 
Adams-Lewis, Ellen ap Gwynn, Bryan Davies, Ceredig Davies, Clive Davies, Euros 
Davies, Gethin Davies, Ifan Davies (Vice-Chair), Marc Davies, Meirion Davies, 
Odwyn Davies, Peter Davies, Rhodri Davies, Dafydd Edwards, Endaf Edwards, 
Lloyd Edwards, Elizabeth Evans, Keith Evans, Rhodri Evans, Hag Harris, Catherine 
Hughes, Gwyn James, Alun Lloyd Jones, Gareth Lloyd, Lyndon Lloyd MBE, Dai 
Mason, Catrin Miles, Dan Potter, Ray Quant MBE, Rowland Rees-Evans, John 
Roberts, Mark Strong, Lynford Thomas, Wyn Thomas, Alun Williams and Ivor 
Williams 
 

(10.00 am - 2.05 pm) 
Procedure 
The Chairman of the Council, Councillor Paul Hinge welcomed all to the 
meeting and confirmed that the meeting was being webcasted. 

 
1 Apologies 

a) Councillor Steve Davies, Elaine Evans, Matthew Woolfall-Jones and 
Maldwyn Lewis apologised for their inability to attend the meeting. 

 
2 Disclosure of personal / prejudicial interests 

a) Councillor Elizabeth Evans declared a personal and prejudicial interest in 
relation to minute 11 below and left the meeting during this item. 

b) Eifion Evans, Chief Executive declared a personal and prejudicial interest 
in relation to minute 13 below, in accordance with the Code of Conduct 
for Local Government and withdrew from the meeting during this item. 

 
3 Personal matters 

a) Councillor Paul Hinge congratulated Josh Tarling who is currently 
competing in the Junior World Cycling Championship. On Tuesday he 
competed in the time-trial as a first time junior, winning the silver 
medal.  He also competed in the European event two weeks ago 
winning 2 gold medals: one in the Team Pursuit and one in the 
Omnium. He also held the yellow jersey for 2 of the three days of 
racing at the Junior ‘Tour of Wales’ cycling competition; 

b) Councillor Paul Hinge congratulated Finlay Tarling a member of the 
Welsh Youth Cycling Team winning the Team Pursuit, The Maddison 
Race and the Circuit Race during the 3 day event at the UK School 
Games’ 

c) Councillor Paul Hinge congratulated Lowri Richards a member of the 
Welsh Youth Cycling Team winning the Team Pursuit at the UK 
School Games; 

d) Councillor Paul Hinge congratulated Griff Lewis on wining the second 
stage of the Junior ‘Tour of Wales’ cycling competition, and for 
winning the Junior Championship at the Welsh National Criterium 
Championship in Rhyl, picking up his Category1 licence 

e) Councillor Paul Hinge congratulated Ieuan Andy Davies on winning 
the veteran 50+ road cycling race at the Welsh National Criterium 

Page 3

Agenda Item 5



 

2 
 

Championship in Rhyl; 
f) Councillor Paul Hinge congratulated Gruff Lewis on winning the time-

trial at the Welsh National Championship in Newcastle Emlyn, and he 
is now the Welsh National Time Trial Champion  Councillor Ellen ap 
Gwynn also congratulated him on winning the sprint at Borth in the 
Tour de Britain held recently, and Councillor Dai Mason also paid 
tribute to him; 

g) Councillor Ellen ap Gwynn congratulated Gwenallt Llwyd Ifan on 
winning the Chair at the National Eisteddfod; 

h) Councillor Ellen ap Gwynn congratulated Lleucu Roberts on winning 
the Daniel Owen Memorial Price and the Prose Medal at the National 
Eisteddfod; 

i) Councillor Ellen ap Gwynn congratulated Katie Hall, a Tregaron Day 
Care Assistant on being awarded the Social Care Star Award for her 
excellent care of Bryntirion residents; 

j) Councillor Ceredig Davies extended his condolences to the family of 
Mr William Edwards a former Councillor who passed away recently; 

k) Councillor Ceredig Davies  extended his condolences to the family of 
Mr John Davies who passed away recently; 

l) Councillor Ray Quant congratulated Councillor Dan Potter on being 
awarded a Medal for 40 years voluntary service with the RNLI; 

m) Councillor Ray Quant congratulated Councillor Marc Davies on being 
awarded a Medal for20 years’ service as a retained fire service officer; 

n) Councillor Ray Quant thanked the Fire Service and the Police 
Authority for their excellent service in responding to a fire in Borth, He 
thanked the Local Authority for their prompt action organising road 
closures and diversions and arranging alternative accommodation 
which fortunately was not required, and he thanked James Davies for 
his prompt action in alerting services to the incident;    

o) Councillor Gareth Lloyd congratulated Dion and Cara on organising a 
successful fund raising event raising funds for the Cancer Ward in 
Glangwili; 

p) Councillor Catherine Hughes congratulated Zara Evans, a former 
pupil at Ysgol Henri Richard, who is representing Wales in the triple-
jump in Derby on Saturday. 

 
4 A verbal update by the Leader of the Council in relation to COVID-19 

Councillor Ellen ap Gwynn gave a verbal update in relation to COVID-19 in 
Ceredigion. 
 
She noted that the infection figure had increased since she last reported to 
Council in June from 12.4 to 376.9 per hundred thousand in Ceredigion, and 
that the rate for all of Wales had increased from 22.5 to 559.9 per hundred 
thousand. The majority of cases are among pupils of school age, and whilst 
no School in Ceredigion has closed, some staff in neighbouring schools in 
Carmarthen are teaching remotely, and one school in Powys has had to 
close.   
 
Pupils between the ages of 12 and 15 will receive a letter from Hywel Dda 
University Health Board shortly inviting them to get their vaccines from 4 
October onwards, and will be able to attend either the Llanbadarn or the 

Page 4



 

3 
 

Cwmcou Mass Vaccination Centres.  Students have returned to Aberystwyth 
University and The University of Wales Trinity St David, Lampeter Campus, 
and both are monitoring the situation closely in relation to COVID-19 cases. 
   
The Health Service is under immense pressure at the moment as has been 
reported. In addition Care Services are also under significant pressures, with 
increased demand for care packages and a reduction in the availability of 
staff both within the central team and with contract providers.  The Council is 
currently advertising for additional staff, and the Leader asked that if anyone 
is aware of someone that may be looking for a career in caring to apply now 
as there is an urgent need for their service. 
 
There are currently 7 homes that are in the red category, with positive cases 
having all been identified amongst staff.  There are some voids currently 
within the care homes, however until the Welsh Government changes its 
rules enabling people to go into specific parts of the homes that are in the 
red category, we cannot support the hospitals in enabling discharge from 
hospital.  We hope that we can influence the Welsh Government on this 
matter. 
 
The mobile library is still available for click and collect, and the town libraries 
are still open.  There is a limit on the number of people that can enter at any 
one time and for a limited period only, and the computers are unavailable at 
present. 
 
The road closures as part of the Safe Zones have now come to an end.  The 
Council will be consulting the opinion of everyone regarding the operation on 
streets during the summer which will include the public, businesses etc. 
Many of the businesses have been grateful for the opportunity to operate 
outdoors but we need to understand the views of a wide range of people.  
 

5 To confirm the Minutes of the Meetings of the Council held on 
17.06.2021 
It was RESOLVED to confirm as a true record the Minutes of the Council 
meeting held on 17th June 2021. 
 

6 To consider the following motion submitted under Rule 10.1 of the 
Council's Rules of Procedure: 
Proposer: Cllr. Ifan Davies  
Seconder: Cllr. Ray Quant  
 
Council notes that:  
The Independent Group requests that Ceredigion County Council call on 
Welsh Government to legislate that:  

1. Any subsidy directly or indirectly obtained through any government 
schemes for carbon management:  

a) is retained as carbon credit for the benefit of Wales’ economy and 
people,  

b) and that each County has a percentage gain of any credit generated in 
the said County which can be offset against the public services and 
goods of that said County,  

Page 5



 

4 
 

c) and also, that any third-party sale or lease of carbon credit outside 
Wales cannot be activated unless Wales is carbon neutral and where 
there is a 10% surplus of credit. 

 
Councillor Ifan Davies gave an outline of current situation noting that the 
Welsh Government has set a target for Wales to be carbon neutral by 2050 
and for the public sector to be 95% carbon neutral by end of the decade.  It 
was noted however, that there is currently a crisis in rural Wales with 
companies from other countries purchasing farms in rural areas to be entirely 
planted with trees in order to access the carbon management grants.  
Councillor Davies stated that he was aware of four farms have been 
purchased recently for this purpose, three in Carmarthenshire and one in 
Ceredigion.   
 
Councillor Davies stated that as farmers we realise the need to plant trees on 
our farms, which are planted on poor quality land, with the remaining land 
retained for food production. This recent development will impact on our 
community, our culture and our Welsh language.  Our young people will not 
be able to remain here, and this is comparable to the flooding of Tryweryn.   
Wales is not for sale for carbon credits. 
 
We need to draw the attention of Welsh Government to the real danger 
facing rural areas. Our carbon footprint in Ceredigion is very good, however 
the unintended consequences of the policy is that if credits are transferred 
outside Wales we will not be able to produce meat, milk, cheese and other 
food products and we will have to import such things.   
 
Councillor Ray Quant noted that it is a pleasure to second this Motion, noting 
that this is a high level strategic statement to the Welsh Government on 
behalf of Ceredigion County Council. 
 
During the discussion, Members noted that they supported the Motion stating 
that purchasing carbon credits could be seen as a way for large corporations 
to offload their responsibilities, whilst our self-sufficiency and ability to meet 
our own needs is reduced. Members noted that the Welsh Government 
provide grants to farmers to grow trees, and that this funding is being 
provided to these large corporations. Members also noted that that surplus 
carbon credits could attract businesses to the area. It was also noted that 
Carbon can also be trapped effectively in land, and that planting trees 
everywhere is not the only answer. 
 
Councillor Ellen ap Gwynn noted that she would raise this matter with the 
Welsh Government. 
 
Following a vote, it was RESOLVED unanimously to agree the motion as 
presented. 
 

7 Report of the Corporate Lead Officer for Democratic Services in 
relation to the Diversity in Democracy Declaration 
Councillor Ellen ap Gwynn, Leader of the Council and Cabinet Member for 
Policy, Performance and Partnerships, presented the report noting that the 

Page 6



 

5 
 

WLGA has been taking steps to advance gender equality and diversity in 
local democracy and ensuring that the barriers and challenges to attracting 
more diverse councillors are removed.  These barriers may include tie 
commitments and meeting times, political and organisational culture, 
childcare and other caring responsibilities, public criticism and online abuse, 
remuneration and impact on employment and lack of diverse role models 
and incumbency. 
 
The WLGA Council unanimously agreed that all Local Authorities should sign 
up to the Diversity in Democracy Declaration providing a clear, public 
commitment to improving diversity, agreeing the following Declaration: 
 
This Council commits to being a Diverse Council. We agree to: 

• Provide a clear public commitment to improving diversity in 
democracy 

• Demonstrate an open and welcoming culture to all, promoting the 
highest standards of behaviour and conduct 

• Consider staggering council meeting times and agreeing recess 
periods to support councillors with other commitments; and 

• Set out an Action Plan of activity ahead of the 2022 local elections.  
 
Members acknowledged that there is a lack of diversity currently within the 
Council and encouraged people from all backgrounds to stand at the next 
election.  They also acknowledged the challenges, and the difficulty in 
persuading individuals to stand at the Council elections in the current 
climate, and it was noted that the Council would try to attract different cohorts 
via the social media platforms. 
 
Following a vote, it was RESOLVED to: 
(i) endorse the Diversity Declaration as agreed by the WLGA Council as 

follows: 
This Council commits to being a Diverse Council. We agree to: 
• Provide a clear public commitment to improving diversity in 

democracy 
• Demonstrate an open and welcoming culture to all, promoting the 

highest standards of behaviour and conduct 

• Consider staggering council meeting times and agreeing recess 
periods to support councillors with other commitments; and 

• Set out an Action Plan of activity ahead of the 2022 local elections; 
(ii) approve that the Democratic Services Committee, in conjunction with 

the Group Leaders agree upon and deliver on an action plan leading 

up to the 2022 local elections with the aim of improving diversity in 

democracy. 

 
8 Report of the Corporate Lead Officer for Democratic Services in 

relation to the Edinburgh Declaration 
Councillor Ellen ap Gwynn, Council Leader and Cabinet Member for Policy, 
Performance and Partnerships presented the report noting that a letter had 
been received from Julie James MS, Minister for Climate Change inviting 

Page 7



 

6 
 

Local Authorities to join the Welsh Government in supporting the ‘Edinburgh 
Declaration: the greater inclusion of the role of local authorities and cities 
within the post-2020 global biodiversity framework - ensuring transformative 
change for nature over the coming decade’. 
 
The Edinburgh Declaration sets out commitments to implement the post-
2020 global biodiversity framework locally, ensuring people who live in local 
authorities across Wales can live in harmony with nature and protect 
valuable local ecosystems for future generations. 
 
Members acknowledged the importance of biodiversity and local 
ecosystems, however there was concern that there was a lack of detail in the 
letter from the Minister, and that it had not considered unintended 
consequences such as the impact on planning decisions. 
 
Following a vote, it was RESOLVED to approve that the Council’s signs up 
to pledge its support for the Edinburgh Process and Declaration. 
 

9 Report of the Corporate Lead Officer for Policy, Performance and 
Public Protection in relation to the Revised Concerns and Complaints 
Policy and Procedures including a report from the Corporate 
Resources Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
Councillor Ellen ap Gwynn, Leader of the Council and Cabinet Member for 
Policy, Performance and Partnerships presented a report to the Council, 
noting that the Council’s Complaints Policy and Procedures have been 
updated to incorporate vast operational changes that have taken place since 
the last review in 2015 which includes the centralisation of the Complaints 
and FOI Service, and to ensure compliance with the requirements of the 
Complaints Standards Authority introduced under the Public Service 
Ombudsman (Wales) 2019 Act, giving the Ombudsman authority to 
investigate without a referral from a complainant. 
 
These requirements are contained within the Council’s Complains 
Procedures document, which includes reporting bi-annually to the Cabinet 
Committee of Elected Members, and reporting information on complaints 
performance to the Governance and Audit Committee at least twice a year. 
 
Councillor Ellen ap Gwynn thanked the Officers for their work in producing 
the report and revising the policy accordingly. 
 
Councillor Ivor Williams, Chairman of the Overview and Scrutiny for 
Corporate Services noted that the committee reviewed the report at its 
meeting of 7 July 2021, recommending that it is referred to Council for 
approval. 
 
Following a vote, it was RESOLVED to approve the revised Concerns and   
Complaints Policy and Procedures 2021, and its implementation and publication. 
 

10 Report of the Corporate Lead Officer for Legal and Governance in 
relation to the use of the Regulation of Investigatory Powers Act 2000 
('RIPA') 

Page 8



 

7 
 

Councillor Ray Quant Deputy Leader of the Council and Cabinet Member for 
Legal and Governance, People and Organisation and Democratic Services 
presented the report noting that the Investigatory Powers Commissioner’s 
Office (IPCS) had recently carried out a review of the ways in which data is 
handled by the public authorities, including any data obtained under the 
Investigatory Powers Act (IPA) 2016 and the Regulation of Investigatory 
Powers Act (RIPS) 2000. 
 
The RIPA Policy PART II Directed Surveillance, Covert Human Intelligence 
Sources and Communications data Corporate Policy & Procedures 
Document has been revised, and these changes together with a Draft RIPA 
Social Media were consider by the Council’s Overview and Scrutiny 
Coordinating Committee on 15 September 2021 who resolved to recommend 
to Council to approve. 
 
Councillor Ray Quant thanked Officers for their hard work in preparing the 
documents, and their presentation to the Overview and Scrutiny Co-
ordinating Committee. 
 
Following a vote, it was RESOLVED to 
1. Approve the changes made to the Council’s RIPA Policy (as per Appendix 

1 of the report); and  
2. Approve the draft RIPA Social Media Policy (as per Appendix 2 of the 

report).  
 

11 Report of the Corporate Lead Officer for Economy and Regeneration in 
relation to Phosphates on the River Teifi Special Area of Conservation 
Councillor Rhodri Evans, Cabinet Member for Economy and Regeneration 
presented the report outlining the situation in relation to Phosphates within 
the River Teifi Special Area of Conservation (SAC) and seeking delegated 
powers to determine planning applications that would adversely affect the 
integrity of the SAC. It was noted that a report was presented and approved 
by Cabinet on 13 July 2021. 
 
Ceredigion County Council, as a ‘competent authority’ under the Habitats 
Regulations is legally requires to assess the potential impacts of projects and 
plans, on internationally important sites which include the Teifi SAC and 
catchment areas. Where there is a ‘Likely Significant Effect’, the council must 
carry out an ‘Appropriate Assessment’ in order to determine, with scientific 
certainty, that there would be no ‘Adverse Effect on Integrity’ on the 
designated site from the plan or project, either alone or in combination with 
other plans and projects. 
 
It was noted that the LPA currently have 45 applications that cannot be 
determined due to the above issue, which consequently need to be refused 
however the Corporate Lead Officer for Economy and Regeneration does not 
currently have delegated powers to refuse, and the Local Members cannot 
request that applications are presented to the Development Control 
Committee for determination, as there is insufficient information to support a 
proposal and a resolution to approve would result in an illegal decision. 
 

Page 9



 

8 
 

Members noted their concerns regarding the impact on planning applications 
and the knock-on effects on trade-people such as builder, electricians and 
plumbers; the impact on important developments such as Cylch Carol, the 
Wellbeing Centres and social housing;  the lack of detail provided by Dŵr 
Cymru regarding the method of sampling; concern that this may be extended 
to include coastal areas where there may be an effect on the marine 
environment; concern regarding private sewerage work which have not been 
adopted by Dŵr Cymru and the costs which are passed on to residents and 
the lack of timescale provided by the Welsh Government for providing 
guidance on how these decisions should be made.  
 
It was noted that The Leader of the Council and the Chief Executive have 
met with Dŵr Cymru and Natural Resources Wales, however very little 
information was forthcoming.  Russell Hughes-Pickering, the Corporate Lead 
Officer for Economy and Regeneration has set up a Nutrients Management 
Board, which will be Chaired by Councillor Rhodri Evans.  This board will be 
able to look into these concerns in detail. 
 
Following a vote, it was RESOLVED to approve the granting of delegated 
powers to the CLO Economy and Regeneration in consultation with the 
cabinet member to determine planning applications that do not comply with 
the phosphates directive (pursuant to the Conservation of Habitats and 
Species Regulations 2017), and have been received after the 1st June 2021. 
All applications that fall under this category and were received prior to the 1st 
of June 2021 would be held in abeyance until a time when there is clear 
guidance for determination of applications. 
 

12 Report of the Corporate Lead Officer for Legal and Governance in 
relation to changes to the Council's Constitution 
Councillor Ray Quant Deputy Leader of the Council and Cabinet Member for 
Legal and Governance, People and Organisation and Democratic Services 
presented the report noting that the proposed changes have been 
considered and approved by the Cross Party Working Group, to include: 

 Changes relating to the Ethics & Standards Committee and 
Governance and Audit Committee to reflect the requirements of the 
Local Government and Elections (Wales) Act 2021 (‘the 2021 Act’); 

 An amendment to the Constitution fee to reflect that copies of the 
Constitution may be provided for a charge representing no more than 
the cost of providing the copy; 

 Amendments relating the a guide to the Constitution; 

 Reference to the Council’s Anti-Slavery Statement / Policy; 

 An explanation and amendments of delegation in relation to Channel 
and CONTEST; 

 Amendments to delegations to the Corporate Lead Officer for Policy, 
Performance and Public Protection to reflect legislative changes in 
relation to wild animal and travelling circuses, smoking regulations, 
dangerous trees and litter; 

 The removal of reference to Education of Regional Working (ERW); 

Page 10



 

9 
 

 Amendments regarding Notices of Motion which has also been 
approved for recommendation to Council by the Democratic Services 
Committee; 

 Amendment to the call-in procedure which has also been approved for 
recommendation to Council by the Democratic Services Committee; 

 Amendments to clarify the voting procedures; 

 Amendments relating to Regulatory Committees referencing voting 
procedures; 

 Reference to the Socio-Economic duties; 

 Delegation to the Corporate Lead Officer Economy and Regeneration 
relating to Phosphates in Special Areas of Conservation; 

 Amendments to Housing to include the introduction and delegations 
for the Energy Efficiency (Private Rented Property) (England and 
Wales) Regulations 2015 and Renting Homes (Fees etc.)(Wales) Act 
2019 ; 

 Amendment to the wording, removing the restriction on a Local 
Authority’s Monitoring Officer being he Head of Democratic Services 
as per Local Government and Elections (Wales) 2021 Act, to be 
amended from May 2022; 

 Amendment to name of Porth Cymorth Cynnar; 

 Amendments to delegations to the Corporate Lead Officer Customer 
Contact to confirm the responsibility for Cyber resilience; 

 Amendment to the wording, replacing the word ‘salary’ with 
‘remuneration’ in relation to the Chief Executive in accordance with 
the Local Government and Elections (Wales) Act 2021 which came 
into force from 20th March 2021), and amendment of title from ‘Head 
of Paid Services’ to ‘Chief Executive’; 

 Amendment to reflect a requirement to consult on decision making 
processes and performance in accordance with the Local Government 
and Elections (Wales) Act 2021. 

A number of minor amendments were also noted related to stylistic and 
formatting changes, and corrections relating to names of committees. 

 
Following a vote, it was RESOLVED to: 
1.  note the contents of the Report  
2. approve the changes to the Constitution, as recommended by the 

Council’s Cross-Party Constitution Working Group and as listed in 
Proposals 1-20 of the Report; and  

3. authorise the CLO Legal and  Governance / Monitoring Officer to update 
the Council’s Constitution.  

 
13 Report of the Corporate Director in relation to the Review of Chief 

Executive post remuneration 
Councillor Ray Quant, Deputy Leader of the Council and Cabinet Member for 
Legal and Governance, People and Organisation and Democratic Services 
presented the report noting that Phases 1 and 2 of the Council restructure 
had been agreed by Council in 2018 and 2019. It was noted that as a result 
of this restructure, there are now 3 fewer roles at Senior Management level.  
Phase 3 of the restructure relates to addressing the level of remuneration of 
the Chief Executive by means of introducing a new pay structure and 

Page 11



 

10 
 

applying a four point range to ensure consistency with all other Chief Officer 
Pay ranges within the Council.  It was stated that the proposals had been 
presented and approved by the Independent Remuneration Panel for Wales 
on 11th June 2021. 
 
Councillor Ellen ap Gwynn thanked Caroline Lewis, Corporate Director for 
leading on the final element of the restructuring process, also thanking the 
Chief Executive and all Senior Officers for all the additional work done during 
the recent challenging times. 
 
It was noted that measures had been put in place to ensure that moving 
forward, a dual pay structure would be maintained if an Officer did not accept 
a pay award to ensure that this situation did not arise again.  
 
Following a vote, it was RESOLVED to: 

1. accept the proposal to amend the Chief Officer post remuneration and 

range as indicated and as approved by the Independent 

Remuneration Panel; 

2. approve to implement the changes to the remuneration range for the 

post of Chief Executive, with effect from 1st April 2021. 

 
14 Report of the Corporate Lead Officer for Democratic Services in 

relation to the Nomination of a County Council representative to the 
Hywel Dda Community Health Council 
Councillor Alun Williams explained his reasons for standing down from this 
role, in order to continue providing the COVID-19 vaccine, and thanked the 
local Community Health Council and the other Members of the Executive 
Group for all their hard work.  It was noted that this group advocates for 
patient complaints and are responsible for holding the Hywel Dda Health 
Board to account. In addition to this they have worked hard to ensure the 
reinstating of the bowel cancer screening, the breast cancer screening and 
they were the first Health Board in Wales to provide i-pads on all hospital 
wards.  
 
Following a vote, Councillor Gareth Davies was nominated to represent 
Ceredigion County Council on the Hywel Dda Community Health Council. 
 

15 The Governance and Audit Committee Annual Report 2020/21 
Councillor Rowland Rees-Evans, Chair of Audit Committee, presented the 
report to the Council noting the work undertaken during the year. 
 
He thanked Officers for their hard work throughout the year, and 
thanked the Members of Audit Committee for their contribution. 
 
The content of the report was noted by Council. 
 

Confirmed at the Meeting of the Council held on 21 October 2021 
 

CHAIRMAN:   

Page 12



 

1 
 

Minutes of a Special Meeting of CEREDIGION COUNTY COUNCIL 
held remotely via video-conference on 

Monday, 27th September, 2021 
 
PRESENT;  Councillor Paul Hinge (Chairman), Councillors Gareth Davies, Ellen ap 
Gwynn, Bryan Davies, Gethin Davies, Odwyn Davies, Dafydd Edwards, Elizabeth 
Evans, Keith Evans, Hag Harris, Catherine Hughes, Gareth Lloyd, Dai Mason, Catrin 
Miles, Ray Quant MBE, Rowland Rees-Evans, John Roberts, Lynford Thomas, Wyn 
Thomas and Ivor Williams 
 

(2.00  - 2.50 pm) 
Procedure 
The Chairman of the Council, Councillor Paul Hinge welcomed all to the 
meeting and confirmed that the meeting was not being broadcasted. 
 

1 Apologies 
Councillor John Adams-Lewis, Ceredig Davies, Endaf Edwards, Rhodri 
Evans, Alun Lloyd Jones and Mark Strong apologised for their inability to 
attend the meeting. 
 

Councillor Alun Williams apologised for his inability to attend the meeting as 
he was on other Council duties. 
 

2 Disclosure of personal / prejudicial interests 
There were no disclosures of interest. 
 

3 Personal matters 
None 
 

4 EXEMPT ITEM 
The report relating to item 5 on the agenda, Enclosure B is not for publication 
as it contains exempt information as defined in paragraph 12 and 13 of Part 
4 of Schedule 12A to the Local Government Act 1972 as amended by the 
Local Government (Access to information) (Variation) (Wales) Order 2007. If, 
following the application of the Public Interest Test, the Council resolves  to 
consider this item in private, the public and press will be excluded from the 
meeting during such consideration, in accordance with Section 100B(2) of 
the Act. 
 
Members were requested, when dealing with the item, to consider whether to 
exclude the public and press from the Meeting. 
 
It was RESOLVED to exclude the public and press during consideration of 
item 5 below on the basis that the application contained personal information 
which should not, on balance, be disclosed to the public and press. The 
Chairman confirmed that the webcasting would be suspended during item 5 
below. 
 

5 Post of Corporate Lead Officer: People and Organisation 
The Council received a presentation and response to set questions from the 
applicants who had been shortlisted for appointment to the vacant post of 

Page 15

Agenda Item 6



 

2 
 

Corporate Lead Officer: People and Organisation. Feedback was also 
provided by the Chair of the Shortlisting Committee and the Chief Executive. 
 
Following a vote it was RESOLVED to offer the post to Mr G V Edwards.  
 
Consideration was given to the salary that would be offered. It was proposed 
and seconded that the post be offered on the second incremental point on 
the Corporate Lead Officer A1 pay scale, as the successful candidate is 
currently undertaking the role on an interim basis and has progressed to the 
second incremental point of the pay scale. 
 
Following a vote, it was RESOLVED that the post be offered on a salary of 
£73,837, the second incremental point on the Corporate Lead Officer A1 pay 
scale. 
 
Mr G V Edwards, on being offered the post, accepted the position on a salary 
of £73,837 which is on the second incremental point of the Corporate Lead 
Officer A1 pay scale, effective from the 14th December 2021. 
 
The public and press were then invited to enter the meeting.  
 
The Chairman confirmed that Mr G V Edwards had been offered and 
accepted the position starting on the second incremental point of at the 
Corporate Lead Officer A1 pay scale, to commence on 14th December 2021. 
 

Confirmed at the Meeting of the Council held on 21 October 2021 
 

CHAIRMAN:   

Page 16



1 

CEREDIGION COUNTY COUNCIL 

Report to: 

Date of meeting: 

Title: 

Council 

21st October 2021 

Through Age & Wellbeing Strategy 2021 – 2027 and 
Action Plan 

Purpose of the report:  For Council to consider the Through Age and 
Wellbeing Strategy 2021-2027 for recommendation for 
approval to Council 

For: Decision 

Cabinet Portfolio and 
Cabinet Member: 

Cllr Alun Williams and Cllr Catherine Hughes, 

The Through Age and Wellbein Strategy 2021-2027 was considered by Cabinet 
on 5th October 2021, and it was recommended for approval by Council. 

It was agreed in 2017 that a systematic review of all structures and service areas 
should be undertaken to ensure that services across the Council have the 
capacity and capability to meet the priorities of the Corporate Plans and 
Objectives. 

The transformation of services has progressed well with the final major change 
being the integration of social care and lifelong learning into the three services 
Porth Cymorth Cynnar, Porth Gofal and Porth Cynnal who along with Customer 
Contact make up the 4 main areas that fall within the Through Age & Wellbeing 
Programme of change. 

Formal restructuring of these services started in late 2019 with the implementation 
of the Corporate Manager structure across the services. The pandemic then 
delayed progress during 2020 but this was then further progressed from 
September 2020 onwards. It was recognised that a clear strategy was required to 
drive and communicate the need for change and how this would be achieved. 

Updates and workshops with members have taken place throughout the period of 
change. Staff and Trade Unions have been engaged and consulted during each 
part of the process.  

STRATEGY AND ACTION PLAN 

At the outset of the programme a vision was created that reflected the ambitious 
programme of change: 

‘To ensure every child, young person and adult in Ceredigion will be able to reach 
their full potential. To ensure fair access for all to excellent universal and targeted 
services that supports the health and wellbeing of all citizens. 

Page 27

Agenda Item 7



2 
 

 
To develop skills and resilience that will last a lifetime and enable individuals to 
cope well with the challenges and pressures that they may face.’ 

 
The Through-age & Wellbeing Strategy clarifies the vision and plans for the 
implementation The Through Age and Wellbeing strategy sets out the vision and 
associated approaches that will be taken to transform how the wellbeing and 
safety of the people of Ceredigion is supported. Giving a timeline of 2021-2027 to 
achieve the changes.  
 
The strategy describes the journey the Council will take, alongside its partners, to 
transform its way of working. It provides the strategic context to drive future 
commissioning, operational service delivery, care management and the Councils 
role in the integration of services. The strategy sets out how we will: 

 Put in place a new Through Age and Wellbeing Model of delivery 

 Reduce demand on managed care and support and focus resources on 
those who most need them 

 Support our workforce to develop a new approach to supporting individuals 
within Ceredigion 

 Focus on preventative services which help people to remain independent 
or regain the independence they want and value  

 Provide services within budget  

 Work with partners to provide a more joined up health, wellbeing and social 
care system  
 

The Strategy highlights 5 key objectives, these are underpinned by 12 focused 
areas of need that look at the root causes of why families and individuals may 
need information, advice, support and/or care. 
 
The purpose of the Action Plan is to clearly outline what is required over the next 
three years (and to signal what is likely in the years beyond that) to address the 
root causes in order to meet the 5 key objectives of the Strategy and, alongside 
our partners, rebalance the care and support to provide sustainable services 
within Ceredigion. 
 

 Has an Integrated Impact 
Assessment been completed? 
If, not, please state why -  

Yes and is ongoing 

Summary: 
Long term:  
Collaboration:  
Involvement:  
Prevention:  
Integration:  

 
Recommendation(s): For Council too approve the Through Age and 

Wellbeing Strategy 2021-2027 and Action Plan. 
 

Reasons for decision: To approve the Through Age and Wellbeing Strategy 
2021-2017. 

Page 28



3 
 

 
Overview and 
Scrutiny: 

The strategy and action plan were considered by 
Healthier Communities & Learning Communities 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee on 17th September 
2021 and recommended for approval. 
 

Policy Framework: 
 

Social Services & Wellbeing (Wales) Act 2014 
Wellbeing of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 
RISCA 
 

Corporate Priorities: 
 

Enabling individual and family resilience 

Finance and 
Procurement 
implications: 
 

On completion of the Action Plan, the aim is that the 
services will be financially more resilient. 

Legal Implications: 
 

The Strategy meets the requirements of the Social 
Services and Wellbeing (Wales) Act 2014 
 

Staffing implications: 
 

Continued restructure of services and teams to meet the 
strategy. 
 

Property / asset 
implications: 
 

None. 

Risk(s):  
 

Failure to implement the Strategy and the Action Plan. 

Statutory Powers: 
 

Social Services and Wellbeing (Wales) Act 2014 
Wellbeing of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 
 

Background Papers: 
 

None. 

Appendices: Through Age & Wellbeing Strategy and Action Plan 
 
Reporting Officer: Caroline Lewis 

 
Date: 1110/21 

 

Page 29



 1 

Ceredigion County Council – Through Age and Wellbeing Strategy – Action Plan 

The Through-age & Wellbeing Strategy clarifies the vision and plans for the implementation of the Through-age and Wellbeing programme. The Strategy highlights 
5 key objectives and in turn these are underpinned by 12 focused areas of need that look at the root causes of why families and individuals may need information, 
advice, support and/or care. These are:  

Substance Misuse 
• Substance misuse is the use of alcohol, illegal drugs, or over-the-counter or prescription medications in a way that they are not meant to be used that 

can negatively impact the health and day to day life of the person, their relationships and their family. The TAW will provide information and advice to 
educate the residents of Ceredigion, provide healthy diversionary activities that promote positive choices and provide direct support where necessary to 
individuals and families affected by substance misuse. 

Mental Health 
• Mental health problems affect around one in four people in any given year. Such issues range from common problems such as mild depression and low 

level anxiety to more severe conditions such as schizophrenia and bi-polar disorder.  They cost the UK economy around £34 billion a year. The ability to 
sign post, provide advice/information and or timely interventions at an early stage could prevent them reaching a crisis and empower them to manage 
their own wellbeing.   

Financial concerns 
• Families that have financial concerns or worries may fall into crisis, the ability to signpost to advice and information regarding a range of financial issues 

including benefits and debt managements will support families and individuals to manage their own circumstances and prevent financial hardship and 
housing difficulties 

Isolation 
• The feeling of being isolated from family and friends may cause individuals, such as children and young people, single-parent families, carers and the 

elderly to become worried and anxious. By identifying these issues early, support can be put in place to mitigate against potential escalation. Advice and 
assistance can be provided and people can be signposted to community groups, clubs or organisations where relevant. 

  

P
age 30



 2 

Frailty 
• Frailty refers to a person’s mental and physical resilience, regardless of age and whether able bodied or otherwise, or, their ability to bounce back and 

recover from events like illness and injury. It doesn’t mean a person lacks capacity or is incapable of living a full and independent life. For people at risk 
of frailty there are potentially preventable or modifiable risk factors or conditions. These include alcohol excess; cognitive impairment, falls, functional 
impairment, hearing problems, mood problems, nutritional compromise, physical inactivity, polypharmacy, smoking, vision problems, social isolation 
and loneliness. It is important that people living with or at risk of frailty have access to well planned, joined-up and local, preventative and early help 
services to avoid problems arising in the first place and rapidly deployed response services should anything go wrong. 

Domestic Abuse  
• Domestic abuse is an incident or pattern of incidents of controlling, coercive, threatening, degrading and violent behaviour, including sexual violence, by 

a partner or ex-partner or by a family member or carer. Children/Young People are adversely affected by living with the effects of Domestic Abuse in 
their lives and along with mental health and substance misuse issues, domestic abuse is the most prevalent causes of children being the subject of child 
protection procedures and in some cases, becoming children who are looked after. By developing a strategy to tackle domestic abuse at an early 
intervention/prevention level and also where necessary, providing intensive support to families when their situation is at a critical point in their lives, we 
aim to reduce, in time, the number of children who become looked after by the Local Authority and enable and support children to live happy and 
fulfilled lives, thriving within their own family and community,  

Independence  
• A valued, independent life is one where a person is given respect, dignity and privacy and is supported to make their own choices in all aspects of their 

lives. A better awareness of the role that positive risk-taking can play in helping people retain or regain their independence is central to any support and 
intervention strategy, as are deeper skills around strengths based assessment, advocacy support and individually tailored goals; all centred on voice, 
choice and control. 

Education Employment Training 
• Current projections suggest that the economy will fall into recession with unemployment increasing significantly, in particular in areas such as 

Ceredigion, due to the structure of its economy, i.e. small enterprises which are more vulnerable in times of financial crisis. Some individuals who may be 
at a greater risk of financial hardship and reliance on financial support, may require advice and assistance, employability support and an opportunity to 
access skills training in order to help them back into work. 

  

P
age 31



 3 

Poor Quality Housing / Homelessness  
• Housing conditions can influence our physical health and have a negative influence on our mental health and wellbeing. Children living in crowded 

homes are more likely be stressed, anxious and depressed, underachieve (educationally & socially) and have poorer physical health.  A safe, settled 
home is the cornerstone on which individuals and families build a better quality of life, access services they need and gain greater independence. Being 
homeless has a negative impact on peoples’ health and makes it difficult to access support services and increases the risk of crisis.  

Dementia  
• The predominance of old-age specific incidences of dementia is falling and a growing body of evidence supports the premise of potentially modifiable 

risk factors for dementia across all age groups. These include education levels, hypertension, hearing impairment, smoking, obesity, depression, physical 
inactivity, diabetes, low social contact, alcohol consumption, traumatic brain injury and air pollution. The potential for prevention/delay is high, 
especially when there is a focus on keeping cognitively, physically, and socially active in mid and later life and opportunities to signpost for early 
intervention following diagnosis (for people and their carers) are improving each year.  

Poor Physical Health  
• Individuals who have been identified as being in poor physical health typically exhibit health conditions such as diabetes, asthma, arthritis and heart 

disease, which may have been caused by behavioural factors such smoking, drinking, drug use, lack of exercise and a poor diet. Poor physical health can 
lead to an increased risk of developing mental health problems. By working with partners, e.g. Health, to identify these cases early, and by providing 
individuals with advice and information regarding a range of services available to them both through the Wellbeing Centres and out in the community, it 
will enable them to better manage their own health, which will prevent physical health problems from developing.  

Neglect of Children 
• Child neglect is a form of abuse, the results of which deprives a child of their basic needs and can include the failure to provide adequate supervision, 

health care, clothing, or housing, as well as other physical, emotional, social, educational, and safety needs. By safeguarding & offering support to 
parents and families through preventative services such as parenting support, budgeting, and positive behaviour management it can enable them to 
better meet the needs of their own children. 

The purpose of the following Action Plan is to clearly outline what is required over the next three years (and to signal what is likely in the years beyond that) to 
address the root causes in order to meet the 5 key objectives of the Strategy and, alongside our partners, rebalance the care and support that is provided within 
Ceredigion. 
  

P
age 32



 4 

Priority 1: PROMOTE POSITIVE HEALTH AND WELLBEING AND SUPPORT PEOPLE TO SELF SUPPORT  
Action X Ref Area(s) of need  What will it achieve/impact on rebalancing care and support  Lead Porth Year 
1.1 A new model for the delivery of information, advice and assistance.  

1.1.1 To improve the 
information and advice available 
regarding Direct Payments and 
promote the recruitment of 
Personal Assistants 

1 
2  
3  
4 

Isolation 
Independence 
Education, training 
and employment, 
Mental health, 
Substance Misuse, 
Dementia 

To develop a direct payments support service that provides a 
range of information, in accessible formats that will enable 
service users to consider creative and empowering approaches 
to support their wellbeing with reduced reliance on specialist 
services and provide opportunities for recruitment of personal 
assistants.   
 

Porth Gofal Year 1 

1.1.2 Establish an In-House 
financial advice and support 
service 

1 
2 
3 
5 

Financial concerns 
Poor Quality 
Housing,  
Independence 

To provide information and advice to service families and 
individuals that will allow them to manage their finances and 
prevent financial hardship including housing difficulties. 
Connect this to Wellbeing Centre strategy, service development 
& planning 

Finance to 
work with the 
Pyrth to agree 
approach  

Year 2  

1.1.3 Coordinated approach to 
Information Advice & Assistance 
(IAA) via our website 
information regards all services; 
promotion of existing services 

1 
2 
3 
4 

All Clear, easily accessible and up to date information on the range 
of services and support within Ceredigion that will support 
people to help themselves and know how to access support 

ICT led group 
with staff 
from the 
Pyrth. 

Year 1 

1.1.4 Establish 
marketing/comms strategy to 
promote preventative offers and 
information on services being 
offered by our partners  

1 
2 
3 
5 

All Signal to Corporate the support needed to lift awareness of new 
ways of working and new services on offer and how to access 
them  

To be 
determined 
 - Needs to 
link to 1.1.3 

Year 2 

1.1.5 Develop Clic as the first 
point of contact and an 
information service 

1 
2 
3 

All Will promote the single and easy access to information and 
referral service and reduce burden on Social Workers to provide 
this information  

Customer 
Contact (Clic) 

Year 1 

P
age 33



 5 

Action X Ref Area(s) of need  What will it achieve/impact on rebalancing care and support  Lead Porth Year 
1.1.6 Develop focused and 
universal services that will be 
available at Lampeter wellbeing 
centre  

1 
2 
3 
 

All (The service focus 
of the centre would 
need to be 
determined) 

• To improve the mental, emotional, physical and social 
wellbeing of the residents in the Lampeter area/Mid County 

• To improve the guidance and support available to vulnerable 
individuals and families who encounter challenges 

• Further develop strengths-based, outcome focused services 
for citizens 

• Safeguard and nurture the most vulnerable 
• Reduce burden on statutory services 

Porth 
Cymorth 
Cynnar 

Year 1/2 

1.1.7 Develop focused and 
universal services that will be 
available at Plascrug wellbeing 
centre 

1 
2 
3 

All • To improve the mental, emotional, physical and social 
wellbeing of the residents in the Aberystwyth area/North of 
the County 

• To improve the guidance and support available to vulnerable 
individuals and families who encounter challenges 

• Further develop strengths-based, outcome focused services 
for citizens 

• Safeguard and nurture the most vulnerable 
• Reduce burden on statutory services 

Porth 
Cymorth 
Cynnar 

Year 2/3 

1.1.8 Develop focused and 
universal services that will be 
available at Cardigan wellbeing 
centre 

1 
2 
3 

All • To improve the mental, emotional, physical and social 
wellbeing of the residents in the Cardigan area/South of the 
County 

• To improve the guidance and support available to vulnerable 
individuals and families who encounter challenges 

• Further develop strengths-based, outcome focused services 
for citizens 

• Safeguard and nurture the most vulnerable 
• Reduce burden on statutory services 

Porth 
Cymorth 
Cynnar 

Year 3/4 

  

P
age 34



 6 

Action X Ref Area(s) of need  What will it achieve/impact on rebalancing care and support  Lead Porth Year 
1.1.9 Develop focused and 
universal services that will be 
available in other towns via pop-
up provision and through the 
mobile outreach provision 

1 
2 
3 

All • To improve the mental, emotional, physical and social 
wellbeing of the residents in the ‘hard-to-reach / rural areas in 
Ceredigion 

• To improve the guidance and support available to vulnerable 
individuals and families who encounter challenges 

• Further develop strengths-based, outcome focused services 
for citizens 

• Safeguard and nurture the most vulnerable 
• Reduce burden on statutory services 

Porth 
Cymorth 
Cynnar 

Year 4+ 

1.1.11 Improve IAA on assistive 
technology, aids and appliances 
available (Promote the 
“Connect” programme) 

1 
2 
3 
4 
5 

Isolation 
Frailty 
Independence 
Housing  
Dementia 
Poor physical health 

To provide self-help opportunities for early assistance within the 
persons home and local communities in order to empower 
individuals to maintain independence and individual resilience 

Porth Gofal Year 2 

1.2 A tiered approach to prevention. 

1.2.1 Develop a Wellbeing & 
Prevention Plan 

1 
2 
3 
4 
5 

All To develop a Wellbeing and Prevention Plan to align with the 
Through-Age and Wellbeing Strategy, Future Gens Act and 
SSWBA. The plan will outline the key priorities required to 
achieve the vision. The plan will be based on evidence, data and 
on feedback received through community engagement. 
The plan will provide us with detailed actions to inform change 
and improvement and support the development of the Porth 
Cymorth Cynnar service. 

Porth 
Cymorth 
Cynnar 

Year 1 

1.2.2 Agree Wellbeing Plan  1 
2 
3 
4 
5 

All Establish how what the timescales will be for the Wellbeing and 
Prevention Plan to be agreed through our internal democratic 
processes. 

Porth 
Cymorth 
Cynnar 

Year 2 

  

P
age 35



 7 

Action X Ref Area(s) of need  What will it achieve/impact on rebalancing care and support  Lead Porth Year 
1.2.3 Develop a Through Age 
Sensory Service that will support 
the needs across the continuum 
for a range of service users 
including Prevention health 
checks for care home residents 
and community.  

1 
3 
4 

Isolation  
Frailty 
Independence 
Dementia 
Poor physical health  

To support individuals with sensory impairments to live 
independently and lead fulfilled lives. 
 

Porth Gofal -  Year 2 
 

1.3 A robust range of support for Carers.  

No specific actions required as the Carers service currently provides effective and robust support. Need to ensure that focus is maintained on how the strategy 
impacts on this service 

1.4 Maximising the potential of community assets. 

1.4.1 Review the Community 
Connectors roles – do determine 
roles and responsibilities. 
Possible focus on outreach to 
combat Isolation, independence, 
promotion to Community 
Councils, clubs and organisations 
within each local community. 
Coordinate with CAVO and 
volunteers  

1 
2 
3 
 

Isolation, 
Independence, 
Education 
Employment 
Training 
 
 

To undertake an independent review of the Community 
(Outreach) Connectors roles in order to identify gaps in 
community infrastructure and to identify the growing 
complexity of people’s needs (Two key challenges facing our 
services). 
 
The review will provide comprehensive recommendations to 
inform change and improvement and will support the 
development of the Early Intervention Service 
 

Porth 
Cymorth 
Cynnar 
 

Year 1 

1.4.2 Enhance community safety 
prevention of offending and 
risky behaviours via outreach 
projects, working closely with 
statutory / partner 
organisations/3rd sector 

1 
2 
3 
5 

All Work with partners (statutory & 3rd sector) to gain a 
comprehensive understanding of the key characteristics of 
‘what works’ in terms of early interventions. 
 
Develop targeted outreach projects in order to prevent or 
reduce youth crime, offending or anti-social behaviour 

Porth 
Cymorth 
Cynnar 
 

Year 1 

P
age 36



 8 

Action X Ref Area(s) of need  What will it achieve/impact on rebalancing care and support  Lead Porth Year 
1.4.3 Needs Assessment – 
Developing a public engagement 
programme that will determine 
needs. Enhancing the Population 
Needs Assessment 

1 
2 
3 
4 
5 

All Refocus investment and service development Engagement 
team to work 
with the Pyrth 
to agree 
approach  

Year 2 

1.4.4 Review how we work with 
third sector to address issues 
within strategy (isolation, frailty, 
independence etc. and promote 
community involvement 

1 
3 

Independence 
Isolation 
Frailty 
Dementia 

Undertake a review / analysis of third party contracts to ensure 
that they remain ‘fit for purpose’ and offer best value and meet 
growing concerns in the county e.g.  isolation, frailty etc 

Porth 
Cymorth 
Cynnar 
 

Year 2/3 

  

P
age 37



 9 

Priority 2: STRENGTHEN FAMILIES SO THAT CHILDREN AND YOUNG PEOPLE REMAIN WITH THEIR FAMILY 
Action X Ref Area(s) of need  What will it achieve/impact on rebalancing care and support  Lead Porth Year 
2.1 Rolling out a whole family approach with a wide range of different statutory and voluntary agencies to work with a family. This coordinated 
partnership approach helps build on family strengths and bring about sustainable change in identified areas of concern for the whole family. 

2.1.1 Review the existing 
approach to TAF and our “whole 
family” approach to determine a 
new Through Age approach  to 
the provision of Early 
Intervention and Prevention 

1 
2 
4 
5 

Neglect of Children 
Mental Health 
Domestic Abuse 
Substance Misuse 

Clearly define the meaning of the ‘Whole Family Approach’. 
Review current TAF model and make recommendations for 
change. The ‘Whole Family’ approach should be a family-led 
strategy that provides adults and children with the tools they 
need to set their own goals, make their own decisions and 
create plans in order to achieve long-term change and stability. 

Porth 
Cymorth 
Cynnar  
 

Year 1 

2.1.2 Further adoption of Family 
Group Conferencing across the 
programme (early 
stages/prevention) 

1 
2 
5 

Neglect of Children 
Mental Health 
Domestic Abuse 
Substance Misuse 

To facilitate early help and advice to families who may require 
support in addressing emerging concerns around their ability to 
cope with challenges and maintaining the safety and wellbeing 
of specific family members. Promoting family and individual 
resilience with less reliance on statutory services   

Porth Gofal  
 

Year 1 

2.1.3 Enhance the Integrated 
Family Support and Edge of Care 
service to provide intensive, 
preventative support for 
children who are on the edge of 
coming into care 

2 
4 
5 
 

Neglect of Children 
Mental Health 
Domestic Abuse 
Substance Misuse 

To reduce the risk of children coming into local authority care 
whenever it is safe to do so 

Porth Cynnal  Year 1 

2.1.4 Development of the Safe 
Reduction of Looked after 
Children Strategy  

2 
4 
5 

Neglect of Children 
Mental Health 
Domestic Abuse 
Substance Misuse 

To ensure collective discussions across the TAW and with other 
relevant services in agreeing key strategic priorities and actions 
in addressing  safe reduction of looked after children 

Porth Cynnal Year 1 

2.1.5 Approve and implement  
the Safe Reduction of Looked 
after Children Strategy 

2 
4 
5 

Neglect of Children 
Mental Health 
Domestic Abuse 
Substance Misuse 

Ensure corporate and Council agreement and support of key 
strategic actions and priorities in safe reduction of looked after 
children 

Porth Cynnal Year 2 

  

P
age 38



 10 

Action X Ref Area(s) of need  What will it achieve/impact on rebalancing care and support  Lead Porth Year 
2.1.6 Review support available 
for Special guardians and kinship 
carers as part of the 
development of the LAC safe 
Reduction Strategy 

2 
4 
5 
 

Neglect of Children 
Mental Health 
Domestic Abuse 
Substance Misuse 

Support children to be cared for by their extended families and 
friends wherever it is safe  and appropriate to do so 

Porth Cynnal Year 2 

2.2 Working with our partners to address the causes of family difficulties and vulnerabilities (e.g. ACEs).  

2.2.1 Provide enhanced 
parenting support across the 
continuum and as a result of 
referrals from all sources - 
Support and Mentoring, 
Targeted Support 

2 
3 
 

Neglect of Children 
Mental Health 
Domestic Abuse 
Substance Misuse 
Financial Concerns 
Homeless Poor 
quality housing 

To review parenting support available and inform the 
development of universal and targeted parenting support 

Porth Cynnal Year 1 

2.2.2 Establish an inclusive core 
provision for holiday and play 
activities (including provision of 
food) including After School and 
Weekends. 

2 
5 
 

Neglect of Children To deliver a targeted programme of structured activities / play 
opportunities for vulnerable children, young people and families 
during holidays, weekends and after school to support their 
social, emotional, physical and mental wellbeing (grant funded 
this year - but will need to identify future funding  

Porth 
Cymorth 
Cynnar 

Year 2 

2.2.4 Strengthen support for re-
unification of children and 
families following placements in 
care whenever it is safe and 
appropriate to do so as part of 
the LAC Reduction Strategy 

2 
5 
 

Neglect of Children 
 

Provide support for children to return to the care of their 
families whenever it is safe and appropriate to do so 

Porth Cynnal Year 2 

  

P
age 39



 11 

Priority 3: ENABLE INDIVIDUALS TO LIVE INDEPENDENTLY IN THEIR OWN COMMUNITY  
Action X Ref Area(s) of need  What will it achieve/impact on rebalancing care and support  Lead Porth Year 
3.1 A Multi-Disciplinary Team and key coordinator model of working that brings together a range of health, social care and other community services that 
focus on intervening early to keep people well and independent by delivering the right care at home or in the community.  

3.1.1 Further development of 
the Porth Gofal Triage team to a 
Through Age model (including 
establishing a Porth Gofal hub at 
CILC Felinfach) 

3 
4 

All To provide an integrated triage of referrals with opportunities 
to provide signposting and onward referral to community early 
help and prevention services as well as targeted, short term 
services to meet identified support needs and therefore 
reducing the need for specialist long term care and support 

Porth Gofal Year 1 

3.1.2 Explore and develop the 
key coordinator approach as a 
Through Age model 

3 
4 
 

All To explore whether a ‘Key Co-ordinator’ role within the TAW 
Model would be appropriate. The key coordinator would be the 
person who works in a support role with individuals / families. 
They could act as a single point of contact for the individual / 
family supporting them to coordinate their care across health, 
education, social care, housing, financial concerns etc. The Key 
Coordinator could over time empower individuals / families by 
providing them with support, resources and information to 
meet their individual needs 

Porth 
Cymorth 
Cynnal 

Year 1 

3.2 The range of equipment provision and the use of assistive technology. 

3.2.1 Review the existing active 
technology in-house service: 
scoping possibilities of a 
hub/shop for Through Age 
delivery models  

3 Independence 
Frailty 
Dementia 

To develop an assistive technology and equipment strategy to 
inform the future work programme to increase accessibility and 
provision to the public as well as those referred via statutory 
services. 

Porth Gofal Year 1 

3.2.2 Develop future delivery 
models for assistive tech and 
equipment for Through Age 
model 

3 Independence 
Frailty 
Dementia 

It will provide an accessible opportunity for individuals to source 
appropriate aids and equipment to maintain independence and 
wellbeing and increased individual resilience and reliance on 
statutory services 

Porth Gofal  Year 2 

P
age 40



 12 

3.3 A range of service options that include rehabilitation, re-ablement, direct payments, day services and an enhanced domiciliary care provision. 

Action X Ref Area(s) of need  What will it achieve/impact on rebalancing care and support  Lead Porth Year 
3.3.1 Develop new model/s for 
provision of Direct Payments 

3 
4 

Independence To empower individuals to manage their own support needs 
creatively and independently with reduced reliance on statutory 
services to meet needs 

Porth Gofal Year 1 

3.3.2 Develop new through age 
model for re-ablement & 
domiciliary care / maximise the 
use of current provision and 
facilities 

3 
 

Independence 
Dementia 
 

To provide a responsive service that is able to meet the growing 
demand for community care services whilst focusing on 
enablement and recovery and promoting independence and 
individual resilience 

Porth Gofal Year 1 

3.3.3 Review provision of meals 
at home service including 
scoping community provision 

3 Independence 
Frailty 
 

To promote effective and efficient services in supporting 
people’s independence 

Porth Cynnal Year 2 

3.3.4 Develop Programme of 
Wellbeing for Chronic conditions 
and activities 

3 Independence 
Frailty 
 

Proactive services for people living with chronic conditions; 
choices that support what they can do not what they can’t 

Porth 
Cymorth 
Cynnar 

Year 2 

3.4 An holistic approach to supporting young people as they transition into adulthood. 

3.4.1 Review and develop 
required life skills 
support/training in areas such as 
housing, finance & employment 

3 Independence 
Financial Concerns 
Isolation 

Understand the requirements for life skills with a range of 
groups/service users and opportunities to meet those needs 

Porth 
Cymorth 
Cynnar 

Year 2 

3.4.2 Focussed support for Care 
Leavers and young people with 
learning disabilities with work 
experience/apprenticeship 

3 Independence 
Education 
Employment 
Training 

To support employment opportunities for vulnerable persons Porth Cynnal Year 2 

3.4.3 Develop opportunities for  
Co-operative/Social 
Prescribing/Social Enterprises  

3 Independence 
Education 
Employment 
Training 

Undertake a review to develop a better understanding of 
• what is meant by Co-operative/Social Prescribing/Social 

Enterprises  
• the reasons and need to develop social prescribing schemes 
• how this could work within Ceredigion 

Porth 
Cymorth 
Cynnar 

Year 4+ 

P
age 41



 13 

• how this will impact and be of benefit to the residents of 
Ceredigion 

3.5 A whole system approach to supporting people to live with long term conditions (with a specific focus on dementia support). 

Action X Ref Area(s) of need  What will it achieve/impact on rebalancing care and support  Lead Porth Year 
3.5.1 Establish the model for 
Dementia Coordination (remit / 
role / service mapping & 
gapping plus desired outcomes) 

 

3 Dementia 
Isolation 
 

Determine model in order to apply direction of national / 
regional strategies in a local setting.  
 
 

Porth Cynnal 
(Strategy/ 
Target 
Outcomes 
/Action plan)  
 
 

Year 1/2 

3.5.2 Develop Ceredigion 
Dementia Strategy and Action 
Plan 

3 Dementia To apply the national and regional strategies at a local level 
considering the range of support for dementia support and care 

Porth Cynnal 
(Strategy/ 
Target 
Outcomes 
/Action plan)  
 

Year 3 

3.5.3 Establish relationships with 
providers to develop facilities, 
particularly in high-end 
dementia care / nursing care. 

3 Dementia To provide local solutions and provision for dementia across the 
continuum of need 

To be 
determined 
with support 
from 
Corporate 
Services 

Year 2 

3.5.4 Identifying long term 
condition management 
programme, delivered via 
Wellbeing Centres in 
collaboration with the Health 
Board. 

3 Poor Physical Health  
Frailty 
Independence 
 

Deploying local services and support access points for citizens 
with long term conditions that do not require a care & support 
plan  

Porth Gofal Year 3 

  

P
age 42



 14 

Priority 4: PROVIDE PROPORTIONATE APPROACHES TO MANAGED CARE AND SUPPORT  
Action X Ref Area(s) of need  What will it achieve/impact on rebalancing care and support  Lead Porth Year 
4.1 An extensive coordinated intermediate care offer. 

4.1.1 Establish what short term 
intervention (eg Dom Care and 
Enablement) will be offered by 
Porth Gofal across Through Age 
model (8 to 10 weeks) 

4 Frailty 
Independence 
Dementia 
Poor Physical Health 

To provide a holistic approach to community support with the 
initial focus on targeted short term support, enablement and 
recovery reducing the need for long term care packages 

Porth Gofal Year 1 

 4.2 Timely and recovery focused approach to care and support. 

4.2.1 Evaluate Programme 3 - 
Health and Social Care workers 
integrate with Dom Care and 
Enablement 

4 Frailty 
Independence 
Dementia 
Poor Physical Health 

To enable the development of a holistic approach to community 
support with the initial focus on targeted short term support, 
enablement and recovery reducing the need for long term care 
packages 

Porth Gofal Year 1 

4.2.2 Review of provision of 
through age outreach support  
for people who have mental 
health difficulties in order to aid 
recovery 

3 
4 

Mental Health 
 

To inform development of through age early intervention and 
preventative support for people experiencing mental health 
difficulties. 

Porth Cynnal  Year 1 

4.2.3 Review of provision of 
through age outreach support  
for people who experience 
substance misuse 

4 
3 

Substance misuse 
Mental Health 

To inform development of through age early intervention and 
preventative support for people experiencing substance misuse 
difficulties 

Porth Cynnal Year 1 

4.2.4 Strengthen provision of 
support for children and young 
people who need support with 
mental health difficulties  

4 
3 

Mental Health To promote children and young people’s emotional and mental 
well-being 

Porth Cynnal Year 2 

  

P
age 43



 15 

Action X Ref Area(s) of need  What will it achieve/impact on rebalancing care and support  Lead Porth Year 
4.2.5 To review the range of 
respite provision for Through 
Age , day / part day / 
Residential/ 3rd Sector in order 
to develop a strategic plan for 
future provision 

4 
3 
2 

Frailty 
Independence 
Dementia 
Poor Physical Health 
Mental Health 

To ensure that there is a range of appropriate respite support 
available to maintain independence and support for carers, 
reducing the need for longer term care and support services  

Porth Gofal  Year 2 

4.3 A range of accommodation options that can meet short, medium and long terms needs for care and support. 

4.3.1 Agreement with Registered 
Social Landlord's for the 
provision of a range of 
accommodation including 
opportunities for crisis 
accommodation 

4 
2 

Homeless Poor 
quality housing 
Neglect of Children 
Mental Health 
Domestic Abuse 
Substance Misuse 

Availability of a range of accommodation and housing options to 
support individuals and families to live well and maintain 
wellbeing with less reliance on specialist services  

Porth Gofal Year 1 to 
3 

4.3.2  Review housing and 
accommodation and care 
provision for people with 
Acquired Brain Injury to inform 
future support 

4 Mental Health 
Substance Misuse  

To review provision to inform strengthening support for people 
with acquired brain injuries. 

Porth Cynnal  Year 1 to 
3 

4.3.3 Enhance accommodation  
provision for supported housing 
for vulnerable groups  notably 
people experiencing Mental 
Health difficulties Substance 
Misuse difficulties, Learning 

4 
2 

Mental Health 
Domestic Abuse 
Substance Misuse 
Homeless Poor 
quality housing 
Neglect of Children 
 

Promote opportunities for housing/accommodation for 
vulnerable groups 

Porth Cynnal Year 2 

  

P
age 44



 16 

Priority 5: PROTECT INDIVIDUALS AND KEEP THEM SAFE FROM ABUSE, HARM AND NEGLECT 
Action X Ref Area(s) of need  What will it achieve/impact on rebalancing care and support  Lead Porth Year 
5.1 Developing joined up and proportionate safeguarding arrangements for adults and children – within the Council and with partner agencies. 

5.1.1 Increase opportunities for 
more local & regional 
placements for children & 
families by developing the 
Parent & Baby facility and 
participation in the development 
of the Safe Accommodation  
Scheme for Children with 
Complex Needs 

5 
4 

Neglect of Children 
 

Increasing more local and regional placement choice for 
children and families and ensuring better quality outcomes. 

Porth Cynnal  Year 2 -3  

5.1.2 Develop a through age 
safeguarding team within 
Ceredigion CC that will align as 
far as possible the arrangements 
for adults and children whilst 
ensuring compliance with 
relevant legislation & guidance. 

5 
 

All To develop effective through age safeguarding arrangements 
across the model that also take account of age specific 
requirements 

Porth Cynnal Year 1 

5.1.3 Developing safeguarding 
threshold and pathway 
protocols across the model   

5 All To establish necessary protocols and thresholds to support  safe 
and effective working across the model 

Porth Cynnal Year 1 

5.2 Focusing specifically on the causes and effects of domestic abuse (e.g. substance misuse/ mental health/ financial pressures). 

5.2.1 Review local and regional 
support available for victims of 
domestic abuse to promote 
effective access of services. 

5 Domestic Abuse To ensure effective access to through services for people and 
families experiencing domestic abuse 

Porth Cynnal Year 2 

P
age 45



 17 

Action X Ref Area(s) of need  What will it achieve/impact on rebalancing care and support  Lead Porth Year 
5.2.2 Strengthen support with  
safeguarding awareness and 
information on keep safe 
strategies for people at risk of 
harm   

5 Domestic Abuse 
Neglect of Children 

To provide support to reduce the risk of repeat safeguarding 
referrals and improve people’s awareness of how they can keep 
safe from harm 

Porth Cynnal Year 2  

5.2.3 Develop early intervention 
and preventative responses to  
low level reports that do not 
meet the threshold for  
safeguarding interventions for 
children and adults 

5 Domestic Abuse 
Neglect of Children 

To ensure early intervention and prevention for people and 
families at risk of  experiencing safeguarding concerns 

Porth Cynnal Year 1  

5.2.4 Promote access to  the 
regional Perpetrator programme 
and support for victims of 
domestic abuse 

5 Domestic Abuse 
 

To  increase opportunities  for people to address  violent and 
abusive  behaviour and reduce the prevalence of domestic 
abuse 

Porth Cynnal Year 2 

5.2.5 Continue roll out of 
VAWDASV training framework 

5 Domestic Abuse 
 

To increase awareness and capacity for effective responses to 
domestic abuse. 

Porth Cynnal Year 2 

 
5.3 Leading on a dedicated programme to ensure safeguarding is adopted as everybody’s responsibility. 

Action X Ref Area(s) of need  What will it achieve/impact on rebalancing care and support  Lead Porth Year 
5.3.1 Deliver safeguarding policy 
and procedure training to all 
staff within an agreed 
framework 

5 Domestic Abuse 
Neglect of Children 

To increase awareness and capacity for effective responses to 
safeguarding  concerns 

Porth Cynnal Year 1 

 
 

P
age 46



Through Age and 
Wellbeing Model 

Strategy | 2021 - 2027

P
age 47



Introduction
Welcome to Ceredigion County Council’s Through Age and Wellbeing Strategy. 

This strategy is a key part of the Ceredigion County Council Corporate Strategy 
that illustrates the main priorities for the Council. The priorities aim to enable 
the delivery of services that will enhance the social, economic, environmental 
and cultural well-being for the people of Ceredigion.

Providing support for all ages and needs is a significant challenge for the Council with limited resources. The 
profile of society and demographics have changed considerably over the last decade with a significant increase 
in the prevalence and impact of substance misuse, poor mental health and domestic abuse and older age groups 
living in Ceredigion. As a consequence, demand for certain services has increased placing a greater financial 
pressure on those service areas. In addition, the unemployment levels coupled with the low income levels has 
placed increased difficulties on the ability of people to access safe, affordable housing.

P
age 48



One of the key priorities within the corporate strategy is to 
enable individual and family resilience. Within this priority 
the Council seeks to achieve the following outcomes:

Citizens of all 
ages will have an 
improved quality 
of life

Improved support 
networks for 
families and 
those in need 
across the County

Improved well-
being and health 
by adopting 
effective 
interventions

There will be well 
established networks of 
community and voluntary 
groups throughout the 
County providing strategic 
preventative support thus 
increasing community 
resilience and sustainable 
social care.

Improved 
choice and 
quality of 
local housing.

P
age 49



The priority that is focused on 
improving people’s futures seeks 
to achieve the following outcomes:

have a sustainable 
population age profile

have more 
opportunities, 
and be inspired 
to develop the 
physical, intellectual 
and social skills that 
lead to active and 
healthy lives

be equipped to realise their 
potential in the economic 
and social life of the County

continue to be 
a vibrant home 
for the Welsh 
language and 
culture

will have access to a 
range of health related 
programmes and 
interventions for all 
sectors of our 
communities, targeting 
those at greatest risk.

Ceredigion and its citizens will… All citizens

P
age 50



The strategy describes the journey the Council will 
take, alongside its partners, to transform its way of 
working. It provides the strategic context to drive 
future commissioning, operational service delivery, 
care management and our role in the integration of 
services. 

The Through Age and Wellbeing strategy sets out the vision and 
associated approaches that will be taken to transform how the 
wellbeing and safety of the people of Ceredigion is supported

P
age 51



Put in place 
a new Through Age and Wellbeing 

Model of delivery

Focus on 
preventative services which help 
people to remain independent or 

regain the independence they want 
and value 

Reduce demand 
on managed care and support 
and focus resources on those 

who most need them

Provide services 
within budget 

Support our workforce
to develop a new approach to 
supporting individuals within 

Ceredigion

Work with partners 
to provide a more joined up health, 

wellbeing and social care system 

The strategy sets out how we will: 

P
age 52



The Vision
Ceredigion County Council delivers value for 
money sustainable bilingual public services that 
support a strong economy and healthy 
environment while promoting well-being in our 
people and our communities,

To ensure every child, young person and adult in Ceredigion will be 
able to reach their full potential. To ensure fair access to excellent 
universal and targeted services that safeguard and support the 
health and wellbeing of all citizens. To develop skills and resilience 
that will last a lifetime and enable individuals to cope well with the 
challenges and pressures they face.

P
age 53



SSWBA - provides the legal framework for improving 
the well-being of people who need care and support, 
and carers who need support, and for transforming 
social services in Wales. It places responsibilities on 
local authorities (with their partners) to develop a 
range of preventative support, to focus on what 
matters to people when providing service, to ensure 
individuals are protected from abuse, harm and 
neglect and to develop care and support markets.

WFGA - requires public bodies in Wales to think 
about the long-term impact of their decisions, to 
work better with people, communities and each 
other, and to prevent persistent problems such as 
poverty, health inequalities and climate change.

RISCA - provides the statutory framework for the 
regulation and inspection of social care in Wales. It 
places the quality of services and improvement at the 
heart of regulation. It strengthens protection for 
those who need it and creates a regulatory system 
that is centred around people who need care and 
support, and the social care workforce.

SSWBA – Social Services and Well-being (Wales) Act 2014 WFGA – Wellbeing of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 RISCA – Regulation and Inspection of Social Care (Wales) Act 2016

Ceredigion Corporate Strategy - aims to re-
invigorate the local economy and provide a 

prosperous, healthy, safe and affordable environment 
in which the citizens of Ceredigion can live and work 
and which will aim to try and retain young people in 

well paid jobs

West Wales Population Needs Assessment -
provides a high level strategic analysis of the care and 
support needs of citizens and support needs of carers 

across West Wales. It assesses the extent to which 
those needs are currently being met and identifies 

where further improvement and development is 
required to ensure that individuals get the right 

support and are able to live fulfilled lives

Ceredigion Wellbeing Assessment - outlines 
what well-being looks like in the County and what 

Ceredigion’s residents and communities want well-
being to look like in the future. The assessment 

explores key issues which positively and/or negatively 
impact well-being and provides a basic overview and 
understanding of the nature and levels of well-being 

in Ceredigion

Through Age and 
Wellbeing Model 

Rebalancing Care and Support White Paper - intends 
to develop a national framework for commissioning social 

care that will rebalance care and support. It will reduce 
complexity and ensure that quality is the key determinant of 
success in the social care market. It will have a strong focus 

on strengthening and supporting the workforce. 

P
age 54



In 2020 the total 
population in 
Ceredigion was

NOW AND IN THE FUTURE
CEREDIGION

72,695
including 11,318 
students. 

Current population 
projections suggest that 
the total population of 
West Wales will rise to 
425,400 by 2033, with a 
rise in those aged over 65 
years from 88,200 in 2013 
to 127,700 by 2033. 

Over half (58.5%) 
of Ceredigion’s 
population speak 
Welsh, a 6% 
increase from the 
year ending 
September 2009. 

Child poverty in Ceredigion has 
increased by more than 3% since 2014.

Ceredigion has a lower number of looked After Children 
(LAC) than the national average. Care and support 
needs span a wide range from universal, through early 
intervention, multiple needs and remedial intervention. 

The predicted number 
of people aged 0 - 17 
that will have a 
disability according to 
Disability 
Discrimination Act 
definitions in 
Ceredigion in 2035 
will be 1006. 

The population of people aged over 65 living 
in Ceredigion will increase by 27% by 2039.

By 2033 the proportion of the population 
between 0-14 years in Ceredigion will reduce to 
15% and 15 –24-year-olds will also reduce to 11%.

people known to 
be diagnosed with 
Dementia in 2021, 
this figure is 
predicted to rise 
to 2021 by 2035.

1381

There are 3,444 active 
third sector organisations 
(above the national 
average of 3,330)

The percentage of children receiving 
care and support with substance 
misuse problems in Ceredigion is 5%. 
(below the Wales average of 7.5%). 

There is an 
expected 
significant rise in 
the numbers of 
people aged 65 
and over with a 
learning disability 
from 395 in 2021 
to 463 in 2035. 

Life expectancy in 
Ceredigion is good at 
80.5 years for males and 
84.1 years for females, 
both of which are above 
the national averages for 
males and females 
respectively.

The region attracts high levels of inward migration of 
people over 65. The level for Ceredigion is 29% 
migration rate with 85% of these being over 65. 

P
age 55



The Ceredigion context – case for change 
• Increasing demand, reducing supply 

(high life expectancy)

• Reducing number of children and young people 
(aged 1-15)

• Increasing costs in the system

• Complex system to navigate

• The need for integrated solutions across sectors

• Under-utilisation of community assets

• High levels of alcohol consumption

• Lowest average earnings

• High number of children home educated in West 
Wales

• Increase in drug and alcohol misuse in rural and 
urban communities

• Rising cost of accommodation

• Poor standard of housing conditions (impacting 
on older people’s wellbeing)

• Limited sheltered housing provision

• Retirement population invested in self 
development

• Many people receive care and support
from families

• Workforce availability 
(numbers commuting in and out)

• Above average number of third sector 
organisations

• Overdependence on the public sector for 
employment

P
age 56



Wellbeing 
at the core of 
what we do 

Securing rights and entitlements 
Control over day-to-day life (Adults) 

Physical and mental health 
and emotional wellbeing 

Physical, intellectual, 
emotional, social and 

behavioural development 
(Children)

Protection from 
abuse and neglect

Education, training 
and recreation

Domestic, family and 
personal relationships

Contribution made 
to society

Social and economic 
wellbeing

Participation in work 
(Adults)

Suitability of living 
accommodation

P
age 57



Strong early 
intervention and 

prevention 
infrastructure 

Reduced 
duplication of 

resources/ 
capacity and 

maximise what is 
already available 

Increased 
resilience of 
individuals in 

their 
community

A whole 
Council 

approach

To address the root causes of 
challenges and vulnerabilities for 

people and the reasons they come 
into contact with the service (e.g. 

adverse childhood experiences) 
“we will resolve problems not 

contain them”

Whole population 
approaches 

Reduced 
dependency on 
managed care 
and support

A 
transformational 
change in culture

and practice

To supporting 
people of all 

ages and their 
carers to 

manage their 
wellbeing 

THIS IS 
WHAT WE ARE 

GOING TO 
AIM TO 

ACHIEVE

To support people to 
develop their 
knowledge, skills and 
confidence to live well

An approach 
to service 
delivery 

That sees all elements 
of the Through Age 
Model providing the 
right support at the 
right time using a Team 
Around the Family/ 
Adult approach

Move away from 
focusing on the 
individual and 

their challenges in 
isolation 

To a more holistic 
approach that 
supports the person 
and their network 
(e.g. family and 
community support 
networks) as well as 
the individual 

Strong 
partnership 

working 

P
age 58



ACTIVITY

Reduction in 
managed care 
and support 

Increase in 
universal and 
preventative 
support 

BUDGET

Reduction in 
the budget 
allocated to 
Porth Cynnal 

Increase in 
the budget 
allocated to 
Porth Cymorth 
Cynnar

The journey to reprofile 
care and support in Ceredigion SUCCESS

• We are meeting people’s 
needs in the most timely 
way while helping them 
achieve what matters 
to them

• Decreased dependency 
on Council services

• Reallocation of resources and evidence 
to show that prevention is working as we 
are reducing the need for managed care 
and support

• We are maximizing the role of 
technology for individuals, staff and 
service delivery

• We have a highly skilled, effective and 
committed workforce

• We have a strong market with close 
relationships with providers that helps us 
to plan and commission effectively  

WHAT
WILL LOOK LIKE

P
age 59



The vision for the 
Through Age and Wellbeing Model (TAWM)

• To ensure every child, young person 
and adult in Ceredigion will be able 
to reach their full potential. 

• To ensure fair access to excellent 
universal and targeted services that 
safeguard and support the health 
and wellbeing of all citizens. 

• To develop skills and resilience that 
will last a lifetime and enable 
individuals to cope well with the 
challenges and pressures they face.

P
age 60



How we will achieve our vision

The Through Age & 
Wellbeing  model is 

foremost an operating 
model focusing on the 
delivery of integrated 

through-age services and 
Client journey rather 

than a systems or 
process strategy

To achieve our vision we have developed a Through Age and Wellbeing 
operating model that is designed to ensure people get the right level and 
type of support, at the right time, to prevent, reduce or delay the need for 
ongoing support, and to maximise people’s independence and to be able 
to remain in their own home in their own community wherever possible.

In order to do this we will:

• support those at a disadvantage and those who encounter challenges, 

• further develop strengths-based, outcome focussed services for 
citizens, 

• safeguard and nurture the most vulnerable, 

• aim to be the benchmark standard for excellence and innovation in 
Wales and beyond, 

• upskill our workforce to work collaboratively to improve the guidance 
and support available to individuals and families in Ceredigion. 

To ensure every child, young person and adult in Ceredigion will be able to reach their full potential. 
To ensure fair access to excellent universal and targeted services that safeguard and support the health 
and wellbeing of all citizens. To develop skills and resilience that will last a lifetime and enable individuals 
to cope well with the challenges and pressures they face.

We will always consider the view of the 
individuals, professionals and partners, as 
well as the wider Ceredigion workforce in 
the development and evolution of the 
model and we will always seek to be: 

• Accessible

• Friendly 

• Innovative 

• Approachable

• Non-judgemental

• Efficient

• Supportive

• Timely

• Effective 

P
age 61



THE PRINCIPLES 
THAT UNDERPIN 

OUR MODEL

WHAT WE WILL DO…
PEOPLE: We will work collaboratively across the teams, 
and with all Health, Third Sector and external partners, 
to ensure better outcomes for all our Clients and their 
families; providing the right help at the right time. 

PROCESS: We will seek continuous improvement, 
meeting legislative and statutory requirements and 
using collaborative principles and methodologies in 
everything we do, sharing best practice across Teams 
and ensuring robust management and supervision. 

TECHNOLOGY: We will use technology to be efficient in the 
allocation of work, to streamline repeat activity and 
provide assistance. We will drive a systems strategy that 
gives data oversight to ensure automated sharing of data 
between systems and ensure efficient use of data and 
recording processes. 

CONTROLS: We will protect the Local Authority 
from Operational Risk exposure and we will aim 
to improve the overall profile for all our partners. 

QUALITY ASSURANCE: We will increase our 
quality assurance activity to ensure we are 
continually reviewing the best interest of 
service uses and ensure high standards of 
support are delivered. 

SUSTAINABILITY: We will provide a service to the 
public that is not only fit for purpose, to meet the 
need of the citizens of Ceredigion, but also be 
efficient and sustainable for future demands placed 
on the Authority. 

P
age 62



TH
E 

PR
IN

CI
PL

ES
 T

HA
T 

U
N

DE
RP

IN
 O

U
R 

M
O

DE
L

Experiences should feel client focused and the Through Age and 
Wellbeing Model sets out to provide continuity and security with 
regard to: 

• Access to flexible support resources 

• Avoidance of barriers to collaboration, e.g. passing referrals back 
and forth would be wasteful and not Client centric 

• Preventing duplication 

• Preventing the model developing a sense of ‘processing’ and 
instead keeping the focus on the individual, their wellbeing and 
care and support needs

P
age 63



The individual’s journey through the TAWM…by 2027

We aim to provide first 
point resolution with regard 
to provision of information, 
advice and assistance when 
appropriate.

Proportionate Assessments 
and signposting, which will 
release capacity and time 
for more complex, planned 
care and through-age 
specialist services when 
eligible care and support 
needs are identified. 

• Self help and brokerage
• Empowering conversation
• Wellbeing centres
• Connecting people to local 

solutions and guided self help 

• Professional led 
supported by 
volunteers

• Community venues
• Multi-disciplinary 

including voluntary 
sector and partners 

• Professionally led
• Statutory 

interventions 
• Multi-disciplinary 
• Specialist social 

work support

70% 20% 10%

Long term 
support  

Short term 
support  

Prevention
IAA

Universal

P
age 64



ON-GOING 
SUPPORT IF 

YOU NEED IT 

HELP WHEN 
YOU NEED IT 

HELP TO HELP 
YOURSELF 

HELP FOR STRONG 
COMMUNITIES 

Highly individualised and managed care and support  
provided or arranged when people are unable to meet their 
own care and support needs and keep themselves safe 

Intermediate short term help and intensive support to 
help individuals to strengthen their resilience and  
regain independence 

Low level short term help that is provided directly or 
self managed to help people address emerging 
concerns as early as possible. Online support 
wherever possible. Someone to help if needed

Accessible, quick universal services that connect people 
to their communities (e.g. schools, roads, libraries, 
leisure facilities)
Close working with community groups, partners and 
voluntary organisations to offer a range of support 

How we will deliver 
a seamless and 
proportionate 
approach to 
care and 
support 

WELLBEING

People can 
move across 

the pyramid as 
their needs 

fluctuate 

P
age 65



Transformational 

Transitional

TraditionalWe will align services so that we have ‘one person/point of contact’ working/liaising 
with the family, rather than multiple people from various services across the model 
in order to avoid duplication of services and support. 

How practice will change in Ceredigion
MOVING FROM A PRACTICE APPROACH THAT…

Does things to/ for people and creating dependence

Sees the individual in isolation

Responds to what people can’t do

Is led by the traditional service responses

Is based on a one-size fits all

Is risk averse and escalates cases to high end 
managed care and support

TO A PRACTICE APPROACH THAT…

Focuses on enabling people to do things for themselves, promoting 
independence

Support the family and social network

Enables people to build on what they can do and the support they have 
around them

Is led by a good ‘what matters conversation’ that identifies what is 
important to the person 

Is creative and innovative and tailored for the person and 
his/her network

Promotes positive risk taking and enables people 
to exercise choice in how their needs are met

Is prepared to try different ways of working

P
age 66



The way we will work
This is the practice model that we will adopt across our leadership, processes and systems , practice, 
commissioning and the relationships we have with all people we work with and support.

Voice, 
choice and 

control

Strength 
based

Positive
risk taking

Proportionate

Outcome 
focused

(what 
matters)

Co-production

Signs of Safety

P
age 67



The way we will work – how it will look 

Voice, 
choice and 

control

PEOPLE
• will be able to make 

choices and decisions that 
are meaningful to them. 

• will be able to express 
who they are and what 
they want to be different 
in their life. 

STAFF
• will take into account the views and 

experiences of the people they 
support on an ongoing basis to have 
‘choice’ and ‘control’ in decisions 
that affect them.

• the person and their network will 
plan, implement and evaluate the 
choices the individual has made.

LEADERS
• will ensure practitioners 

develop interpersonal 
relationships between people, 
their families, carers and 
networks and the staff working 
with them.  

• will actively listen and respond 
to the experiences of staff in 
working in this way.

Strength 
based

PEOPLE
• will feel supported with 

their  independence, 
resilience, ability to make 
choices and wellbeing.

• will be able to draw on 
their personal resources, 
abilities, skills, knowledge, 
potential, etc.

STAFF
• will value the capacity, skills, 

knowledge, connections and 
potential in the people they 
support, their networks and 
communities.

• will work in collaboration with the 
people they support to help them 
do things for themselves 

LEADERS
• will acknowledge and celebrate 

success and the impact of the 
work undertaken by staff.

• will prioritise the development 
of the skills and confidence of 
practitioners

P
age 68



Positive
risk taking

PEOPLE

• will feel empowered and 
enabled to have the 
freedom of choice and 
the right to make their 
own decisions, on 
everything from how they 
want to be cared for, to 
how they want to spend 
their free time.

STAFF

• will work with the person and their network 
and other agencies to:

• weigh up the potential benefits of exercising 
one choice of action over another

• identify the potential risks involved

• look beyond the potential physical effects of 
risk to consider the mental aspects of risk, such 
as the effects on wellbeing or self-identity 

• develop plans and actions that reflect the 
outcomes of the individual

LEADERS

• will support reasonable risks 
and give permission to 
practitioners to work in this 
way

• will enable practitioners to 
use available resources and 
support to help individuals to 
achieve their outcomes and 
minimise potentially harmful 
outcomes. 

Co-production

PEOPLE

will feel that they are active in:

• managing their wellbeing and 
working towards their personal 
goals;

• making decisions about the care and 
support they receive, in relation to 
what’s important for their lives;

• engaging with and shaping services 
and support.

STAFF

• will work to an equal 
relationship with the 
person and their network 
so that they are part of the 
whole process 

LEADERS

• will work collaboratively with partner 
agencies to design and deliver 
services and in an integrated way 
wherever possible.

• will hold partners to account to 
ensure they take responsibility for 
supporting individuals’ wellbeing  

The way we will work – how it will look 

P
age 69



Outcome 
focused

(what 
matters)

PEOPLE
• are able to do the things 

that are important to 
them in their lives 

STAFF
• will acknowledge the person and their 

network’s strengths and develop an 
understanding of what is important to 
them and work towards establishing a 
shared sense of purpose to which 
everyone can contribute.

• will move away from only identifying 
needs and problems and matching 
those to service solutions 

LEADERS
• will trust practitioners to 

make decisions, 
including those that 
involve resource 
decisions and taking 
risks in order to support 
the achievement of 
outcomes for individuals. 

Proportionate

PEOPLE
• will not feel that the 

process and approach to 
support them is 
unnecessarily intrusive 

• will receive support in a 
timely manner and only 
with aspects of their life 
where this is needed

STAFF
• will provide the least intrusive 

response appropriate to the risk 
presented.

• will consider and address all risks 
so that no further harm is done.

LEADERS
• will take a far less adversarial 

approach, with proportionate 
involvement and respectful 
relationships being at the 
heart of their practice

The way we will work – how it will look 

P
age 70



THE 
VISION AND 
OBJECTIVES 

Promote positive health and wellbeing 
and support people to self support

To ensure every child, young 
person and adult in Ceredigion will 
be able to reach their full potential. 
To ensure fair access to excellent 
universal and targeted services that 
safeguard and support the health 
and wellbeing of all citizens. To 
develop skills and resilience that will 
last a lifetime and enable individuals 
to cope well with the challenges 
and pressures they face.

Strengthen families so that children 
can remain in their care

Enable individuals to live independently 
in their own communities 

Provide proportionate approaches to 
managed care and support 

Protect individuals and keep them safe 
from abuse, harm and neglect 

P
age 71



PROMOTE 
POSITIVE 
HEALTH AND 
WELLBEING 
AND SUPPORT 
PEOPLE TO SELF 
SUPPORT O

BJ
EC

TI
VE

THIS WILL BE ACHIEVED BY DEVELOPING:
• a new model for the delivery of information, advice and 

assistance 
• a tiered approach to prevention
• a robust range of support for carers
• maximising the potential of community assets

WHAT THIS WILL MEAN FOR THE FUTURE:
• There will be an easily accessible digital information and 

online self assessment process so that people can find 
solutions for themselves

• There will be a coordinated approach to information, 
advice and guidance that is easily accessible, for example 
through our Wellbeing Centres

• There will be an integrated and community based approach 
to supporting people to live independent and healthy lives

• Individuals will be supported to maintain their 
own health and wellbeing using resources they 
have themselves and around them

01

P
age 72



An IAA model for Ceredigion 

WellbeingEarly intervention and prevention Safeguarding

Online self help and self service 
• Information 
• Advice
• Transactional services and 

assessments 

Supported access
• Information
• Advice 
• Start of a what matters 

conversation
• Signposting to other 

services

Wellbeing Centres/ Location 
based services
• Information, advice and 

assistance
• What matters 

conversation
• Supported self 

management
• Signposting and/or 

referrals to other services  

Intensive and specialist 
support
• Professional led
• Information, advice and 

assistance through a 
structured  assessment

• Referrals to other 
services  

CLIC 
Libraries 

External agency referrals 
for care and support and 

safeguarding reports
Porth Cymorth Cynnar 

Porth Gofal 
Porth Cynnal

P
age 73



STRENGTHEN 
FAMILIES 
SO THAT 
CHILDREN AND 
YOUNG PEOPLE 
REMAIN WITH 
THEIR FAMILYO

BJ
EC

TI
VE

THIS WILL BE ACHIEVED BY:
• rolling out a whole family approach with a wide range of 

different statutory and voluntary agencies to work with 
a family. This coordinated partnership approach helps 
build on family strengths and bring about sustainable 
change in identified areas of concern for the whole 
family

• working with our partners to address the causes of family 
difficulties and vulnerabilities such as domestic abuse, 
poor mental health and substance misuse and wider 
ACE’s

WHAT THIS WILL MEAN FOR THE FUTURE:
• Family units (all generations) are supported to stay 

together and support each other
• When families reach or are close to a point of crisis 

they will be able to access support to respond to 
challenges and build their resilience after the crisis has 
passed

02

P
age 74



THIS WILL BE ACHIEVED BY DEVELOPING:
• a Multi Disciplinary Team and key co-ordinator model of working that 

brings together a range of health, social care and other community 
services that focus on intervening early to keep people well and 
independent by delivering the right care at home or in the 
community 

• the range of equipment provision and the use of assistive technology
• a range of service options that include rehabilitation, reablement, 

direct payments, day services and an enhanced domiciliary care 
provision

• a holistic approach to supporting young people as they transition into 
adulthood

• a whole system approach to supporting people to live with long term 
conditions (with a specific focus on dementia support)

WHAT THIS WILL MEAN FOR THE FUTURE:
• Individuals will have access to timely support to help them to 

maintain or regain their independence
• Assistive technology will be key in supporting individuals to be 

maintain their independence
• Individuals will be able to remain in their local communities 

with the support of their networks wherever possible
• Individuals needs will be met through integrated services but 

with the most appropriate person co-ordinating their care

ENABLE 
INDIVIDUALS 
TO LIVE 
INDEPENDENTLY 
IN THEIR OWN 
COMMUNITY O

BJ
EC

TI
VE

03

P
age 75



THIS WILL BE ACHIEVED BY DEVELOPING:
• an extensive co-ordinated intermediate care offer 
• a timely and recovery focused approach to care and 

support
• a range of accommodation options that can meet short, 

medium and long terms needs for care and support
• co-ordinated support to address the impact of substance 

misuse, poor mental health and financial difficulties 

WHAT THIS WILL MEAN FOR THE FUTURE:
• Individuals with greatest vulnerabilities will be able to 

access the right support to help them live their life in 
the way they want whilst making sure their needs are 
met, their outcomes achieved and any risks managed

• Individuals needs will be met through joined-up 
services but with the most appropriate person 
co-ordinating their care

• Individuals will have access to timely support that is 
right for them as their needs fluctuate 

PROVIDE 
PROPORTIONATE 
APPROACHES TO 
MANAGED CARE 
AND SUPPORT 

O
BJ

EC
TI

VE
04

P
age 76



THIS WILL BE ACHIEVED BY:
• leading on a dedicated programme to ensure 

safeguarding is adopted as everybody’s responsibility 
• developing joined up and proportionate safeguarding 

arrangements for adults and children – within the 
Council and with partner agencies

• focusing specifically on the the causes and effects of 
domestic abuse (e.g. substance misuse/ mental health/ 
financial pressures)

WHAT THIS WILL MEAN FOR THE FUTURE:
• Individuals will be supported at the earliest point to 

prevent them experiencing abuse, harm or neglect
• Families receive consistent and joined-up support 

when there are safeguarding concerns impacting on 
more than one person in the family 

• Individuals’ wider wellbeing will be actively 
promoted not just the areas of concern

PROTECT 
INDIVIDUALS 
AND KEEP 
THEM SAFE 
FROM ABUSE, 
HARM AND 
NEGLECTO

BJ
EC

TI
VE

05

P
age 77



Finance

The Foundations

Workforce

Technology
Strategic 

commissioning 
Data and 

intelligence 

• Proportionate allocation of resources
• Quality assurance and monitoring of 

spend to ensure value for money (in-house 
and external)

• Exploring options for charging as enabled 
in Part 5 of the SSWBA

• Maximising all funding streams to 
support whole family units and not 
targeted just at eligible individuals 

• Understanding and recognising return 
on investment 

• Detailed profile of the needs and 
outcomes of the population

• Understanding of patterns of demand and 
supply

• Up to date information about what the 
market is supplying and what works

• Strong relationships with providers 
to be able to shape the market

• Increased investment in early 
intervention and prevention

• Strong transformational 
leadership

• Develop staff to have the right 
skills, knowledge, experience 
and confidence

• Supportive management 
approach and working 
environment

• Support staff to work 
collaboratively with partners 

• Assistive technology for individuals
• Intelligent and integrated data systems 

Use of social media to engage with 
individuals 

• Online access to Council services
• Mobile digital technology for staff

P
age 78



Corporate 
Strategy

Through 
Age and 

Wellbeing 
Strategy 

Business 
Plans 

(Porth)

Operational 
Plans 

(Services)

The delivery infrastructure 

P
age 79



Corporate 
Strategy

The delivery infrastructure… in practice 

Through 
Age and 

Wellbeing 
Strategy

Through 
Age Model 
Supporting 
Strategies

Business 
Plan

Operational 
Plan

• Commissioning Strategies
• Quality Assurance 

Framework
• Workforce Strategy
• Prevention Strategy
• Dementia Strategy

P
age 80



The delivery infrastructure 

THROUGH AGE 
AND WELLBEING 

STRATEGY

Finance and 
procurement

Schools 
and culture

Policy and  
Performance

Economy 
and 

Regeneration

Highways 
and 

Environmental 
Services 

• Quality monitoring of finances
• Outcome based commissioning 

and procurement practice
• Aggregation and maximisation 

of funding available (e.g. 
grants)

• Whole family approaches to   
supporting children

• Using school sites and 
community buildings as 
community resources

• Schools supporting community 
resilience 

• Strategic partnerships 
interdependencies 

• Ensuring links with 
corporate strategy 

• Maximising opportunities   
through Economic Ambition 
Strategies

• States Services supporting 
adaptations of buildings (e.g. 
wellbeing hubs)

• Accessible and available car 
parking to access community 
resources

• Accessible and available 
transport infrastructure  

P
age 81



The transitional approach 
to achieving the vision

YEAR YEAR YEAR

• Information, 
Advice and 
Assistance

• Prevention
• Developing the 

workforce

• Rehabilitation 
and 
Reunification

• Commissioning 
services 

• Rebalancing 
long term 
care and 
support 

P
age 82



1 
 

CEREDIGION COUNTY COUNCIL 
 
Report to: Council 

 
Date of meeting: 21 October 2021 
  
Title: Draft Well-being & Improvement Objectives Annual 

Report 2020-21 
 

Purpose of the report: To present the Draft Well-being & Improvement 
Objectives Annual Report 2020-21 
 

For: Approval 
 

Cabinet Portfolio and 
Cabinet Member: 

Councillor Ellen ap Gwynn (Leader of the Council) - 
Policy and Performance, Partnerships and 
Democratic Services 
 

 
Introduction 
The Local Government (Wales) Measure 2009 places an obligation on Ceredigion 
County Council to publish an Improvement Plan to demonstrate its objectives and 
performance over the last year (2020-21). All local authorities are required to have 
arrangements in place to secure improvement across their services.  
 
Furthermore, the Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 places a duty 
on Councils to set and publish Well-being Objectives which are designed to improve 
the social, economic, environmental and cultural well-being of Wales, creating the 
Wales that we want now and in the future. All reasonable steps must be taken 
towards achieving these objectives, and an annual report is required to outline the 
Council’s progress in meeting them. The guidance on producing this document 
directs that a review of the Well-being Objectives should also be included.  
 
The Council combines these requirements into a single report – the “Well-being and 
Improvement Objectives Annual Report” which has to be published by 31st October 
2021. Despite the Covid-19 pandemic, the requirement to publish this report remains 
in place. However, this will be the last Annual Report in this format as the Local 
Government Measure is being replaced with Part 6 of the Local Government and 
Elections Act that introduces the new Self-Assessment performance regime from 
2021 onwards. 
 
Current Situation 
An annual review of the Well-being Objectives was undertaken in June 2021, taking 
into account the ongoing impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on service delivery. The 
review concluded that the existing set of Objectives remain fit for purpose and 
provide a more focused response to COVID-19 to protect and enhance the well-
being of everyone now and for the longer term. 
 
This approach was approved by Leadership Group on 16th June and will continue 
in 2022/23. (The list of Well-being Objectives can be found in Appendix A). 

Page 89

Agenda Item 8



2 
 

 
The draft Annual Report is attached as Appendix B. The format of the report has 
been amended following feedback from last year and its appearance updated. The 
document reviews performance during the 2020-21 year and as a result has a strong 
Covid-19 theme running throughout and when assessing performance for the year. 
 
It is important to note that although Audit Wales will be checking this for compliance 
and issuing a Compliance Certificate, they will not be auditing it in detail this year 
due to the end of the statutory requirement to produce the report. 
 
Timetable  
Once agreed, the plan will be published and made available on the Council’s Web 
site.  
 

Wellbeing of Future 
Generations: 

Has an Integrated Impact 
Assessment been completed? 
If, not, please state why 
 

There is no change to 
policy 

Summary:  
Long term: The Well-being Objectives were 

developed in accordance with the 
Sustainability Principle.  

Collaboration: 
Involvement: 
Prevention: 
Integration: 

 
Recommendation(s): (a) That Council consider and agree the draft Well-being 

and Improvement Objectives Annual Report 2020-21 
(b) That Council approve the Wellbeing Objectives for 

2022/23  
 

Reasons for decision: To progress with publishing the Well-being and 
Improvement Objectives Annual Report 2020-21.  
 

 
Overview and 
Scrutiny: 

Overview and Scrutiny Coordinating Committee 15 
September 2021  

Policy Framework: The Council’s Performance Framework. 
Corporate Priorities:  
Finance and 
Procurement 
implications: 

Core budget 

Legal Implications: 
 

Local Government (Wales) Measure 2009 
Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 

Staffing implications: None 
Property / asset 
implications: 

None 

Risk(s):  None 
Statutory Powers: None 
Background Papers: 
 

Corporate Strategy 2017-2022 

Appendices: Appendix A: Review of the Wellbeing Objectives 

Page 90



3 
 

Appendix B Draft Well-being and Improvement 
Objectives Annual Report 2020-21 
 

 
Corporate Lead 
Officer: 

Alun Williams 
 

Reporting Officer: Rob Starr (Performance and Research Team) 
 

Date:  21 September 2021 
 

Page 91



Appendix A: Review of Well-being Objectives 

The Well-being Objectives focus on short-term more focused response and recovery to the COVID-19 pandemic in order to protect and enhance the well-being of everyone 
now and in the future. They were identified, and are still aligned to, each of our Corporate Priorities, and take into account the Public Services Board’s Assessment of Local 
Well-being and the Well-being Plan.  

The existing Well-being Objectives have been reviewed and it was concluded that they should remain in place to support the ongoing recovery work of the Council and its 
partners.  

Therefore for the 2022/23 year the focus of our attention will be to support the needs of citizens in recovering from the pandemic and at the same time delivering against the 
priorities of the Council. 

Wellbeing Goal Corporate  
Priority 

2020/21 Wellbeing Objectives Proposed Well-being Objectives for 
2021/22 and 2022/23 

A Prosperous Wales 
A More Equal Wales 
A Globally responsible Wales 

1. Boosting the 
Economy 

 

1.1 Support businesses to respond to the 
impacts of Covid-19 
 

1.1 Support businesses to respond to 
the impacts of Covid-19 
 

A Prosperous Wales 
A Healthier Wales 
A more Equal Wales 
A Wales of Vibrant culture and 
thriving Welsh Language 
A Globally responsible Wales 

2. Investing in People’s 
Future 

2.1 Support learners of all ages and 
backgrounds to safely return to education 
and training and improve access to 
learning and employment 

2.2 Protecting people from poverty 
2.3 Promote and facilitate the distinct and 

vibrant bilingual culture and identity of 
Ceredigion 

 

2.1 Support learners of all ages and 
backgrounds to safely return to 
education and training and improve 
access to learning and employment 

2.2 Protecting people from poverty 
2.3 Promote and facilitate the distinct 

and vibrant bilingual culture and 
identity of Ceredigion 

 

A Healthier Wales 
A more Equal Wales 
A Wales of Cohesive 
Communities 
A Globally responsible Wales 

3. Enabling Individual 
and Family 
Resilience through  

3.1 Support citizens who have been 
disproportionately impacted by Covid-19 to 
improve their physical and emotional 
wellbeing 

3.2 Promote the well-being of individuals and 
communities within safe and accessible 
homes 

3.1 Support citizens who have been 
disproportionately impacted by 
Covid-19 to improve their physical 
and emotional wellbeing 

3.2 Promote the well-being of 
individuals and communities within 
safe and accessible homes 

A Prosperous Wales 
A Resilient Wales 
A Healthier Wales 
A More Equal Wales 
A Wales of Cohesive 
Communities 
A Wales of Vibrant culture and 
thriving Welsh Language 
A Globally responsible Wales 

4. Promoting 
Environmental and 
Community 
Resilience 

4.1 Support active travel, other modes of 
transport and ways of working that build on 
our zero-carbon ambition 

4.2 Support our communities to be strong and 
well connected so that they are able to 
thrive despite COVID-19 

4.1 Support active travel, other modes 
of transport and ways of working 
that build on our zero-carbon 
ambition 

4.2 Support our communities to be 
strong and well connected so that 
they are able to thrive despite 
COVID-19 

 

P
age 92



 

  

www.ceredigion.gov.uk 

ANNUAL REPORT  
2020-21  

 

    Annual Review of Performance  

and Well-being Objectives  

 

Mae’r ddogfen hon hefyd ar gael yn Gymraeg 

This document is also available in Welsh 

Page 93



 

  

 
Status: Draft 
Approved by Cabinet:  
Approved by Council:  
Publication date:          

Contact us 

     By Post: 

Ceredigion County Council 
Canolfan Rheidol 
Rhodfa Padarn 
Llanbadarn Fawr 
Aberystwyth 
Ceredigion 
SY23 3UE 

 

 By Telephone : 

01545 570881 

 

A Plain Text Version or Easy Read 
Version of this document is available 
from Ceredigion County Council 

Page 94



 

  

Contents 

Foreword 4 

Executive Summary 5 

Our County in Numbers 6 

Our Priorities 7 

Delivering the Priorities 8 

Where Does the Money Go? 9 

Boosting the Economy 10 

Investing in People’s Future 14 

Enabling Individual and Family Resilience 18 

Promoting Environmental and Community Resilience 22 

Cross Cutting Themes 26 

Embedding the Seeds of Change 28 

Review of the Well-being Objectives 32 

Benchmarking Our Performance 36 

ANNUAL REPORT 
 

Ceredigion County Council Annual Report 2020-21 

Page 95



 

  

Welcome to Ceredigion County Council’s Annual Report   

Welcome to the Ceredigion County Council Annual Report for 2020/21. This document illustrates our 

successes during the past year and sets our commitments to local residents for the next twelve 

months. We use it to monitor our performance and keep residents informed of our progress.  

As we go to press Ceredigion, like the rest of Wales, is still recovering from the COVID-19 health 

pandemic. Inevitably it has impacted most of the services we provide, and brought some of them to 

the fore. This last year has connected the Council more closely with the community we serve than ever 

before - Councillors, staff, community groups and our partners have all pulled together to support our 

communities and the most vulnerable in our society.  

We are proud and grateful for the response from our frontline services, Council staff and the many 

volunteers who have been working in partnership with the Council to ensure Ceredigion’s residents 

receive the support they need.  

In view of these challenges, we have remained focussed on delivering strong and resilient services that 

are truly responsive to the needs of our residents and local businesses. As we move forward, our focus 

will be on the recovery from the COVID-19 pandemic and we will continue to engage with, and 

support, both residents and business across the County. We are working hard to bring economic 

recovery and success to Ceredigion, supporting the most vulnerable, whilst ensuring that climate 

change initiatives underpin all that we do as we seek to protect our beautiful environment. 

Despite the significant impact of COVID-19, it is important that we reflect on and evaluate our 

performance on behalf of our residents. Ceredigion County Council continues to be amongst the top 

performing authorities in Wales. For example, during 2020/21: 

 Our vision for the Mid Wales economy and progressing the Mid Wales Growth Deal was shared 

with the Welsh and UK Governments to support much needed investment in the communities of 

the region 

 18,835 Business Grant payments were administered with a value of £49m to support local 

businesses through the pandemic  

 Over 15,000 food parcels were delivered to medically vulnerable residents ensuring they received 

essential supplies  

 Ceredigion’s schools successfully supported to reopen through site visits, operational guidance, 

risk assessments and Personal protective Equipment (PPE) deliveries 

 A new Economic Strategy and Tackling Hardship Strategy were published during the year 
 

In 2021/22 our Corporate Priorities remain Boosting the Economy, 

Investing in People’s Future, Enabling Individual and Family Resilience 

and Promoting Environmental and Community Resilience. It is into these 

areas that we will direct our resources to re-invigorate the local economy 

and provide a prosperous, healthy, safe and affordable environment in 

which the citizens of Ceredigion can live and work and which will aim to 

retain our young people in well paid jobs. In doing so we will continue to 

apply and embed the principles of the Well-being of Future Generations 

Act and contribute to the seven National Well-being Goals.  

I hope you enjoy reading about these and other activities in this report. 

Foreword 

 

4 

Councillor Ellen ap Gwynn   

Leader, Ceredigion County Council 

Foreword 

Page 96



 

  

Executive Summary 

1. The Well-being of Future Generations 

(Wales) Act 2015 directs that public 

bodies must produce a report on the 

progress it has made against its Well-

being Objectives. 
 

2. The Future Generations Commissioner 

for Wales and the Auditor General for 

Wales in their reports have indicated 

that there is an expectation that public 

bodies will implement changes in 

seven core areas of change in order to 

effect change throughout the 

organisation. The section, “Embedding 

the Seeds of Change” demonstrates 

how we are implementing these 

changes. 
 

3. We are now in the final year of our Corporate Strategy which outlines our Corporate 

Priorities for the period 2017-2022, which are Boosting the Economy, Investing in People’s 

Future, Enabling Individual and Family Resilience, and Promoting Environmental and 

Community Resilience. Progress against all four of the priorities are assessed as being 

“Green”. (Green = started and on target, Amber = started but behind target, Red = Not 

started). Full details on progress against the Council’s priorities can be found on pages 10-

25.  
 

4. We also assess progress using the Future Generation Commissioner’s Journey Checker 

which identifies the stage of progress being made - Boosting the Economy and Investing 

People’s Future are assessed as “Owning our Ambition”, and Enabling Individual and Family 

Resilience and Promoting Environmental and Community Resilience are assessed as 

“Leading the Way”.  
 

5. Progress against the Council’s Well-being Objectives shows that seven of the eight 

Objectives were assessed as being “Green”, i.e. started and on target. (Green = started and 

on target, Amber = started but behind target, Red = Not started).  

 

6. A review of the Well-being Objectives in 2020 resulted in a revised set that focused on the 

short-term response and recovery from the COVID-19 pandemic in order to protect and 

enhance the well-being of everyone now and in the future, particularly Ceredigion’s most 

vulnerable citizens.  
 

7. The latest review of the Well-being Objectives in June 2021 concluded that these Objectives 

will continue into 2022/23 as Ceredigion, along with the rest of Wales, continues to recover 

from the pandemic. The full review of our Wellbeing Objectives can be found on pages 32-

33.  

 

5 

Executive Summary Executive Summary 

Page 97



 

   
 

Our County in Numbers 

 

6 

31,246 
Households 

46.8 Years 
Average Age 

72,895 
People 

4% 
BAME population* 

47% 
Welsh Speakers 

10% 
With a disability 

25.6% 
Aged 65+ 

7,700 
University students 

OUR POPULATION 

*Black, Asian and Minority Ethnic 

 

TOURISM IN CEREDIGION 

96km 
of coastline 

2.94m 
visitors each year 

 

5,854 
jobs 

 

£403m 

 
contribution to 
the economy  

Our County in Numbers 

2,835 
Active  

enterprises  
 

33,434 
Dwellings  

 

 

8,800 
People self- 
employed 

42 
Councillors and 

40 wards 

43 
Schools and 

9,590 pupils 

6 
Leisure centres 
6 libraries and 

1 general 
hospital 

 

2,265km 
Of roads and 
2,500km of 

bridleways and 
footpaths  

74 
Equipped 

outdoor play 
areas 

 

Page 98



 

  

The Council has established the priority areas for improvement by continuing self-evaluation 

processes, stakeholder engagement and a diverse range of consultation events both on a formal 

and informal basis. Its understanding is also informed by national policies and priorities. 

The Local Well-being Assessment has also influenced the development of the Corporate Priorities 

that the Council will focus on up to 2022. 

The Priorities will enable the delivery of services that will enhance the social, economic, 

environmental and cultural well-being for the citizens of Ceredigion. 

Our Priorities 

 

 
 

7 

Our Priorities 

“Ceredigion County 

Council  delivers value for 

money sustainable 

bilingual public  services 

that support a strong 

economy and healthy 

environment while 

promoting well-being in 

our people and our 

communities” 

BOOSTING THE 

ECONOMY 

INVESTING IN 

PEOPLE’S FUTURE 

ENABLING INDIVIDUAL 

& FAMILY RESILIENCE 

PROMOTING 

ENVIRONMENTAL & 

COMMUNITY RESILIENCE 

Page 99



 

  

The Corporate Strategy includes an Action Plan and timeline for delivery of the Priorities. The 

Council regularly reviews performance against our Priorities and Well-being Objectives through 

Performance Management procedures and this Annual Report  highlights our progress so far. 

The Diagram below illustrates the governance structures in place. 

Delivering the Priorities 

 

8 

Delivering the Priorities 

MEINIR 
EBBSWORTH 

Corporate Lead 

Officer 

Schools & Culture 

STEVE JOHNSON 

Corporate Lead 

Officer 

Finance & 

Procurement 

ELIN PRYSOR 

Corporate Lead 

Officer 

Legal & Governance 

Services 

RUSSELL  

HUGHES-PICKERING 

Corporate Lead 

Officer 

Economy & 

Regeneration 

ALUN WILLIAMS 

Corporate Lead 

Officer 

Partnerships, 

Performance & 

Public Protection 

RHODRI LLWYD 

Corporate Lead 

Officer 

Highways and 

Environmental 

CEREDIGION 

COUNTY COUNCIL 

MANAGEMENT 

STRUCTURE: 

Corporate Director 

BARRY REES 

Chief Executive 

EIFION EVANS 

Page 100



 

  

The Medium-Term Financial Strategy sets out how the Council plans its budget annually and over 
the next 3 years. The strategy supports the overall management of the Council’s key resources to 
meet its objectives.  
 
The Council`s expenditure supports the delivery of its Corporate Strategy and its Well-being 
Objectives. Despite the Covid-19 pandemic during 2020, Ceredigion County Council continues to 
demonstrate an open desire to improve services and invest in better resources and facilities.  
 
In order to meet the budgetary challenges it faces, the Council continues to implement back 
office efficiencies, develop alternative delivery methods whilst also sustaining services.  
 
The following chart sets out the anticipated expenditure on services in 2020/21: 

Our Expenditure 

 

9 

Where Does the Money Go? 

Interim Corporate Director 

CAROLINE LEWIS 

LOWRI EDWARDS 

Corporate Lead 

Officer 

Democratic Services 

DONNA 
PRITCHARD 

Corporate Lead 

Officer 

Porth Gofal 

(Targeted Intervention 

Services) 

ELEN JAMES 

Corporate Lead 
Officer 

Porth Cymorth 
Cynnar 

(Community Well-
being and Learning) 

SIAN HOWYS 

Corporate Lead 

Officer 

Porth Cynnal 

(Specialist Through 

Age Services) 

ARWYN MORRIS 

Corporate Lead 

Officer 

Customer Contact 

GERAINT 
EDWARDS 

Corporate Lead 

Officer 

People & 

Organisation 

Service Expenditure 2020/21 

 Schools and Culture 32% £48.86m 

 
Porth Cynnal (Specialist 
Through Age Services) 

15%  £21.95m 

 Finance and Procurement 14%  £20.86m 

 
Highways and Environmental 
Services 

11% £16.31m 

 
Porth Gofal (Targeted 
Intervention Services) 

7%  £10.24m 

 Leadership Group 5%  £6.94m 

 Customer Contact 4%  £5.45m 

 
Levies, Council Tax Premium 
and Reserves 

3% £4.48m 

 Democratic Services 3%  £3.96m 

 Economy and Regeneration 2%  £3.28m 

 
Porth Cymorth Cynnar 
(Community Well-being and 
Learning) 

2% £3.16m 

 
Partnerships, Performance 
and Public Protection 

1%  £2.18m 

 People and Organisation 1%  £2.01m 

 Legal and Governance 1%  £1.48m 

Page 101



 

  

Ceredigion is a confident, attractive county in which many of our people prosper and develop, 

where many have established thriving and successful businesses, and where many people like to 

visit. We have clean air, excellent levels of biodiversity and an enviable natural landscape. 

Our size and location mean we face challenges to growing the local economy, but equally there 

are many opportunities for us to take full advantage of in positioning the county to adapt to both 

a low-carbon future and increased digitisation.  

One of those challenges is the outward migration of younger people, partly as a result of the 

decline in public sector jobs, which have always been an important part of the Ceredigion 

economy.   

Because of this, another challenge is growing the size, diversity and resilience of the private 

sector in Ceredigion. We need to see more businesses starting up, and more of our micro and 

small businesses grow. 

Furthermore, the economy of Ceredigion needs to adapt to key challenges in light of the UK’s 

decision to exit the EU, and subsequently the outbreak of the COVID-19 pandemic which 

continues to have a significant impact our economy and a financial impact on our citizens. As our 

recovery efforts to support businesses continue, our Well-being Objective for this Corporate 

Priority for the remainder of 2021/22 and into 2022/23 will continue to be: 

 

Growing Mid Wales Shared Vision 

The Mid-Wales Growth Deal, developed from the Vision for Growing Mid Wales, 

reached a significant milestone in December 2020 as the Heads of Terms were 

signed by the Welsh Government, UK Government and Ceredigion and Powys 

Councils. Both governments agreed to provide funding of £55m each over a 15 year 

period covering the Growing Mid Wales region as a whole.  

The Growing Mid Wales Partnership will now progress onto the more detailed 

proposals in the form of a Portfolio Business Case which will be scoped from eight 

priority areas: Agriculture, Food & Drink, Digital Connectivity, Applied Research and 

Innovation, Energy, Strengthened Tourism Identity, Supporting Enterprise, 

Transport, Skills & Employment. The Growth Deal provides a key opportunity to 

help Boost Ceredigion’s Economy.  

This will require substantial investment from the Council over the 15 year period 

with a return expected from that investment. The Growth Deal has the potential to 

play a fundamental part in the economic recovery of the Mid Wales region post-

COVID-19 and good progress towards this has been made during 2020/21, and 

along with the development of a project to create jobs and economic growth in our 

County mean it will be an exciting time or the economic development of the region.  

 

  Boosting the Economy 

 

10 

 

 

“ ” Support businesses to respond to the impacts of COVID-19 

Boosting the Economy 

Page 102



 

  

Integration Involvement Collaboration 

 Addressing  

structural  

weaknesses for a 

long term benefit  

 Growing Mid 

Wales  

Partnership  

looking sets 

vision for 15+ 

year timeframe 

 Future Trend  

analysis utilised 

to make plans 

Long Term                                       
 

Prevention 

 Increased  

economic  

opportunities to 

prevent further 

net migration of 

skilled young 

people 

 Economic growth 

to prevent future 

negative impact 

of migration 

patterns on 

culture and 

Welsh language 

 Interventions to 

prevent further 

growth in 

productivity gap  

 Growing Mid 

Wales  

Partnership 

brings together 

public, private 

and academic 

sectors to 

achieve shared 

goals 

 Working with 

Powys County 

Council and 

Welsh and UK 

Government to 

maximise use of 

resources and 

capitalise on  

opportunities 

 Private sector 

businesses, 

drivers of future  

economic growth 

and involved in 

identifying key 

priorities and 

strategies. 

 Private, public 

and third sectors 

involved in 

shaping the 

emerging Growth 

Deal programme  

 Economic growth  

strategies  

integrated with 

other service  

provision,  

including  

education, skills,  

planning and 

infrastructure 

 

11 

 

 

 

Overall Assessment of the  
Journey So Far 

  
Progress in meeting this priority is Good and 

prospects for improvement are Good. The 

steps to provide employment opportunities 
and develop collaborative and innovative  

partnership schemes are progressing well. 

The Growing Mid Wales Partnership is an  
example of Ceredigion owning our ambition to 

ensure that we strengthen the local and  

regional economy as part of a prosperous and 
resilient Wales post COVID-19.  

    Owning our Ambition 

                Green Our Corporate Priority maximises our contribution 

to the highlighted well-being goals 

A prosperous 

Wales 

A resilient 

Wales 

A healthier 

Wales 

A more equal 

Wales 

A Wales of 

cohesive 

communities 

A Wales of vibrant 

culture and thriving 

Welsh language 

A globally 

responsible 

Wales 

Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 

Page 103



 

  

 

  Boosting the Economy 

 

12 

Responding to COVID-19 and Key Achievements 

 Ceredigion’s new Economic Strategy was published in March 2021 setting out how we will 

work together towards achieving strong, sustainable and more resilient economic growth for 

Ceredigion, created and shared by all.  The strategy document sets out the actions that will 

address the challenges and opportunities that exist in the local economy. It focuses on four main 

priority areas – People, Enterprise, Place and Connectivity, with each section outlining some of 

the early interventions considered. Work will continue on developing the detailed 

implementation plans  during 2021/22.  

 Submitted Levelling Up Fund bid to invest in infrastructure that will improve everyday life across 

Ceredigion. The Levelling Up Fund was announced in the UK Government’s Spending Review 

and supports town centre and high street regeneration, local transport projects, and cultural and 

heritage assets, and will play a key part in the recovery from the Covid-19 pandemic.  

 Dedicated Business Support webpage created to support Ceredigion’s economy to ensure 

that businesses, employers and employees in the County have access to the latest information, 

advice and support to help them adjust and recover from the pandemic.  

 8,900 COVID related enquiries were managed by Ceredigion’s Customer Contact Service 

‘CLIC’ during the 2020/21 year, including enquiries relating to Business Grants, the Cultural 

Recovery Fud and the Small Business Capital Grant Scheme.  Over 2,000 alone were in relation to 

the Non Domestic Rate Grant help businesses in the hospitality, tourism, leisure and non-

essential retail sectors.  

3,700 
Visits to ensure business 
premises are compliant 

with COVD-19 rules 

138 
Staff redeployed to other 
roles to help support the 

COVID response 

8,835 
Business Grant 

payments administered 
across Ceredigion 

£49m 
Of Business Grant 

funding administered 
across Ceredigion 

COVID-19 RESPONSE 

Boosting the Economy 

In July 2020 “Safe zones” were created in Aberaeron, 

Aberystwyth, Cardigan and New Quay town centres to 

create safe, inviting towns for people to come shopping 

and to enjoy despite the pandemic. This included 

widening of footpaths, dropping kerbs closure of roads, 

adaption to parking bays and areas for businesses to trade 

to allow people to maintain a 2 metre social distance at all 

times.  

Over 2,000 responses were received to consultation on the 

safe zones during 2020 and adjustments have been made. 

Although COVID-19 infections remain low in Ceredigion,  

the risk to public health remains, and the safe zones will 

remain in place for what is anticipated to be a very busy 

summer season in 2021. This will help people visit shops 

and services in our towns safely and keep the rates low.  

 

Page 104



 

  

Progress against our Boosting the Economy Well-being Objectives 

 

13 

 

 

Started and on target Started but behind target Completed Not started 

 Support businesses to respond to the impacts of COVID-19   

Council Well-being Objective  Status 

Workways+ Offering New Opportunities in 2020/21 
Ceredigion Workways+ is a service which helps people that are not in employment to access 
funded face-to-face and online training, work experience, volunteering opportunities and jobs. 
The scheme is staffed by officers from Ceredigion County Council and is part funded by the 
European Social Fund through the Welsh Government. 

Support is available to help people affected by work-limiting health conditions or disabilities; 
carers; those with low or no qualifications; people with childcare responsibilities; the over 54’s; 
people in a single adult or jobless household or anyone from a Black Minority Ethnic group.  

One such Ceredigion resident benefitting from the scheme is Mary, who gave up her domestic 
cleaning business due to family care responsibilities. Always motivated to plan for the future, 
Mary contacted Workways+ for support and was assigned a mentor to work with her on a one-
to-one basis to identify her training needs which focused on getting her up to speed with using 
computers and digital media.  

The Workways+ Team sourced an IT training course that was both local to Mary and that they 
could fund. The ‘European Computer Driver’s License Course’ (ECDL) delivered by Dysgu Bro, a 
Ceredigion County Council service, made a positive impression on Mary - “The ECDL course was 
beneficial on a number of levels. It taught me much needed new skills and through having to be 
at a place on time and mixing with new people it put me in a work type environment. I began to 
relax, manage stress and became confident about my future.” 

Mary’s goal is to use her new IT skills to help her teach English from home, and Workways+ 
continues to support her. 

Page 105



 

  

The Ceredigion education system is one of the most successful in Wales but the struggling 

local economy and decreased job opportunities has resulted in a significant outward 

migration of our younger adults.  

Ceredigion is also a low income economy, with household income amongst the lowest in 

Wales despite having relatively high qualification levels in the workforce. In-work poverty is 

significant and affects a higher proportion of citizens in our county than in the acknowledged 

deprived areas in the Valleys and East Wales.  

Investing in People’s Future will ensure that the appropriate training programmes that enable 

learners to meet the employment needs of current and future businesses within Ceredigion. 

This includes equipping post-16 and adult learners with the necessary skill set to enable them 

to be agile, bilingual workers and adapt to the requirements of future employment.  

Although the County is now emerging from lockdown measures, the dangers of further 

variants of COVID-19 means that we must remain vigilant, and the recovery will continue  into 

2022/23. As a result our Well-being Objectives for the remainder of 2021/22 and into 2022/23 

will remain: 

 

14 

 

   

Supporting Young People During Lockdown 

The Active Young People (AYP) team in Ceredigion have been working virtually since 

lockdown in order to respond to children and young people’s needs over the past few 

months. During the lockdown period, when young people weren’t able to meet, the AYP 

team turned to engaging with their audiences through many social media platforms. This 

ensured that important inclusive messages and opportunities were offered which have a 

positive effect on physical and mental wellbeing. 

The @CeredigionActif social media handle has been used regularly on Facebook, Twitter, 

Instagram and YouTube to release videos from young leaders, PE lessons, games activities 

and inspirational messages a number of different platforms were used in order to reach as 

many young people and families as possible. The team have produced 110 videos aimed 

at getting teenagers, primary school aged pupils and pre-school toddlers active during the 

time when they were at home.  

These activities included 27 summer programme games over the 2020 summer holidays, 

40 school PE lessons including online sports days and 4 young ambassadors fitness videos 

for Young Volunteers Week.  

 Promote and facilitate the distinct and vibrant bilingual culture and 
identity of Ceredigion 

 

“ 
” 

Support learners of all ages and backgrounds to safely return to education and 

training and improve access to learning and employment ” 
“ 

Protecting people from poverty 

 
” “ 

Investing in Peoples Future 

Page 106



 

  

Integration Involvement Collaboration 

 10 years + 

 Workforce to 

meet employers 

future needs 

 Future Trend  

analysis utilised 

Long Term                                       
 

Prevention 

 Healthier 

lifestyles 

preventing future 

health issues 

 Prevention of in 

work poverty 

through 

increased income 

levels  

 Clear 

understanding of 

prevention and 

associated 

strategies 

 Multi-agency 

approach to 

deliver a tailored 

service 

 Learners and 

employers 

involved in the 

decision making 

process 

 Better skills and 

better jobs 

increase income 

levels and 

therefore allow 

the local 

economy to grow 

A more equal 

Wales 

A globally 

responsible 

Wales 

 

15 

 

    

 

Overall Assessment of the  

Journey So Far 

Progress in meeting this priority is Good 

and prospects for improvement are Good. 

The objectives to support learners to return 

safely to education and in protecting 

people from poverty are on target. 

For example, the new Tackling Hardship 

Strategy was published and is being 

implemented through the Public Services 

Board’s Poverty Sub-Group. This is an 

example of Ceredigion owning our 

ambition.  

 Owning our Ambition 

              Good  

Our Corporate Priority maximises our contribution 

to the highlighted well-being goals 

A prosperous 

Wales 

A resilient 

Wales 

A healthier 

Wales 

A more equal 

Wales 

A Wales of 

cohesive 

communities 

A Wales of vibrant 

culture and thriving 

Welsh language 

A globally 

responsible 

Wales 

Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 

Page 107



 

  

 

   

 

16 

600 
Pupils continued to 
receive instrumental 

lessons during 
2020/21 

£131,000 
Funding received 

for Amgueddfa 
Ceredigion Museum 

2,400 
Individual attendees to 
digital festival Gwyl yr 

Enfys  

6 
New apprenticeships 

launched at the 
Council in 2020 

Responding to COVID-19 and Key Achievements: 

 Funding of £5.8m has been secured to refurbish and build an extension at Ysgol Uwchradd 
Aberteifi through the 21st Century Schools Programme.  

 Parent pay successfully implemented at all schools which has resulted in reducing the stigma 
involved with pupils on free school meals and resulting in approximately £100k savings  

 A Childcare Hub provided for the children of key workers and vulnerable learners during the 
lockdown period with 1,294 sessions being held.  

 42 pupils continued to receive language immersion through the virtual Language Centre  

 Established the Coronavirus – Childcare Assistance Scheme (C-CAS) to replace the Childcare 
Offer during the first lockdown.  This was to ensure financial support for childcare for critical 
key workers – with 2 childcare hubs for children under 4 years old established in Aberystwyth 
and Cardigan from April to August 2020. 

 Distance learning in place for all pupils during lockdown and a wide range of catch up 
resources provided to staff and pupils through the Advisory teachers.  

 Over 1,000 laptops/tablets and MiFi devices provided to pupils in order to be able to access 
Distance Learning during the lockdown period.  

 Schools successfully supported to reopen through site visits, operational guidance, risk 
assessments and PPE deliveries.   

 E-library resources were made more widely available, and the Council’s library vans were 
redeployed to deliver care packages across the County.  

 A list of grants and support available for those individuals facing hardship during the pandemic 
was made available in one place. This included grants such as the Discretionary Assistance Fund 
which supports essential costs in an emergency, to local support groups who supply clothes, 
nappies and towels for vulnerable parents with newborn babies. 

 Successful completion of extension to Pontrhydfendigaid Primary School as part of reducing 
class size grant. 

A new Tackling Hardship Strategy was published in July 2020, which 

provides a robust framework that will enable a shared understanding 

of the situation and develop a range of initiatives to mitigate the risks 

of poverty, and implement preventative action. COVID-19 has had an 

impact not only people's social and economic well-being, but also an 

increased risk of individuals and families experiencing hardship. 23 

organisations were engaged in the development of the strategy, and 

its progress will be monitored regularly through the Public Services 

Board’s Poverty Sub Group. 

Protecting Ceredigion’s Citizens from Poverty 

 

Investing in Peoples Future 

Page 108



 

  

Progress against our Investing in People’s Future Well-being Objectives 

 

17 

 

 

Started and on target Started but behind target Completed Not started 

Council Well-being Objective  Status 

 Support learners of all ages and backgrounds to safely return to 

education and training and improve access to learning and 

employment 

 Protecting people from poverty 

 Promote and facilitate the distinct and vibrant bilingual culture 

and identity of Ceredigion 

 

 

 

Promoting Ceredigion’s distinct culture and identity during 2020/21 

Digital provision has enabled Cered (Welsh language enterprise) to continue promoting the 
Welsh language within communities despite COVID-19. A weekly programme of events and 
activities has been posted on social media sites including new and innovative engagement 
projects such as Theatr Soffa, Hwyl i Blant and Cefn y Rhwyd radio broadcasts in conjunction with 
Radio Aber. 

Theatr Felinfach delivered several digital arts programmes 
throughout the lockdown, e.g. Ed holden (Mr Phormula) Beat 
box sessions, virtual dance lessons, a digital pantomime and 
several imaginative sessions for children of all ages.  The 
theatre also received a nomination for the Achates 
Humanities Award  2020 for the variety and standard of its 
participatory digital provision.   

Amgueddfa Ceredigion Museum was nominated for 
a Museums & Heritage Award for Best Temporary or Travelling 
Exhibition 2020 in relation to its Sheep exhibition. The Sheep 
exhibition has also been used as a case study by the Future 
Generations Commissioner’s Office highlighting how local 
museums are helping to deliver the National Well-being Goals. 

 

 

 

15,000+ 
Food parcels delivered 
to medically vulnerable 

residents 

50+ 
Parenting groups and 
programmes delivered 

virtually 

250 
Young people have 
received support in 

school 

£30,000 
Carers Fund 
distributed 

110 
Active Young People’s 

videos published during 
lockdown 

30 
School PE lessons 

delivered online 
during lockdown 

600  
Young people and 
families supported 
through 3,000 calls   

£160,000 
Received in Business 
Grants and Economic 

Resilience Fund 

Page 109



 

  

The ‘Social Services and Well-being (Wales) Act, 2014’ places a legal requirement on the Council 

to develop a range of early intervention and prevention strategies that include collaborative  

arrangements with communities and the voluntary sector to support independent living.  

In addition unemployment levels coupled with the low income levels places increased difficulties 

on the ability of people to access safe, affordable housing.  
 

Enabling Individual and Family Resilience will improve well-being through improved access to 

affordable homes, preventing future problems and maintaining independence.  

The COVID-19 outbreak has had a fundamental impact on the delivery of services to our most  

vulnerable citizens including the elderly, those without broadband access and those faced with 

isolation during the national lockdown in 2020. In response, our Well-being Objectives for the 

remainder of 2021-22 and into 2022-23 are to continue to support our most vulnerable citizens: 

 

18 

In June 2020, Ceredigion’s Youth Service was awarded £99,000 by the 

National Lottery Community Fund to develop a mobile provision for 

children and young people. The youth service is situated within Porth 

Cymorth Cynnar, which is Ceredigion County Council’s integrated early 

help, support and intervention service, supporting communities, 

vulnerable children, young people and families. The aim of this project 

is to establish a mobile youth centre, extending youth provision to 

rurally isolated areas in Ceredigion.  

 

 Enabling Individual and Family Resilience 

Porth y Gymuned - Supporting Residents’ Well-being 

Porth y Gymuned (Welsh for ‘The Community Portal’) service started in May 2018 and assists 

residents of all ages in Ceredigion, by helping them to make connections to access support 

opportunities in their area that could maintain and improve their wellbeing.  

This service has been particularly important in supporting our residents during the COVID-19 

pandemic. Enquiries to Porth y Gymuned are normally very varied, and range from low level 

interventions to referring and supporting individuals who may need to access to intensive or 

statutory services. Between July 2020 and January 2021, 419 referrals were made to Porth y 

Gymuned during the height of the pandemic. The service also compiled a comprehensive list of 

food deliveries, food banks and resources for a wide range of support such as financial help, 

grants and debt advice to support residents during this particularly difficult time.  

Porth y Gymuned enables individuals to have a ‘What Matters’ conversation with a Community 

Connector, who can then help to identify targeted solutions that meet their needs. The 

Community Connectors support people and their families to access advice and assistance that is 

provided by the third sector, as well as identify appropriate services and groups, within their own 

communities, such as social groups that could help contribute to their wellbeing. 

Promote the well-being of individuals and communities within safe and 

accessible homes 
“ 

” 

“ Support citizens who have been disproportionately impacted by COVID-19 to 

improve their physical and emotional well-being ” and 

Enabling Individual and Family Resilience 

 

Page 110



 

  

Integration Involvement Collaboration 

 An integrated 

Services Model 

to ensure  

sustainable 

services for the 

next 15 years + 

 Future Trend  

analysis utilised 

Long Term                                       
 

Prevention 

 Coordinated 

care to prevent 

issues 

developing  

further 

 Health board, 

local authorities 

and third sector 

partners plan to 

work 

collaboratively 

to implement 

integrated 

health and 

social care 

programmes 

across west 

Wales 

 Public and  

private sector 

involvement to 

develop the 

Integrated 

Services Model 

 Individuals 

involved in 

decisions that 

affect them 

 Public and  

private working 

together to 

maximise  

contribution to 

healthier Wales 

and other goals 

 

Enabling Individual and Family Resilience 

 

 

 

19 

Overall Assessment of the  

Journey So Far 

Progress in meeting this objective is Good 

and prospects for improvement are Good. 

Despite the challenges in supporting citizens 

who have been disproportionately impacted 

by COVID-19 to improve their physical and 

emotional well-being, and promoting the 

well-being of individuals and communities 

within safe and accessible homes, both have 

been assessed as green and on target.  

Porth Gofal is an example of Ceredigion 

Leading the Way to deliver Integrated 

Services now and in the future.   

      Leading the Way 

              Good  
Our Corporate Priority maximises our contribution 

to the highlighted well-being goals 

A prosperous 

Wales 

A resilient 

Wales 

A healthier 

Wales 

A more equal 

Wales 

A Wales of 

cohesive 

communities 

A Wales of vibrant 

culture and thriving 

Welsh language 

A globally 

responsible 

Wales 

Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 

Page 111



 

  

Responding to COVID-19 and Key Achievements 

 Supported Hywel Dda University Health Board by establishing two temporary field hospitals in the 

county in response to COVID-19  

 Ceredigion was the first local authority in Wales to provide a contact tracing service and was 

subsequently chosen as a pilot area by the Welsh Government, before the national scheme was 

set up. The Council’s Contact Tracing Team, involving over 50 members of staff, provided advice 

and guidance to individuals on undertaking tests for COVID-19, on self-isolation and other actions 

as part of the ongoing efforts to prevent the further spread of the virus and keep everyone safe.  

 Around 2,900 residents from young people to families to carers, were supported during the 

pandemic through regular ‘Keeping in Touch’ calls from Council staff in Porth Cymorth Cynnar to 

check on their well-being and provide an opportunity to talk to someone whilst in lockdown.  

 In July 2020, Ceredigion launched its Connect to Kindness campaign, to create more 

understanding about the benefit and impact of kindness to ourselves and others in our 

community. The campaign fosters and nurtures connections to alleviate loneliness and isolation 

prevalent in many of our communities. 

 Ceredigion’s proposal to develop a Wellbeing Centre in Lampeter was approved in December 

2020 and plans are progressing during 2021. The Wellbeing Hub will host a ‘Wellbeing Centre’ – a 

facility that enhances its core offer of Leisure provision with areas for meeting, consultation and 

treatment to contribute to improving the physical, mental and social well-being of the County’s 

residents. Hubs will also be established in the North, Mid and South of Ceredigion as well as pop-

up provision in other locations in the County.  

 In response to the pandemic, Ceredigion’s Cam Nesa team delivered wellbeing packs to support 

young people who may be experiencing loneliness, isolation or other vulnerabilities. The Cam 

Nesa project is part of European Structural Funds (ESF) Operational Programme and works with 

young people aged between 16 and 24 by providing them with options to access a range of 

tailored personal support and work-related opportunities to meet their needs and aspirations. 

 

 

20 

 

  

31 
Safe, Warm and 
Secure Grants 

completed 

32 

Potentially homeless 
applicants supported 
with financial issues  

1,650 
Well-being packs 

produced for unpaid 
carers and isolated 

adults 

900 
Shielding residents in 
Ceredigion received 
weekly food parcels 

Enabling Individual and Family Resilience 

During the lockdown in 2020, Ceredigion County 

Council recognised the importance of keeping in touch 

during the challenging time of self-isolation and 

appreciated that it was difficult for families who weren’t 

able to visit their loved ones at our care homes.  

The Council’s staff support and care for our residents, 

and in order to give residents that additional 

reassurance whilst keeping them safe, video 

conferencing facilities were installed in all of our care 

homes to ensure context with family members during 

that difficult time.  

 

Page 112



 

  

Food Parcels Delivered to Ceredigion’s Residents 

Parcels which included local food produce were delivered to 900 shielding residents in Ceredigion 
each week during the height of the lockdown in April / May 2020, to ensure those who were 
particularly vulnerable were still able to receive food and essential items. 

Ceredigion became the first county in Wales to receive approval to fully coordinate the Shielding 
Scheme on a local basis - this was an initiative by Welsh Government offering shielding 
residents the option to receive weekly food parcels if they did not have family or friends 
who could support them with shopping during the pandemic.  

Ceredigion secured full ownership of the 
content and quality of the food parcels to 
ensure that produce was supplied by local 
suppliers and the parcels were packed and 
delivered to communities by Ceredigion 
County Council drivers. 

The content was sourced from local suppliers 
and were varied to offer high quality 
nutritional value to those in need.  

Progress against our Enabling Individual and Family Resilience Well-being Objectives 

 

 

21 

Started and on target Started but behind target Completed Not started 

 

  

 Support citizens who have been disproportionately impacted by 

COVID-19 to improve their physical and emotional well-being 

 Promote the well-being of individuals and communities within 

safe and accessible homes 

 

Council Well-being Objective  Status 

 

195 
Active family bags 

distributed with Flying Start 
and Families First services 

100+ 
Adult carer and 10 

young carer ID cards 
produced 

50, 000 
Social media 

engagements during 
the year, helping 

people keep informed 

1,040 
Welsh afternoon teas / 
‘break in a box’ were 

delivered  

35,000 
Mail outs to support the 
Vaccination Programme 

in Ceredigion 

160 
Press releases with 
news and advice on 

COVID-19 

7,400  
People referred for 

contact tracing to help 
everyone stay safe   

11.4m 
Items of Personal 

Protective Equipment 
(PPE) distributed  

Page 113



 

  

The Council has a leading role to play in protecting and enhancing the natural resources 
of the County whilst endeavouring to protect air, land and water quality. It also has a key 
role in promoting, securing and enhancing bio-diversity. The Council’s environmental 
stewardship responsibility also extends to the built environment and the positive 
management of future development and land use is crucial to achieving these aims.  
 
The Council is seeking to enhance and develop communities’ ability to respond to 
environmental threats and incidents, by promoting the resilience of individuals and groups 
and harnessing the goodwill that exists in our communities to support each other. 
 
The COVID-19 outbreak has tested all of our strengths and ability to respond to a crisis, 
but we have demonstrated how our communities are able to rise to the challenge, in order 
to protect the well-being of our communities and our environment. In the wake of the 
COVID-19 pandemic, our revised Well-being Objectives for the remainder of 2021-22 and 
into 2022-23 are to: 

Ensuring the Safe Reopening of Community Venues 
 

A multi-agency panel was set up to ensure the safe and proportionate reopening of 

community venues across Ceredigion as the lockdown was lifted. The aim is to support and 

provide advice for community groups preparing to reopen by providing a series of briefing 

sessions for individuals, groups or organisations responsible for multi-purpose community 

centres focusing on buildings, people and activities. The panel has also created a resource 

pack to aid the safe reopening of community venues.  

The Welsh Government have been encouraging those who are managing centres to inform 

their local authority if they plan on reopening any community facilities.  

The panel has been created under Ceredigion’s Public Services Board Sub Group; 

Understanding our Communities. Leading on the development of the group is Ceredigion 

Association of Voluntary Organisations (CAVO) and Ceredigion County Council in 

partnership with Heddlu Dyfed Powys Police and Mid and West Wales Fire and Rescue 

Service. The panel includes representation from Health & Safety, Environmental Health and 

Community Safety .  

 

22 

 
 

  Promoting Environmental and 
Community Resilience 

Support active travel, other modes of transport and ways of 

working that build on our zero-carbon ambition 

and 

Support our communities to be strong and well connected 

so that they are able to thrive despite COVID-19 

“ 
” 

“ 
” 

Promoting Environmental and 
Community Resilience 

Page 114



 

  

Integration Involvement Collaboration 

 Long term 

sustainability of 

Ceredigion 

Landscape 

15 years + 

 Future Trend  

analysis utilised 

Long Term                                       
 

Prevention 

 Prevention of  

further 

economic 

decline 

 Clear 

understanding 

of prevention 

and associated 

strategies 

 Working  

collaboratively 

to ensure that 

the impact of 

climate change 

is  

minimised, is 

shaping the 

electric future 

in Ceredigion 

and 

contributing to 

that 

sustainability 

 Everyone is 

involved and 

encouraged to 

make choices 

that will reduce 

costs now and 

protect the 

environment for 

the future 

 Promoting  

environmental 

and  

community 

resilience has 

clear benefits 

for  

maximising our  

contribution to 

all of the  

well-being 

goals  

 

23 

 

  

Overall Assessment of the  
Journey So Far 

  

Progress in meeting this objective is Good 

and prospects for improvement are Good. 

All steps to minimise the contribution to  
climate change, improve infrastructure to 

facilitate future development to meet  

community needs and assist communities to 
become more resilient are on target with  

further improvements planned in the next 

year.  

The Council’s Carbon Management Plan is 

an example of Ceredigion Leading the Way 

to minimise our carbon footprint and 
minimising our contribution to climate 

change.  

     Leading the Way 
 

              Good  

Our Corporate Priority maximises our contribution 

to the highlighted well-being goals 

A prosperous 

Wales 

A resilient 

Wales 

A healthier 

Wales 

A more equal 

Wales 

A Wales of 

cohesive 

communities 

A Wales of vibrant 

culture and thriving 

Welsh language 

A globally 

responsible 

Wales 

Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 

Page 115



 

  

70.2% 
of waste recycled 

composted or 
reused 

29,271 
tonnes of 

municipal solid 
waste collected 

2.53
Days on average to 
clear fly-tips across 

the county 

52% 
Reduction in carbon 
emissions since 2007 

saving £6m to 
reinvest 

Responding to COVID-19 and Key Achievements 

 Successfully delivered core front line services safely during the COVID-19 pandemic and 

continue to respond to ever changing issues caused by the pandemic.  

 Supported Highways and Environmental Services and wider corporate operational response 

which has extended from the delivery of food boxes to vulnerable groups through to logistical 

support in distributing materials to schools, providing operational support establishing mass 

testing and vaccination centres. 

 Supported local suppliers throughout the pandemic during the period of service reduction or 

postponement in waste and transport.  

 Continued with the development of coastal and flood alleviation schemes in Ceredigion with 

financial support from Welsh Government.  

 Delivered a number of Active Travel improvements, including major refurbishment of Pont-yr-

Odyn, Trefechan and construction of a shared use path between Gogerddan and Penrhyncoch. 

 The Council has developed an action plan outlining how it plans to manage the anticipated 

risks and issues associated with the spread of ‘Ash Dieback’ across Ceredigion. The Plan is in 

place to ensure that the that the county is ready and adequately resourced both to respond to 

the effects of the disease and to minimise long term adverse impacts through promoting 

resilience.  

 Published new Net Carbon Zero Action Plan for Ceredigion Council setting out its response to 

the county-wide climate emergency, and explaining why we need to take this action and why 

the 2030 target is so important to tackling climate change.  

 To date, the Council has invested over £5 million in energy efficiency and carbon reduction 

projects, and this investment has saved £2.8m to date.  

 Ceredigion County Council celebrated Refugee Week in June 2020, by recognising the positive 

work that’s been carried out to enable 74 refugees from Syria to be welcomed into the county.  

 Ceredigion County Council continues to have one of the best recycling rates nationally at 

70.2% in 2020/21.  

 

24 

 
 

   Promoting Environmental and 
Community Resilience 

Page 116



 

  

Progress against our Promoting Environmental and Community Resilience Well-being 

Objectives 

 

25 

Started and on target Started but behind target Completed Not started 

 

 

 Support active travel, other modes of transport and ways of 

working that build on our zero-carbon ambition 

 Support our communities to be strong and well connected so 

that they are able to thrive despite COVID-19 

 

Council Well-being Objective  Status 

 

Improving Connectivity During and Post COVID-19 

Demand for fast and reliable internet connectivity has never been so evident than during the past 
year - many of us have a greater reliance on online services and many people are still working 
from home. In August 2020, Ceredigion was chosen as a trial area for a UK Government initiative 
aimed at increasing fibre broadband in rural areas. 

Research shows that reliable broadband can play a key role in keeping people connected during 
Covid-19. Almost six in ten (58%) Ceredigion broadband-using residents surveyed said the 
internet has played an important part in helping combat feelings of isolation or loneliness during 
lockdown. Two thirds (67%) of all broadband-using, working respondents in Ceredigion worked 
from home all or most of the time, but almost half (46%) were at times frustrated at an unreliable 
internet connection.  

A pilot scheme called the “Broadband Upgrade Fund” aims to support businesses, employees and 
rural communities to take advantage of all the benefits associated with faster and more reliable 
internet connections. Including the 
additional Welsh Government ‘Top Up’ 
fund, residents in Ceredigion are eligible 
to claim up to £3,000 and small to 
medium sized businesses up to £7,000 to 
upgrade to gigabit broadband, which is 
capable of download speeds of 1 gigabit 
(1,000 megabits) per second and is much 
faster than the current speeds 
experienced across Ceredigion. 

Ceredigion County Council continues to 
work proactively with commercial 
suppliers and both Governments to 
secure better connectivity for the County. 

 

Designed by Freepik 

Page 117



 

  

As a Council we are fully committed to the delivery of a range of cross-cutting themes 

that will enhance performance and quality of delivery of service including: 

 Bilingualism 

We ensure all service areas provide a completely bilingual service and all staff are 

encouraged to develop their linguistic skills in both Welsh and English. 
 

 Fit for purpose 

Our staffing structures are lean and cost effective.  However, we will continue with the 

corporate re-design programme to centralise all support service teams. 
 

 Sustainability 

The success of the previous five years has ensured the Council is a sector leader in Carbon 

Management and recycling.  It is our intention to continue our efforts to be a clean, green 

authority that provides our residents with an environment that is both attractive and 

inviting to the tourism industry. 
 

 Engagement 

Our policies for the future will encourage collaboration and partnership working with all 

interested stakeholders.  We consider effective interaction with our communities as an 

essential component to securing a healthy and vibrant society.  
 

 Equality 

Ensuring that everyone has equal opportunities to contribute to making Ceredigion a 

better place to live, work and enjoy. We commit to treating all citizens with respect, and to 

providing services and offering employment opportunities which are responsive to 

people’s diverse needs. 

 

   
 

 

26 

 
 

Cross Cutting Themes 

1,000
Staff attended 

Safeguarding Adults or  
Safeguarding Children 

Training  

£47m 
Of efficiency 

savings across the 
Council since 2012 

272 
Staff completed 
Violence Against 

Women and Domestic 
Abuse Training 

416 
Staff undertaken 

Equality and Diversity 
training during 

2020/21 

62% 
of Ceredigion County 

Council staff are Welsh 
speakers 

70 
Staff learning or 

improving their Welsh 
language skills 

15 
Ceredigion County 

Council staff  
studying advance 

level Welsh 

476 
Staff completed 
Welsh Language 

Awareness Training 

Our achievements during 2020/21: 

Page 118



 

   

27 

Integration Involvement Collaboration 

 Increased 

awareness of 

protected 

characteristics 

across the 

organisation 

Long Term                                       
 

Prevention 

 Ensures the 

protected 

characteristics 

are considered in 

setting policy 

and service 

provision 

 Working in 

partnership with 

other public 

sector bodies to 

meet our Equality 

Objectives 

 Corporate 
Equalities 
Working Group 
contributes to 
the development, 
monitoring and 
review of the 
Plan 

 The Council will 

tackle prejudice 

and promote 

understanding in 

our communities 

The Sustainable Development Principle and the Strategic Equality Plan 

Engagement and Equalities 

During the last twelve months we  have continued to embed equalities, implement a corporate 
approach to engagement and provide specialist advice and guidance across the Council.  

Some of our achievements during this time are: 

 The Strategic Equality Plan (SEP) has been implemented and we are monitoring progress 
against ensuring that our actions are fair to all.  

 Responded to and implemented the Socio-Economic Duty , which requires that public bodies 
assess how their strategies and policies can be used to reduce inequalities that result from 
differences in socioeconomic status.  

 Updated our Integrated Impact Assessment Process.  

 Undertook a regional trial of an online engagement platform provided by Engagement HQ 
called “Have Your Say Ceredigion” which will provide additional opportunities and more 
unique ways to engage with the Council and tell us your views.  

During 2020/21 we engaged extensively on the introduction of Safe Zones 
in our towns designed to keep everyone safe and maintain social 
distancing , during the COVID-19 pandemic. The exercise, conducted in 
August 2020, received over 2,000 responses and this was followed by a 
wider engagement in January 2020 to better understand the impact of the 
zones.  

Equalities continues to be at the forefront of the recovery from the 
COVID-19 pandemic, as some groups in our communities have been 
disproportionately affected by the virus, such as younger people, 
older people and those from Black Asian and Minority Ethnic (BAME) 
backgrounds.  

 

 

 
 

Page 119



 

  

 

 

   Embedding the Seeds of Change 

 

28 

 

   Embedding the Seeds of Change 
 

The Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 directs that public bodies must apply 

the five ways of working (the sustainable development principle) and consider how they can 

contribute to all seven of the National Well-being Goals. 

Guidance indicates that applying the requirements of the Act across 7 core areas of change is 

likely to most effectively secure the change required. 

A Ceredigion County Council Well-being of Future Generations Act (WFGA) Group has been 

established to monitor how adaptations should be made in the core areas to effect change.  

 

 A review of the Council’s Property Asset Management Plan is 

currently being undertaken to assess service asset needs over 

the medium to longer term. 

 The revised Asset Management Policy was presented to the 

Council’s Cabinet in 2020 and which sets out the Council’s 

approach in optimising its assets through leasing, disposals 

and acquisition. 

 The Mid & West Wales Regional Asset Collaboration Group 

has been created to help drive forward initiatives and work 

relating to good practice collaborative asset management 

activity.  

Asset Management 

 A Well-being of Future Generations Act Group is in place 

with a strategic lead to monitor progress in the seven core 

areas of change. The Corporate Strategy and Annual 

Reports include the progress made. 

 Cabinet and Committee Templates have been developed 

that incorporate the 5 Ways of Working. 

 An Integrated Impact Analysis (IIA) Tool that incorporates 

the 5 Ways of Working and 7 National Well-being Goals 

has been implemented. 

 Schedules have been revised to enable due consideration 

of IIA implications. 

 The Constitution has been revised to ensure decision  

making processes take account of the Well-being of Future 

Generations Act 2015. 

Corporate Planning 

Page 120



 

  

 

 

29 

Transforming Customer Contact 
Harnessing new technology to enhance our customers’ experience 

 

 

    

The CLIC Team is the face and voice of Ceredigion County Council. Whether calling the Contact 

entre or visiting a Cash Office with a query regarding bins, checking Council Tax or submitting 

an application to the Housing Team, the customer comes into contact with CLIC.  

Our Customer Contact Centre is an example of how we are transforming our services and 

harnessing new technology to provide an enhanced customer experience. All initial contacts to 

the Council are received and tracked by the Contact Centre through the Customer Relationship 

Management (CRM) system. The provides a range of benefits to our customers: 

 It is easier to make initial contact, - just one telephone number and one email address. 

 Our advisors are trained to deal with a wide range of enquiries - so that where possible, 

queries are resolved at the first point of contact.  

 There is no need to retell the same story each time a customer calls - their information is 

on hand via the CRM system provider a quicker and more tailored response to resolving 

their enquiry.  
 

For the Council, this also provides a very practical way to manage the increasing number of 

contacts we receive, provide a higher quality, more tailored service and enhance the customer 

experience, whilst providing service efficiency gains since less time is spent by back office 

functions managing routine enquiries. During 2020/21 we logged over 57,000 enquiries 

through CLIC with Blue Badge applications, childcare applications and enquiries about waste 

collection being some of the most commonly raised questions.  

The 2020/21 year saw the COVID-19 health pandemic reach Ceredigion, resulting in over 8,900 

enquiries alone relating to the virus. These included enquiries relating to childcare, schools, the 

safe zones in Ceredigion’s towns and many for advice in accessing financial support during the 

lockdown period.  The service has and continues to play an integral role in keeping residents 

informed and up to date with support and advice relating to the pandemic. Due to the 

investment in the new telephony systems, CLIC was able to transfer immediately to home 

working when lockdown began without an interruption in its service to customers.  

Looking ahead, we are aiming to develop the service further through harnessing new 

technological developments to enhance the service to customers, such as upgrading the CRM 

system. 

Our Service in Numbers during 2020/21 

106,650 
Telephone calls handled 

by CLIC during the 
2020/21 year 

18% 
Of telephone calls  
(or 16,256) were in 

Welsh 

15,600 
Emails responded to 
during the 2020/21 

year by CLIC 

57,306 
Enquiries logged by 

CLIC during the 
2020/21 year 

Page 121



 

   

30 

Performance Management 
 The Council’s dedicated Performance Management System, (Teifi 

Performance) continues to be developed and embedded.  

 In 2020/21 a revised Business Planning process was developed to 

streamline the process and support services develop effective 

business plans for the year ahead. 

 Developed a revised set of local performance measures has 

commenced to ensure the Council has the performance monitoring 

information required to support continuous performance 

improvement in the future.  

 Work is underway to prepare for the introduction of the new Self-

Assessment performance regime, included as part 6 of the Local 

Government and Elections (Wales) Act 2021.  

Risk Management 

 During 2020/21, a number of actions were taken to mitigate the 

risks of COVID-19 and ensure the continuity of the work of the 

Council. This includes the Gold and Silver Command structure to 

manage the response to the pandemic, along with the updating of 

all Business Continuity Plans, and the introduction of Service 

Adjustment Plans, outlining how services will adjust to the 

pandemic and bring services back  post pandemic.  

 Risk Management refresher training was provided to all managers 

and key officers in 2020.  

 A workshop with the Council’s insurers and all managers was held 

in October 2020 to review the Council’s risks in light of COVID-19, 

horizon-scan for new risks and identify opportunities to strengthen 

risk management further.  

 The Medium Term Financial Strategy has been developed and 

approved.  

 The 2020/21 Statement of Accounts includes details of the Council’s 

Well-being Objectives and outlines how they will be met.  

 All new capital projects are submitted via the Corporate  

Project Management Panel. 

 

Financial Management £ 

Page 122



 

   

31 

Embedding the Seeds of Change (continued) 

 A Strategic Workforce Planning Toolkit which is aligned to the 

Well-being of Future Generations sustainability principle (5 ways 

of working) and the well-being goals has been developed to 

reflect  the Audit Wales toolkit. 

 A new manager-led appraisal process was introduced in 2020 to 

provide employees and their managers an opportunity to review 

progress over the previous year, agree objectives for the 

forthcoming year and to identify learning and development 

(L&D) requirements, as well as reflecting on the future demands 

for the service  

Workforce Planning 

 The Council’s Procurement Strategy 2018-2022 was developed 

specifically to assist the Council with delivery of its aims and  

objectives in accordance with the Well-being of Future  

Generations Act through its procurement activity. 

 The Ceredigion Procurement Forum’s membership includes 

representatives from the public sector bodies either based in the 

County or with a local presence. 

 The Civil Engineering Dynamic Purchasing System, which includes 

five contractors based in the county. This type of framework 

provides benefits to both the Council and supplier and are 

particularly well suited to working with smaller local businesses - 

new suppliers can join the system throughout its life, they are cost 

efficient and provide the option of working with new suppliers to 

access innovation 

 Procurement processes continue to be open and transparent and 

based on standard approaches and use of common systems that 

appropriately minimise complexity, cost, timescales and 

requirements for suppliers.  

 The Minor Works Framework provides reassurance for local 

contractors on the availability of potential longer term work streams 

and ensures that new and existing businesses can plan for future 

growth and investment.  

 All contractors are required to be registered with ‘Construction Line’ 

in order to provide assurance that they hold relevant insurance 

cover, professional subscriptions and meet the minimum 

qualification criteria.  

Procurement 

Page 123



 

  

The Well-being Objectives focus on short-term more focused response and recovery to the 

COVID-19 pandemic in order to protect and enhance the well-being of everyone now and in the 

future. They were identified and are still aligned to each of our Corporate Priorities, and take 

into account the Public Services Board’s Assessment of Local Well-being and the Local Well-

being Plan.  

We have reviewed the existing Well-being Objectives and concluded that they should remain in 

place to support the ongoing recovery work of the Council and its partners.  

Therefore for the 2022/23 year the focus of our attention will be to support the needs of 

citizens in recovering from the pandemic and at the same time delivering against the priorities 

of the Council.  

 

  Review of our Well-being Objectives 

 

 

32 

 

   Review of our Well-being Objectives 

Boosting the Economy 

 Support businesses to respond to the impacts of COVID-19 

 Support learners of all ages and backgrounds to safely return to 

education and training and improve access to learning and employment 

 Protecting people from poverty 

 Promote and facilitate the distinct and vibrant bilingual culture and 

identity of Ceredigion 

Investing in People’s Future 

Enabling Individual and Family Resilience 

 Support citizens who have been disproportionately impacted by COVID

-19 to improve their physical and emotional well-being 

 Promote the well-being of individuals and communities within safe and 

accessible homes 

 Support active travel, other modes of transport and ways of working 

that build on our zero-carbon ambition 

 Support our communities to be strong and well connected so that they 

are able to thrive despite COVID-19 

Promoting Environmental and Community Resilience 

Page 124



 

  

A Prosperous 

Wales 

All of our Priorities capture the importance of developing an economy in 

Ceredigion. Employment, skills development, housing, the environment, 

business support, and regeneration will contribute to a prosperous Wales. 

Supporting businesses to respond to the impacts of Covid-19 will help to 

ensure that we have a prosperous Wales now and in the future. 

A Resilient Wales 

Goal 
How the Council’s Priorities and Well-being Objectives will 

meet the Well-being goals? 

Promoting Environmental and Community Resilience focuses on the 

protection of our natural environment and incudes initiatives to enhance 

and develop communities ability to respond to environmental disasters. 

Supporting our communities to be strong and well connected so that 

they are able to thrive despite Covid-19, and will contribute to a resilient 

Wales able to respond to any natural or man made disaster. 

A Healthier Wales 

Investing in people’s Future focuses on protection of families, children 

and adults from poverty and promotion of healthier, more active lifestyles 

whilst Enabling Individual and Family resilience seeks to improve housing, 

enable independent living and provide early intervention and prevention 

services for the most vulnerable. Supporting citizens who have been 

disproportionately impacted by Covid-19 to improve their physical and 

emotional wellbeing will support other initiatives to deliver a healthier 

Wales. 

A more Equal 

Wales 

All of our Priorities seek to establish a more Equal Wales by ensuring 

equal opportunities for employment, housing, education, healthier life-

styles and sustainable communities. 

A Wales of Vibrant 

culture and 

thriving Welsh 

language 

The Council has agreed to conform to the requirements of the Welsh 

Language Standards and further measures to promote bilingualism and 

the welsh language are included in our objectives. 

 A Wales of 

Cohesive  

Communities 

Building the strength of our communities is a key feature in three of our 

priorities. Providing Support for our communities to be strong and well 

connected so that they are able to thrive despite Covid-19 will enhance 

the Wales of cohesive communities. 

A Globally 

responsible Wales 

In considering our Wellbeing Objectives we have taken into account the 

well-being assessment and engagement work to ensure that we can 

make a positive contribution to global well-being. Support for active 

travel, other modes of transport and ways of working that build on our 

zero-carbon ambition continues our work in this area.  

 

33 

 

   

Page 125



 

  

In setting our Well-being Objectives, the Council has demonstrated the Sustainable De-

velopment Principle as set out in the table below: 

Setting our Well-being Objectives 

 

34 

 Long term 

Looking to the long term so 
that we do not compromise 
the ability of future 
generations to meet their own 
needs 

 

 Ways of Working 

Integrated 

Taking an integrated approach 
so that public bodies look at all 
the well-being goals in 
deciding on their wellbeing 
Objectives 

 

 

Involvement 

Involving a diversity of the 
population in the decisions 
that affect them 

Collaborative 

Working with others in a 
collaborative way to find 
shared sustainable solutions 

 Medium Term Financial Planning ensures that  
decisions consider the impact on future generations. 

 Workforce planning ensures the development of workforce 
skills for the future. 

 The Corporate Strategy looks to develop and improve the 
social, economic, environmental and cultural  
well-being of Ceredigion over the next 5 years and beyond. 

How the Council has demonstrated the Sustainable 

Development principle 

 The Council’s Priorities and Well-being Objectives are inter-
linked in many ways and services will strengthen 
collaboration in order to work towards achieving a set of 
common well-being goals. 

 The Council’s Corporate Strategy 2017-2022 has  
taken into account the Public Services Board’s  
Assessment of Local Well-being, which has been produced 
following a series of engagement exercises with citizens, 
including those with protected  
characteristics, as defined under the Equality Act. 

 The Council will consult on an annual basis with  
citizens and its engagement groups on the review and 
setting of its annual Well-being Objectives. 

The Council actively supports, amongst others, the  
following partnerships; 

 The Growing Mid Wales Partnership 
 The Ceredigion Public Services Board 
 The Safeguarding Children’s Board 
 The Community Safety Partnership. 

In addition collaboration in the delivery of services is  
welcomed throughout the Authority. 

 

Prevention 

Understanding the root causes 
of issues to prevent them from 
occurring 

 The Council’s Well-being Objectives have been set in order 
to prevent problems from occurring or getting worse.  
These include addressing the effects of poverty, the issues 
of rurality and improving the well-being of people of all 
ages, from early years through to older age. 

 Homelessness focuses on the prevention agenda 
 Social Services Model promotes early intervention and 

prevention. 

Setting Our Well-being Priorities 

Page 126



 

  

Ceredigion County Council’s Corporate Priorities are aligned with the Ceredigion PSB Lo-

cal Well-being Plan as set out in the table below.  

Boosting the 

Economy 

 Support businesses to respond to the 

impacts of Covid-19  

Investing in 

People’s 

Future 

Council  

Corporate 

Priority 

2017-2022 

Council Well-being Objective  

2022-2023 

 Support learners of all ages and 

backgrounds to safely return to 

education and training and improve 

access to learning and employment  

 Protecting people from poverty 

 Promote and facilitate the distinct and 

vibrant bilingual culture and identity of 

Ceredigion 

Enabling 

Individual and 

Family 

Resilience 

Promoting 

Environmental 

and 

Community 

Resilience 

 Support citizens who have been 

disproportionately impacted by Covid-

19 to improve their physical and 

emotional wellbeing  

 Promote the well-being of individuals 

and communities within safe and 

accessible homes 

 Support active travel, other modes of 

transport and ways of working that 

build on our zero-carbon ambition 

 Support our communities to be strong 

and well connected so that they are 
able to thrive despite Covid-19 

 Enable communities to become 

prosperous, sustainable and connected 

by supporting the transformation of 

economic prospects 

 Enable people to create and grasp 

opportunities and meet challenges 

throughout their lives 

PSB Local Well-being Plan Aim 2018

-2023 

 Enable communities to become 

prosperous, sustainable and connected 

by supporting the transformation of 

economic prospects 

 Enable people to create and grasp 

opportunities and meet challenges 

throughout their lives 

 Create conditions for communities to 

support individuals from all backgrounds 

to live fulfilling, independent lives 

 Enable every child to have the best start 

in life 

 Create conditions for communities to 

support individuals from all backgrounds 

to live fulfilling, independent lives 

 Enable people to live active, happy and 

healthy lives 

 Enable people to create and grasp op-

portunities and meet challenges through-

out their lives 

 Create environmentally responsible and 

safe communities that can adapt and re-

spond to the effects of climate change 

 Create conditions for communities to 

support individuals from all backgrounds 

to live fulfilling, independent lives 

 Enable communities to become prosper-

ous, sustainable and connected by sup-

porting the transformation of economic 

prospects 

 

35 Page 127



 

  

  

    Benchmarking Our Performance 

 

36 

Education 

Benchmarking Our Performance 

2020/21 Performance Accountability Measures 

The Council routinely monitors and benchmarks its performance as part of its performance 

management arrangements. However, due to the re-prioritisation of services from March 2020 in 

response to the COVID-19 pandemic, the reporting of the Performance Accountability Measures 

(PAMs) was suspended for the 2020/21 year. Only a small number were collected during the year 

and these are shown below: 

The last full year of reporting the PAMs was in 2019/20 and the latest results are shown on the 

following pages.  

70.2 
% 

Percentage of waste reused, 
recycled or composted  

2.53 
days 

Average days taken to clear 
fly-tipping incidents 

134 
incidents 

Fly-tipping incidents cleared 
during the year 

119.48 
kgs 

Kilograms of residual waste 
generated per head 

7.9 
days 

Sickness absence  per Full-
Time Equivalent (FTE) 

employee 

Page 128



 

   

37 

  

    

Page 129



 

  

  

    Benchmarking Our Performance 

 

38 

Housing and Homelessness 

Page 130



 

   

39 

  

    

Highways 

Benchmarking Our Performance (continued) 

Page 131



 

  

Planning 

  

    Benchmarking Our Performance 

 

40 

Environment 

Page 132



 

   

41 

  

    
Benchmarking Our Performance (continued) 

Page 133



 

  

  

   Benchmarking Our Performance 

 

42 

Ref Description 
2017/18 

Result 

2018/19 

Result 

2018/19 

Quartile 

Position 

2018/19 

All Wales 

2018/19 

Trend 

2019/20 

Result 

2019/20 

Target 

2019/20 

Trend 
Status 

 Education 

PAM/032 Capped 9 score 380.08 373.73 1 349.5  382.78 350.00  
 

PAM/007 
Percentage of pupil attend-

ance in primary schools 
95.3% 95% 1 94.6%  95.25% 95.0%  

 

PAM/008 
Percentage of pupil attend-

ance in secondary schools 
94.9% 94.53% 1 93.9%  94.31% 94.80%  

 

PAM/009 

Percentage of Year 11 leavers 

not in Education, Training or 

Employment (NEET) 

0.8% 0.8% 1 1.6%  - - - - 

PAM/033 

Percentage of pupils assessed 

in Welsh at the end of the 

Foundation Phase 

- 57.45% - - - 74.79% 74.00%  
 

PAM/034 

Percentage of year 11 pupils 

studying Welsh (first lan-

guage) 

- 62.92% - - - 63.43% 62.00%  
 

 Environmental Services 

PAM/010 
Percentage of streets that are 

clean 
89.2% 94.9% 3 93.9%  90.6% 95.0%  

 

PAM/035 

Average number of working 

days taken to clear fly-tipping 

incidents 

2.29 2.03 2 2.20 - 2.51 5.00  
 

 Housing 

PAM/012 

Percentage of households 

successfully prevented from 

becoming homeless 

71.5% 57.9% 3 67.9%  69.44% 65.00%  
 

PAM/013 

Percentage of empty private 

properties brought back into 

use 

1.9% 1.2% 4 4.6%  0.57% 0.02%  
 

PAM/015 

Average number of calendar 

days taken to deliver a Disa-

bled Facilities Grant 

228 220 3 207  311.87 250.00  
 

 Leisure and Culture    

PAM/040 

Percentage of Quality Indica-

tors (with targets) achieved by 

the library service 

77.5% 97.50% 2 80.3%  N/A 95.00% - - 

PAM/017 
Number of visits to leisure 

centres per 1,000 population 
6,986 5,201 4 9,116  6,689 1,300  

 

PAM/041 

Percentage of NERS clients 

who completed the exercise 

programme 

- 65.27 - - - 88.89% 65.00%  
 

PAM/042 

Percentage of NERS clients 

whose health had improved 

on completion of the exercise 

programme 

- 97.84% - - - N/A 95.00% - - 

Following the suspension of the Performance Accountability Measures due to the COVID-19 

pandemic, the last full year of collection was 2019/20. The table below provides a summary of our 

performance between 2017/18 and 2019/20, along with a comparison against our targets.  

Page 134



 

   

43 

  

    

Ref Description 
2017/18 

Result 

2018/19 

Result 

2018/19 

Quartile 

Position 

2018/19 

All Wales 

2018/19 

Trend 

2019/20 

Result 

2019/20 

Target 

2019/20 

Trend 
Status 

 Planning 

PAM/018 

Percentage of all planning 

applications determined in 

time 

71.0% 72.9% 4 88.0%  65.34% 75.00%  
 

PAM/019 
Percentage of planning ap-

peals dismissed 
83.3% 50.0% 4 67.6%  100.0% 75.0%  

 

Highway Services 

PAM/020 
Percentage of A roads in poor 

condition 
4.4% 4.7% 4 3.9%  4.2% 3.5%  

 

PAM/021 
Percentage of B roads in poor 

condition 
3.1% 3.5% 1 4.5%  3.0% 3.5%  

 

PAM/022 
Percentage of C roads in poor 

condition 
17.5% 17.3% 4 14.0%  17.1% 16.0%  

 

 Public Protection 

PAM/023 

Percentage of food establish-

ments that meet food hygiene 

standards 

92.93% 94.83% 3 95.69%  N/A 90.0% - - 

 Social Scare 

PAM/025 

Rate of people kept in hospi-

tal while waiting for social 

care per 1,000 population 

aged 75+ 

- 3.75 - 4.9 - 11.87 4.00  
 

PAM/028 
Percentage of child assess-

ments completed in time 
- 87.04% - 88.9% - 87.68% 75.00  

 

Waste Services 

PAM/030 
Percentage of waste reused, 

recycled or composted 
63.7% 60.34% 4 62.79%  71.57% 58.00%  

 

PAM/043 

Kilograms of residual house-

hold waste generated per 

person 

240 186 4 180  130 185  
 

Key to symbols: Quartile: 

Target met or exceeded 

 Just short of target (<=5%) 

 Below target (>5%) 

Performance improved 
compared to previous year 
 
Performance the same as 
last year 
 
Performance decreased 
compared to previous year 

 
 

 
 

 

Performance amongst the top 25% of Councils 
 
Performance amongst the 2nd 25% of Councils 
 
Performance amongst the 3rd 25% of Councils 
 
Performance amongst the lowest 25% of Councils 

1 

2 

3 

4 

Benchmarking Our Performance (continued) 

Page 135



 

  

www.ceredigion.gov.uk                                       CeredigionCC                          @CeredigionCC 

Produced by Ceredigion County Council Performance and Research Team 

Page 136



1 

CEREDIGION COUNTY COUNCIL 
 

Report to: Council 

Date of meeting: 21st October 2021 

Title: Phosphates position paper for the LDP  

Purpose of the report: To inform Council of the implications of phosphate 
levels in the Teifi SAC catchment on delivery of the 
replacement LDP. 

For: Decision 

Cabinet Portfolio and 
Cabinet Member: 

Economy and Regeneration, Cllr Rhodri Evans 

The position paper was considered by Cabinet on 5th October 2021, and it was 
recommended for approval by Council. 

In January 2021 Natural Resources Wales (NRW) published evidence in relation to 
phosphate levels for riverine Special Areas of Conservation (SACs) in Wales, 
(including the Afon Teifi in Ceredigion) accompanied by interim planning position 
statement/ guidance which was updated in May 2021.  
 
This report provides an overview of the NRW guidance and its implications on the 
current and replacement LDP and sets out some high level options for the Council 
to consider, with a view to finding the way forward, whilst considering there will be 
timescale implications upon Plan preparation. The situation has potential corporate 
and policy implications for spatial development and potential impacts within urban 
and rural Ceredigion.  
 
NRW has produced ‘interim planning advice’ to avoid further deterioration in 
environmental capacity, which relates to the Afon Teifi catchment. As the Local 
Planning Authority (LPA) the Council is the competent authority as defined in the 
Habitats Regulations and are required to have regard for advice given by the NRW 
(a statutory consultee) when making planning decisions for both individual 
developments and the Local Development Plan (LDP). All LDPs should be screened 
to determine whether any policies are likely to have a significant effect on the SACs. 
 
The implications for the current LDP: 

 phosphates impact on 50% USCs, 14% RSCs 

 Total area of land affected - 806 km2 or 44.6% of Ceredigion. 

 14 allocated housing sites / 24% of all housing allocations, equating to 572 
houses of which 114.4 are expected to be affordable are constrained. 

 44 linked settlements are affected. 

 5 employment allocations (28% of total employment allocations in 
Ceredigion) and 2 mixed use allocations (20% of the total). 

 
Implications for the replacement LDP: 

Page 137

Agenda Item 9



2 

 89 candidate sites from 293 are potentially affected. (30% of total sites 
submitted.) 

 There will be a requirement for a 3rd call for candidate sites which may need 
to include land for phosphate mitigation measures, as and when the types of 
land and mitigation measures are known. 

 The proposed settlement hierarchy for the replacement LDP will need to be 
reviewed as many settlements proposed are impacted by the phosphate 
situation. 

 The SA/SEA will need to be reviewed to consider the social, economic and 
environmental implications from the impacts of phosphates on the Afon Teifi 
catchment area. 

 The replacement LDP will be subject to a further screening in relation to its 
potential impact on the riverine SACs, and potentially a requirement for each 
development allocation to undertake a full Appropriate Assessment where it 
may result in an impact on the SAC waterbody. 

 Strategic and spatial changes to the LDP will require key pieces of evidence 
to undergo review including settlement role and function, spatial options, 
housing supply, viability and the Welsh language impact assessment. 

 Future Wales- The National Plan 2040 identified the Teifi Valley as a regional 
growth zone, this area is now entirely constrained by phosphates and 
therefore the inability to meet National Policy will need to be considered in 
the plan review. 
 

The timetable for preparation of the replacement LDP will require a form of delay 
factored in irrespective of the preferred option, due to the impacts of the phosphate 
situation. 
 
Options appraisal: 
 

1. 6 town plan- Continue with plan preparation with the amended Preferred 
Strategy reflecting the previously agreed 6 town approach. There would be 
significant risks with allocating in areas impacted by phosphates- the LDP 
would not be able to demonstrate deliverability at examination and would 
likely fail the tests of soundness. 

2. Passive approach- temporarily pause the LDP preparation until further 
information, evidence and mitigation measures have been agreed. The 
Adopted Plan is in place and has no drop dead date, allowing for 
consideration of development proposals in areas that are not affected by 
phosphates. This approach has been adopted by Pembrokeshire, 
Carmarthenshire and Brecon Beacons National Park Authority.  

3. Spatial realignment- Commencement on a new replacement Local 
Development Plan with a new Delivery Agreement and a full reconsideration 
of the plan, including a spatial strategy that excluded those areas affected by 
phosphates. This is the preferred option for the Welsh Government. It would 
however mean we would be unable in the median term to allocate any future 
housing or employment land within the Teifi catchment. 

 
In reality all options have associated risks and the report explores these in more 
detail, however it would be a likely waste of council resources to continue with option 

Page 138



3 

1 - a plan that in all likelihood would fail at examination as we would be unable to 
demonstrate its deliverability and calling its soundness into question. In terms of 
option 2 this appears to be the preferred option regionally as it allows time to explore 
the emerging evidence and data and reconsider our options as we understand more 
about mitigations. It would also allow time for a Nutrient Management Board and 
associated Nutrient Management Plan for the Teifi to be developed. In terms of 
option 3 whilst this would deliver a plan in a timely manner it would direct most of 
the growth required across the county to a much smaller number of service centres 
and there would still be questions over the soundness of the plan if it is not meeting 
the needs of a significant proportion of the population of the county. It may also have 
political ramifications locally as it would be adopting a different approach to our 
traditional model of 6 towns. Therefore it is recommended that option 2 an indefinite 
pause is adopted in order to allow time for the science and evidence to build, 
mitigations to be developed and local solutions sought.  

 

Wellbeing of Future 
Generations: 

Has an Integrated Impact 
Assessment been completed? 
If, not, please state why 

Yes and IIA has been 
completed for plan 
preparation and 
updated to take 
account of the 
phosphates pause. 

Summary: 

Long term:  

Collaboration:  

Involvement:  

Prevention:  

Integration:  

 

Recommendation(s): It is recommended that the Council agrees a 
temporary but as yet unspecified length pause for the 
replacement local development plan subject to 
confirmation by Welsh Government. 

Reasons for decision: To allow for further work to be undertaken around the 
phosphate situation for evidence and data gathering 
and for mitigation solutions to be devised. 
 
To ensure the replacement plan meets the tests of 
soundness, is deliverable and fit for purpose. 
 
 

Page 139



4 

 

Overview and 
Scrutiny: 

The report has been presented to the LDP Working 
Group and the Development Management Task and 
Finish group and Cabinet and it was agreed at all groups 
that option 2 was the only realistic option. 

Policy Framework: Ceredigion Local Development Plan 2007-2022 and 
Ceredigion replacement Local Development Plan 2018-
2033. 

Corporate Priorities: Corporate Priority 1- Boosting the Economy. 
1.1 Promote and provide employment opportunities for 
the citizens of Ceredigion. 
1.3 Develop 21st Century Infrastructures across the 
County. 
Corporate Priority – 2 Investing in People’s Future. 
2.4 Promote and facilitate the distinct and vibrant 
bilingual culture and identity of Ceredigion. 
Corporate Priority -3 Enabling Individual and Family 
Resilience. 
3.1 Promote the well-being of individuals and families 
within safe, affordable and accessible homes. 
Corporate Priority 4 – Promoting Environmental And 
Community Resilience. 
4.1 Actively engage in programmes to deal with the 
effects of climate change. 
4.2 To improve infrastructure to facilitate future 
development to meet community needs. 
4.3 To help and assist communities to become more 
self-resilient. 

Finance and 
Procurement 
implications: 

LDPs are costly to produce, so to continue with a plan 
that would likely fail at examination would have cost 
implications, to pause the plan will also have cost 
implications as it will stretch out the length of time it will 
take to deliver a plan.  

Legal Implications: The authority has a duty to prepare a Local 
Development Plan. However Welsh Government are 
involved in seeking solutions to the issue and have 
supported neighbouring authorities in determining a 
pause is the most sensible solution. 

Staffing implications: None 

Property / asset 
implications: 

None  

Risk(s): As outlined in report 

Page 140



5 

Statutory Powers:  

Background Papers: Phosphate position paper. 

Appendices: None 

Corporate Lead 
Officer: 

Russell Hughes Pickering 

Reporting Officer: Sarah Groves- Phillips 

Date: 11-10-2021 

 

Page 141



Papur Sefyllfa - Ffosffadau 

Position Paper - Phosphates 

 
 

 

  

 

 

Page 142



Ceredigion County Council – Local Development Plan- July 2021 

i 

Contents 
1. Introduction and Purpose 1 

1.1. Process and Timeline 1 

2. Summary of Current Issues 3 

2.1. Natural Resources Wales’ interim advice for planning applications within the 

river Special Areas of Conservation (SACs) catchments (issued January 2021). 3 

2.2. Waste Water Treatment Works (WwTW) 5 

3. Implications for the Current LDP 7 

3.1. The Settlement Hierarchy 7 

3.2. Residential: Allocations 10 

3.3. Residential: Other components of housing supply 13 

3.4. Employment Allocations 15 

3.5. Mixed Use Allocations 16 

4. Implications for the Replacement LDP 17 

4.1. Candidate Sites 17 

4.2. The Settlement Hierarchy 17 

4.3. Sustainability Appraisal / Strategic Environmental Assessment 23 

4.4. Habitats Regulations Assessment 23 

4.5. Mitigation and other Solutions 23 

5. Options Appraisal 25 

5.1. Overview 25 

5.2. Timescales 25 

6. Potential Technical Solutions and Policy Based Approaches 35 

6.1. Importance of identifying solutions 35 

6.2. Technical Solutions 38 

7. Next Steps 41 

7.1. Short/Medium Term 41 

Page 143



Ceredigion County Council – Local Development Plan- July 2021 

ii 

7.2. Longer Term 42 

 

Page 144



Ceredigion County Council – Local Development Plan- July 2021 

1 

1. Introduction and Purpose 

1.1. Process and Timeline  

The preparation of the Replacement LDP (rLDP) reflects the Council’s 

statutory responsibilities under the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 

2004 - setting out policies and proposals for future development and use of 

land for Ceredigion over the period to 2033.  A revised Delivery Agreement 

(DA) in relation to the rLDP was approved by Welsh Minsters in March 2020 

just prior to the national lockdown. As a result of the timing and the 

subsequent notification by Welsh Government to cease formal consultations 

on the rLDP and focus on background evidence. The current approved DA is 

redundant and a replacement DA will be required once works formally 

recommence. 

During January 2021, officers were proceeding with background evidence 

work – notably the preparation of evidence in relation to recent house price 

changes and impact on population changes in the county. However, on 21st 

January 2021, Natural Resources Wales (NRW) published evidence in relation 

to phosphate levels for riverine Special Area of Conservation (SACs) in Wales 

(including the Teifi). This was accompanied by planning position 

statements/guidance1. This should not be confused with The Water Resources 

(Control of Agricultural Pollution) (Wales) Regulations 2021, albeit interested 

parties are advised to appraise themselves of these also to develop a rounded 

picture beyond the LDP itself (see Section 5 of this Paper).   

This Paper provides an overview of the NRW guidance and its implications on 

the rLDP. It sets out some high-level options that Members may wish to 

endorse for further exploration by officers with a view to finding a way forward. 

The only thing that is certain at this stage is that there will be timescale 

implications upon Plan preparation. This Paper should be read with the 

knowledge that the situation is constantly evolving as new information 

emerges. The matter is deemed to be requiring reporting due to its potentially 

                                            
1 Note: NRW published an update to their interim guidance on the 11th May 2021, the content 
of which and any future iterations will frame ongoing consideration. 

Page 145



Ceredigion County Council – Local Development Plan- July 2021 

2 

significant corporate and policy implications – most notably in terms of spatial 

implications and the potential impact within rural Ceredigion.  

  

Page 146



Ceredigion County Council – Local Development Plan- July 2021 

3 

2. Summary of Current Issues 

2.1. Natural Resources Wales’ interim advice for planning 

applications within the river Special Areas of Conservation 

(SACs) catchments (issued January 2021). 

Ceredigion is characterised by its rich environmental qualities and is home to 

a number of areas and features designated for their environmental importance 

including the Afon Teifi riverine Special Areas of Conservation (SAC). 

Following new evidence about the environmental impacts of phosphate in 

watercourses, Natural Resources Wales (NRW) have assessed the 9 riverine 

SACs in Wales. This assessment based on tighter targets for the water quality 

of watercourses established that phosphorus breaches are widespread within 

Welsh SAC rivers with over 60% of waterbodies failing against the challenging 

targets. 

As a result of this failure NRW have issued ‘interim planning advice’ to avoid 

further deterioration in environmental capacity. This ‘advice’ relates to all 

Riverine SACs whose catchments extend into Ceredigion namely, the Afon 

Teifi. As a Local Planning Authority (LPA), the Council is required to have 

regard to the advice given by NRW when making planning decisions (for both 

individual developments and Local Development Plans (LDP)). Consequently, 

any proposed development within the river catchment that might increase 

phosphate levels will need to clearly evidence that the development can 

demonstrate phosphate neutrality or betterment in its design and/or its 

contribution to the water body. In most cases there will be limited capacity to 

connect to the public sewerage system and an alternative solution will have to 

be found. This requirement on drainage considerations will impact on all 

development that increases the volume or concentration of wastewater. 

A map to show the catchment area of the rivers within Ceredigion is set out in 

Figure 1.  

Page 147



Ceredigion County Council – Local Development Plan- July 2021 

4 

  

Figure 1: Afon Teifi SAC Catchment Area in Ceredigion 

P
age 148



Ceredigion County Council – Local Development Plan- July 2021 

5 

Drainage proposals for developments are required to be given significant 

consideration within these catchment areas.  

NRW have provided interim planning advice for developers. The guidance 

includes an outline of the type of development which is unlikely to have an 

impact on phosphate levels in the watercourses. 

Further and more detailed information can also be found directly on NRW’s 

website.  

The NRW advice note outlines, where a planning application within the 

catchment areas of the Afon Teifi, cannot evidence that the development 

proposal would result in phosphate neutrality or betterment, that unfortunately 

the Local Planning Authority would not be able to support the application. This 

reflects the unacceptable impact on the water quality of the rivers which are 

sensitively designated as a SAC. This also has implications for the policies 

and proposals of the Local Development Plan (including site allocations).  

Officers are working on understanding the full implications of NRWs guidance 

for current planning applications and the progress of the rLDP. The Council 

must ensure that development proposals do not harm the environmental 

capacity of our watercourses. Officers are also working collaboratively with 

NRW in understanding the wider issues and identifying the way forward for all 

proposals, to find solutions that comply with the requirements of the new 

interim planning advice. 

2.2. Waste Water Treatment Works (WwTW) 

The position with regards WwTW phosphate permits is as follows.  

There are current phosphate permits at: Llandewi Brefi. 

There are no planned Phosphate improvements in Ceredigion within the 2020 

-2025 Dŵr Cymru Welsh Water (DCWW) Assest Management Plan (AMP7). 

With regard to future investment programmes, DCWW have an agreed two 

AMP programme (i.e., AMP7 & AMP8) with NRW.  However, whilst AMP7 is 

known the schemes for inclusion in AMP8 are not yet at a stage where they’ve 

been finalised. However it is understood a phosphate permit may be 

introduced in Tregaron.  It is understood that the location of WwTWs where 

Page 149

https://cdn.cyfoethnaturiol.cymru/media/693022/interim-planning-advice-following-river-sac-compliance-report.pdf?mode=pad&rnd=132557132220000000
https://naturalresources.wales/about-us/news-and-events/news/tighter-phosphate-targets-change-our-view-of-the-state-of-welsh-rivers/?lang=en
https://naturalresources.wales/about-us/news-and-events/news/tighter-phosphate-targets-change-our-view-of-the-state-of-welsh-rivers/?lang=en


Ceredigion County Council – Local Development Plan- July 2021 

6 

phosphate permits are required to be introduced or tightened is guided by 

NRWs National Environment Programmes (NEP). 

A phosphate permit limit is imposed on a respective DCWW WwTW by the 

Environmental Regulator (NRW in Wales) and essentially requires DCWW 

ensure that they remove phosphates from wastewater to meet that limit. 

Phosphate permits are assessed over an average of all phosphate results in a 

rolling 12-month period. The typical method to remove phosphorous from a 

WwTW is to introduce ferric (iron) dosing and ‘strip’ the phosphate – the ferric 

reacts with the phosphate and forms solid precipitates which are then 

removed via a settlement tank.  

It can be concluded that the issues faced are infrastructural as well as 

environmental in this regard. It also frames the discussion with an awareness 

of the wider role of multi-agency organisations – e.g., DCWW and NRW and in 

this regard the Council will be unable to address this matter in isolation.  

  

Page 150



Ceredigion County Council – Local Development Plan- July 2021 

7 

3. Implications for the Current LDP   

3.1. The Settlement Hierarchy  

At present the following settlements are impacted by Phosphates: 

Table 1: LDP Settlements affected by WWTWs (RAG status): 

LDP 

Settlement 

Hierarchy / 

Category 

WWTW 

with 

existing 

phosphate 

stripping in 

place and 

up to date 

permit 

WWTW with 

phosphate 

stripping 

improvements 

planned in 

AMP 7 (2020-

2025) 

WWTW with 

phosphate 

stripping 

improvements 

planned in 

AMP 8 (2026-

2030) 

WWTW without 

Phosphate 

Stripping in 

place or planned 

Urban 

Service 

Centres 

  Tregaron Llandysul 

Lampeter 

Newcastle Emlyn 

(Adpar) 

Rural 

service 

Centres 

   Cenarth 

Pontrhydfendigaid 

Linked 

Settlements 

Llanddewi 

Brefi 

  Aberbanc 

Alltyblacca 

Betws Bledrws 

Betws Ifan 

Beulah 

Blaenannerch 

Blaenporth 

Brongest 

Page 151



Ceredigion County Council – Local Development Plan- July 2021 

8 

LDP 

Settlement 

Hierarchy / 

Category 

WWTW 

with 

existing 

phosphate 

stripping in 

place and 

up to date 

permit 

WWTW with 

phosphate 

stripping 

improvements 

planned in 

AMP 7 (2020-

2025) 

WWTW with 

phosphate 

stripping 

improvements 

planned in 

AMP 8 (2026-

2030) 

WWTW without 

Phosphate 

Stripping in 

place or planned 

Bronnant 

Bryngwyn 

Brynhoffnant 

Capel Dewi 

(SOUTH) 

Cellan/Fishers 

Arms 

Coed y Bryn 

Cribyn 

Croeslan 

Cwm Cou 

Cwrtnewydd 

Drefach 

Ffostrasol 

Gorsgoch 

Henllan/Trebedw 

Highmead 

Horeb 

Llandyfriog 

Llandygwydd 

Page 152



Ceredigion County Council – Local Development Plan- July 2021 

9 

LDP 

Settlement 

Hierarchy / 

Category 

WWTW 

with 

existing 

phosphate 

stripping in 

place and 

up to date 

permit 

WWTW with 

phosphate 

stripping 

improvements 

planned in 

AMP 7 (2020-

2025) 

WWTW with 

phosphate 

stripping 

improvements 

planned in 

AMP 8 (2026-

2030) 

WWTW without 

Phosphate 

Stripping in 

place or planned 

Llangybi 

Llanwnnen 

Llechryd 

Maesymeillion 

Penrhiwllan 

Pentrellwyn 

Plwmp 

Prengwyn 

Rhydlewis / 

Hawen 

Rhydowen 

Sarnau 

Silian 

Talgarreg 

Tanygroes 

Ystrad Meurig 

 

Phosphates therefore impact upon 50% USCs and 14% of RSCs in the 

current LDP. The total land area of Ceredigion affected by Phosphates 

equates to 806sq.km or 44.6% 

Page 153



Ceredigion County Council – Local Development Plan- July 2021 

10 

3.2. Residential: Allocations  

A total of 14 allocated housing sites (24% of all housing allocations within the 

county) are impacted. Most of the issues impact on Urban and Rural Service 

Centres (USC and RSC) respectively as defined within the strategy of the 

current LDP.  

This equates to an allocated amount of 572 houses of which 114.4 were 

expected to be affordable homes. 

Page 154



Ceredigion County Council – Local Development Plan- July 2021 

11 

Table 2: LDP Housing Allocated Sites within Afon Tefi SAC Catchment 

Allocated Site 

Ref 

Site Name Settlement Name Area_Ha Number of 

Houses 

Number of 

Affordable Houses 

H0401 Land opposite Parc y 

Trap, Adpar 

Adpar 2.69 35 7 

H0501 Former Lampeter Primary 

school 

Llanbedr Pont 

Steffan/Lampeter 

0.65 12 2.4 

H0502 Site rear of Ffynon Bedr Llanbedr Pont 

Steffan/Lampeter 

0.81 20 4 

H0503 Site on corner of Forest 

Road 

Llanbedr Pont 

Steffan/Lampeter 

0.57 9 1.8 

H0504 Forest Road Llanbedr Pont 

Steffan/Lampeter 

4.52 90 18 

H0505 Land adj Maes-yr-deri Llanbedr Pont 

Steffan/Lampeter 

4.2 105 21 

H0601 Ty ol i'r Fawydd/ Rear of 

the Beeches 

Llandysul 4.85 126 25.2 

H0701 Land off Dewi Road Tregaron 1.8 36 7.2 

P
age 155



Ceredigion County Council – Local Development Plan- July 2021 

12 

Allocated Site 

Ref 

Site Name Settlement Name Area_Ha Number of 

Houses 

Number of 

Affordable Houses 

H0702 Land rear to Rhyd Y 

Fawnog 

Tregaron 1.52 38 7.6 

H1101 Land off Spring Meadow 

Estate 

Cenarth 0.37 7 1.4 

H1102 Gog/dwyrain Ysgol 

Cenarth/ North east 

Cenarth School 

Cenarth 0.79 17 3.4 

H1103 Ty ol/ i'r gog/dwyrain 

Tegfan/ Land at and n/ 

east of Tegfan 

Cenarth 0.86 14 2.8 

H2001 Dolwerdd Pontrhydfendigaid 1.76 44 8.8 

H2002 Land Adjacent to Rock 

House 

Pontrhydfendigaid 0.77 19 3.8 

  
Total 26.16 572 114.4 

 

 

P
age 156



County Council – Local Development Plan- July 2021 

13 

3.3. Residential: Other components of housing supply  

As well as the USCs and RSCs listed above a number of Linked Settlements 

are also affected and in accordance with Policy S04 they have no remaining 

capacity and are currently running at minus 75 units (please note the -75 

number is because these settlements had already exceeded their allowance 

within the LDP (2007-2022) by 75 units to date April 2021). 

Table 3: LDP Linked Settlements within Afon Tefi SAC Catchment 

Linked Settlement Name Settlement Group Name Units Remaining 

Blaenannerch Aberporth / Parcllyn 4 

Brynhoffnant Aberporth / Parcllyn -2 

Sarnau Aberporth / Parcllyn -17 

Blaenporth Aberporth / Parcllyn 3 

Tanygroes Aberporth / Parcllyn -2 

Llechryd Aberteifi / Cardigan -12 

Llandygwydd Cenarth 2 

Cribyn Felinfach/ Ystrad Aeron -5 

Betws Bledrws Llanbedr Pont Steffan/Lampeter 4 

Cellan/Fishers Arms Llanbedr Pont Steffan/Lampeter 3 

Cwrtnewydd Llanbedr Pont Steffan/Lampeter 1 

Drefach Llanbedr Pont Steffan/Lampeter -4 

Gorsgoch Llanbedr Pont Steffan/Lampeter -2 

Llangybi Llanbedr Pont Steffan/Lampeter 5 

Llanwnnen Llanbedr Pont Steffan/Lampeter -17 

Llwyn-y-groes Llanbedr Pont Steffan/Lampeter 3 

Silian Llanbedr Pont Steffan/Lampeter 3 

Aberbanc Llanbedr Pont Steffan/Lampeter -25 

Page 157



Ceredigion County Council – Local Development Plan- July 2021 

14 

Linked Settlement Name Settlement Group Name Units Remaining 

Coed y Bryn Llanbedr Pont Steffan/Lampeter -2 

Croeslan Llandysul 10 

Henllan/Trebedw Llandysul -7 

Horeb Llandysul -4 

Maesymeillion Llandysul -4 

Prengwyn Llandysul -1 

Rhydlewis / Hawen Llandysul -1 

Rhydowen Llandysul 0 

Talgarreg Llandysul -9 

Capel Dewi (SOUTH) Llandysul 4 

Ffostrasol Llandysul -5 

Penrhiwllan Llandysul -6 

Pentrellwyn Llandysul 4 

Alltyblacca Llanybydder 0 

Highmead Llanybydder 3 

Plwmp Cei Newydd/New Quay -1 

Betws Ifan Newcastle Emlyn (Adpar) -3 

Beulah Newcastle Emlyn (Adpar) -4 

Brongest Newcastle Emlyn (Adpar) -1 

Bryngwyn Newcastle Emlyn (Adpar) 3 

Cwm Cou Newcastle Emlyn (Adpar) -4 

Llandyfriog Newcastle Emlyn (Adpar) 6 

Pont-rhyd-y-groes Pontrhydfendigaid 4 

Ystrad Meurig Pontrhydfendigaid 1 

Page 158



Ceredigion County Council – Local Development Plan- July 2021 

15 

Linked Settlement Name Settlement Group Name Units Remaining 

Bronnant Tregaron 0 

Llanddewi Brefi Tregaron 0 

 Total -75 

 

3.4. Employment Allocations 

In total some 5 allocations equating to 39.25 ha (28% of all employment 

allocations within the County) are impacted. All are located within USCs and 

RSCs. 

Table 4: LDP Employment Allocated Sites within Afon Tefi SAC Catchment 

Allocated 

Site Ref 

Area 

Ha Site Name Settlement Name 

E0501 15.94 Parc Busnes Llambed/Llambed 

Business Park 

Llanbedr Pont 

Steffan/Lampeter 

E0502 1.07 Safle yr Hen Farchnad/Old Mart 

Site 

Llanbedr Pont 

Steffan/Lampeter 

E0601 6.43 Parc Menter Llandysul/Llandysul 

Enterprise 

Llandysul 

E0602 5.13 Parc Busnes Horeb/Horeb 

Business Park 

Llandysul 

E0801 10.68 Parc Aberporth Aberporth/Parcllyn 

Total 39.25 
  

 

It should be noted that the delivery of employment proposals across the 

County is also supported through policies S03 and S04 which enable 

appropriate unallocated opportunities to come forward.  Such opportunities 

may also be adversely impacted.   

Page 159



Ceredigion County Council – Local Development Plan- July 2021 

16 

3.5. Mixed Use Allocations  

In total some 2 mixed use allocations equating to 55.89 ha (20% of all mixed 

use allocations within the County) are impacted. The sites are located within 

an USC or RSC. 

 

Table 5: LDP Mixed Use Allocated Sites within Afon Tefi SAC Catchment 

Allocation 

Site Ref 

Site Name Settlemen

t Name 

Area 

Ha 

M0701 Prosiect Cylch Caron, ty ol Gwesty Talbot/ 

Cylch Caron Project, rear Talbot Hotel 

Tregaron 3.67 

M0801 Maes Awyr Gorllewin Cymru, Blaenannerch/ 

West Wales Airport, Blaenannerch 

Aberporth / 

Parcllyn 

52.22 

 

*Please note there are a number of reasons an allocated site may not come 

forward, phosphates may just be one impact of many and therefore the 

numbers stated above need to be considered in this light. 

  

Page 160



Ceredigion County Council – Local Development Plan- July 2021 

17 

4. Implications for the Replacement LDP  

4.1. Candidate Sites  

To date as part of the preparation of rLDP, 2 calls for candidate sites have 

been made whereupon 293 candidate sites were proposed. Work has been 

undertaken to assess these sites against a number of criteria, however not 

Phosphates specific analysis. Of the candidate sites submitted 89 are 

potentially impacted by the NRW planning advice on phosphates which 

equates to 30% of total candidate site submissions. There will be a need to 

run a 3rd call for candidate sites and to go back to existing site proposers with 

a Phosphates specific questionnaire in order to ascertain if or how the NRW 

guidance can be met.  

A future call for candidate sites may also call for land for phosphates 

mitigation measures as and when the types of land required become known. 

4.2. The Settlement Hierarchy  

The proposed settlement hierarchy for the rLDP included the following 

settlements (those highlighted in red are now impacted by phosphates). It will 

be necessary to review the settlement hierarchy in some detail and consider 

alternative options for delivering housing in these areas. 

Hierarchy terminology: 

USC Urban Service Centre 

RSC rural Service Centre 

SLS sustainable linked settlement 

LLS large linked settlement 

LS Linked settlement 

Minor OMH – minor open market housing 

Alloc sites and WF – Allocated sites and wind fall 

Nat Pol – National Policy only 

  

Page 161



Ceredigion County Council – Local Development Plan- July 2021 

18 

Table 6: rLDP Proposed Settlement Hierarchy Highlighting those Impacted by 

Phosphates 

Service Centre and Linked 

Settlement name 

Settlement Type Potential 

Development  

1 Aberaeron (Llwyncelyn / Ffosyffin)  

Aberarth SLS Minor OMH 

Ciliau Aeron SLS Minor OMH 

Pennant LS Nat Pol 

2 Cardigan 

Ferwig SLS Minor OMH 

Gwbert LS Nat Pol 

Llangoedmor LS Nat Pol 

Llechryd LLS Alloc Sites+ WF 

Penparc LLS Alloc Sites+ WF 

3 Aberystwyth  /Llanbadarn Fawr /Waunfawr /Penparcau / Commins Coch / 

Rhydyfelin 

Blaenplwyf SLS Minor OMH 

Capel Bangor LLS Alloc Sites+ WF 

Capel Seion LS Nat Pol 

Commins Coch Moved to USC  

Goginan LS Nat Pol 

Llanfarian LLS Alloc Sites+ WF 

Page 162



Ceredigion County Council – Local Development Plan- July 2021 

19 

Service Centre and Linked 

Settlement name 

Settlement Type Potential 

Development  

Llangorwen LS Nat Pol 

4 Newcastle Emlyn (Adpar) 

Betws Ifan LS Nat Pol 

Beulah LS Nat Pol 

Brongest LS Nat Pol 

Bryngwyn LS Nat Pol 

Cwm Cou LS Nat Pol 

Llandyfriog SLS Minor OMH 

5 Lampeter 
  

Cellan/Fishers Arms SLS Minor OMH 

Cwrtnewydd LS Nat Pol 

Drefach / Llanwennog LS Nat Pol 

Llangybi SLS Minor OMH 

Llanwnen SLS Minor OMH 

6 Llandysul 

Capel Dewi(SOUTH) LS Nat Pol 

Coed y Bryn LS Nat Pol 

Croeslan SLS Minor OMH 

Ffostrasol SLS Minor OMH 

Page 163



Ceredigion County Council – Local Development Plan- July 2021 

20 

Service Centre and Linked 

Settlement name 

Settlement Type Potential 

Development  

Henllan/Trebedw SLS Minor OMH 

Horeb Needs to be 

considered further 

 

Penrhiwllan / Aberbanc SLS Minor OMH 

Pentrellwyn LS Nat Pol 

Rhydowen / Pontsian LS Nat Pol 

Talgarreg LS Nat Pol 

7 Tregaron 

Bron-nant LS Nat Pol 

Llanddewi Brefi SLS Minor OMH 

Llangeitho SLS Minor OMH 

8 Aberporth / Parcllyn 

Blaenannerch LS Nat Pol 

Blaenporth SLS Minor OMH 

Tanygroes SLS Minor OMH 

Tresaith LS Nat Pol 

9 Bow Street 

Llandre LLS Alloc Sites+ WF 

10 New Quay / Cross Inn 

Page 164



Ceredigion County Council – Local Development Plan- July 2021 

21 

Service Centre and Linked 

Settlement name 

Settlement Type Potential 

Development  

Caerwedros / Llwyndafydd LS Nat Pol 

Maen-y-groes LS Nat Pol 

Pentre'r Bryn / Synod Inn LS Nat Pol 

Plwmp LS Nat Pol 

11 Cenarth 

Llandygwydd LS Nat Pol 

12 Felinfach / Ystrad Aeron 

Cilcennin LS Nat Pol 

Cribyn SLS Minor OMH 

Dihewyd LS Nat Pol 

Talsarn LS Nat Pol 

13 Llanarth 

Gilfachreda SLS Minor OMH 

Mydroilyn LS Nat Pol 

14 Llanilar 

Llanafan LS Nat Pol 

Lledrod LS Nat Pol 

15 Llanon 

Bethania LS Nat Pol 

Page 165



Ceredigion County Council – Local Development Plan- July 2021 

22 

Service Centre and Linked 

Settlement name 

Settlement Type Potential 

Development  

Cross Inn (Llanon) / Nebo LS Nat Pol 

16 Llanrhystud 

Llangwyrfon LS Nat Pol 

17 Llanybydder 

Alltyblacca / Highmead SLS Minor OMH 

18 Penrhyncoch 

19 Ponterwyd 

Devils Bridge LS Nat Pol 

20 Pontrhydendigaid 

Pont-rhyd-y-groes LS Nat Pol 

Ysbyty Ystwyth LS Nat Pol 

Ystrad Meurig LS Nat Pol 

21 Talybont 

Eglwysfach / Furnace SLS Minor OMH 

Tre Taliesin SLS Minor OMH 

Tre'r Ddol SLS Minor OMH 

22 Borth 

Dol-y-bont Removed as 

Settlement 

 

Page 166



Ceredigion County Council – Local Development Plan- July 2021 

23 

Service Centre and Linked 

Settlement name 

Settlement Type Potential 

Development  

Ynyslas LS Nat Pol 

23 Brynhoffnant 

Llangrannog LS Nat Pol 

Pontgarreg LS Nat Pol 

Sarnau LS Nat Pol 

Rhydlewis/ Hawen LS Nat Pol 

 

4.3. Sustainability Appraisal / Strategic Environmental 

Assessment 

Dependent on the agreed way forward, there will be a need to review the 

SA/SEA in an iterative manner. Given the nature of the issues being 

discussed, there are likely to be social, economic, and environmental 

implications that will require review.  

4.4. Habitats Regulations Assessment  

Irrespective of the agreed way forward the emergence of the phosphate issue 

in relation to the freshwater SACs will require the rLDP to be subject to a 

further screening in relation to its potential impact on these designations.  

Dependent on the agreed way forward, this may require a full Appropriate 

Assessment being required for each development allocation where it may 

result in an impact on the SAC and its water quality.  It should be noted that 

without deliverable and evidenced mitigation no site will pass a full Appropriate 

Assessment. 

4.5. Mitigation and other Solutions 

 Dependent on the agreed way forward, there will be implications – notably 

those impact assessments underpinning the Plan’s preparation. Due to the 

Page 167



Ceredigion County Council – Local Development Plan- July 2021 

24 

scale and strategic nature of any change to the Plan there will be a 

requirement to revisit some of the earlier stages of the Plans preparatory 

process. 

Those key pieces of evidence that are likely to require review include 

settlement role and function, spatial options, housing supply, viability (in the 

event of a developer pays option) and the Welsh language impact 

assessment.  The scale and scope of the work will vary subject to the 

respective option and reflects the need for the Plan’s evidence base to be 

iterative and responsive to changes in circumstances and the Plan's content.  

Future Wales the National Plan 2040 was published on the 24th of February 

2021 and identified two regional growth areas for Ceredigion these include: 

 Aberystwyth  

 Teifi Valley (Lampeter, Llandysul, New Castle Emlyn and Cardigan) 

It is now clear that outside of Cardigan, the Teifi Valley regional growth zone is 

now entirely constrained by phosphates, therefore consideration of this 

inability to meet National policy will need to be made in plan review.   

The rLDP in reflecting the issues associated with phosphates will irrespective 

of the way forward require additional policies to mitigate (where appropriate) 

for the impact and potentially provide a pathway for acceptable developments 

to be considered and permitted.  In order to deliver such policies, provisions 

and mechanisms will need to be developed which provide evidence and a 

framework for the implementation of these policies.  Such approaches are 

further considered within this paper. 

Page 168



Ceredigion County Council - Local Development Plan- July 2021 

25 

5. Options Appraisal  

5.1. Overview 

The following high-level options are provided to frame discussion and to inform the agreed next steps. It should be noted that 

matters are evolving with the following intended to guide our understanding of the options available. This section should be 

read with the awareness that whilst there can be an emphasis on seeking to avoid the affected areas, there is still likely to be 

a need to identify solutions within the areas themselves as part of a forward-thinking approach - as such reference is made to 

Section 6 of this Paper.  

5.2. Timescales  

It is recognised that the issues of phosphates and the publication of the NRW Interim Guidance has had a wide ranging 

impact on Planning across Wales.  In this regard the preparation of an LDP is no different with clear implications upon the 

content and deliverability of its policies and provisions as well as its compliance with legislation and national planning Policy 

and guidance.  Whilst there are impacts on its content there will also be delays in the timetable for the preparation of the 

Plan.  In setting out the following options it should be recognised that irrespective of which option is preferred, a form of delay 

will have to be factored in to include the potential for further reporting and additional changes to its content.  

The following table presents the options available in respect of the rLDP: 

 

 

 

P
age 169



Ceredigion County Council - Local Development Plan- July 2021 

26 

Table 7: Options available in respect of the rLDP 

Options Explanation Risks Impact on timescales 

A 6 Town Plan 

Continue with plan 

preparation with amended 

Preferred Strategy (PS) 

reflecting previously agreed 

settlement strategy e.g. 6 

town focus 

This option 

acknowledges the 

importance of the 

council’s priority to 

maintain a 6 town 

approach in the rLDP if 

this remains the case 

then it may be possible to 

continue drafting a plan 

with the settlement 

strategy previously 

agreed at PS stage with 

some amendments. 

Policies on mitigations 

and robust monitoring 

would be required. 

Allocations could still be 

made in the phosphate 

There would be significant risks 

involved in continuing to allocate in 

areas impacted by phosphates as the 

LPA would not be able to demonstrate 

delivery at examination. In addition, 

further risks include a failure to comply 

with the Council’s duty as the 

Competent Authority under the Habitat 

Regulations (HRA).   In this respect the 

content of the Revised LDP will require 

a further screening with allocated sites 

in the affected areas requiring an 

appropriate assessment under the 

Habitat Regulations.  This option is not 

considered to be realistic unless there 

are investments by Dwr Cymru Welsh 

Water (DCWW) programmed in 

advance of the Examination to 

Wastewater Treatment Works (WwTW) 

The LPA could submit an 

amended Delivery 

Agreement (DA) and 

resume work on the rLDP 

within a matter of weeks this 

would result in an overall 

delay factoring in Covid 19 

as well, to the previously 

agreed DA of approx. 18 

months.  

P
age 170



Ceredigion County Council - Local Development Plan- July 2021 

27 

affected areas, but not 

expected to be delivered 

in the earlier stages of 

the plan period. 

in the south of the County within the 

Plan period so that they are phosphate 

enabled and that development can be 

delivered by 2033. This is highly 

unlikely. This would still result in the 

requirement to move much of the 

proposed development in the affected 

catchments to the end of the Plan 

period / trajectory which would call into 

question how realistic the Plan is, and 

its compliance with the Tests of 

Soundness.  In terms of private 

investment through the ‘developer 

pays’, it is highly unlikely to secure 

sufficient contributions to enable 

upgrading WwTW facilities, given 

viability is already acknowledged as low 

in the Teifi Valley.  Additional costs 

could render developments unviable or 

may necessitate a reduction in other 

planning contributions such as the 

P
age 171



Ceredigion County Council - Local Development Plan- July 2021 

28 

provision of affordable housing and 

public open space etc.  The emphasis 

would have to be on proactive 

monitoring, and it would have to be 

demonstrated that the mitigation as set 

out in Section 6 of this Paper are 

achievable and realistic and at present 

it is too early to judge this. 

In terms of costs there is potential for 

abortive costs as the council pursue a 

strategy that would most likely not be 

supported at examination, assuming 

mitigation measures and solutions are 

not available by deposit stage of the 

rLDP. 

Passive approach (Wait 

and See) 

Halt plan preparation until 

certainty that the phosphate 

issue can be resolved 

This option 

acknowledges the fact 

that the Council has an 

Adopted Plan in place, 

with no drop dead date, 

and given the uncertainty 

The current LDP is out of date and 

there is a risk that the LPA would 

increasingly see applications 

considered in light of national policy 

with less local emphasis. This could 

lead to pressure from Welsh 

It is not known how long it 

will take to develop solutions 

and mitigations for the 

Phosphates issue and any 

future nutrient releases from 

NRW therefore a passive 

P
age 172



Ceredigion County Council - Local Development Plan- July 2021 

29 

with regards the ongoing 

emergence of the 

‘phosphate issue’, the 

Council may consider it 

appropriate to pause with 

the preparation of the 

replacement Plan 

temporarily.  There also 

remains a possibility that 

there will be future focus 

on the estuarine areas, 

notably in terms of 

nutrients. The current 

Development Plan is still 

allowing for the 

consideration of 

development proposals in 

those areas that are not 

affected and as such key 

corporate developments 

(including the strategic / 

Government on compliance with 

national policy where the development 

plan is out of date. 

With any ‘LDP pause’ there are issues 

and challenges that are not able to be 

addressed by current policies which 

have been highlighted or exacerbated 

by Covid 19 including delivery of 

affordable housing, supporting 

economic growth and recovery and 

revitalising the high street. These would 

remain in place in any pause. 

approach runs a risk that the 

council could be without an 

up to date plan for some 

considerable time.  

P
age 173



Ceredigion County Council - Local Development Plan- July 2021 

30 

corporate development of 

significance in the growth 

areas) can be 

considered.  However, 

they remain subject to the 

constraints resulting from 

the issues in relation to 

phosphates and the 

interim NRW guidance.  

Following the 

establishment of 

Corporate Joint 

Committees, the 

preparation of an SDP for 

the region will commence 

in the summer of 2022.  

Any delay in relation to 

the Plans preparation 

may result in non-

adoption to ensure it 

P
age 174



Ceredigion County Council - Local Development Plan- July 2021 

31 

complies with the content 

of the emerging SDP. 

It is worth noting that this 

is the approach 

Pembrokeshire, 

Carmarthenshire and 

Brecon Beacons National 

Park Authority Local 

Planning Authorities have 

taken – all formally 

declaring an unspecified 

LDP pause. 

Spatial realignment (WG 

preferred option) 

Withdraw the rLDP and 

commence a new rLDP with 

a revised plan period – 

following an approach 

advocated by WG of 

This option would see the 

plan process start from 

scratch with a new DA 

and a full reconsideration 

of the plan. This would 

include considering an 

alternative spatial 

strategy that excluded the 

phosphate affected 

This option would involve the removal 

of all development allocations 

(including housing and employment) 

within the affected areas from the Plan 

approx. 44% of the county namely 

settlements of Lampeter, Tregaron, 

Adpar and various RSCs and Linked 

Settlements as outlined in RAG status 

table above). Whilst this would address 

Upon preparation of a new 

DA a new timescale would 

be set which would usually 

be 3.5 years with 3 month 

slippage so adoption of the 

replacement plan could be 

expected by end of 2025 

assuming submission of the 

P
age 175



Ceredigion County Council - Local Development Plan- July 2021 

32 

avoiding allocation in 

Phosphate affected zones 

settlements and re-

distributing growth to 

sustainable areas that 

are not affected. In order 

to ensure plan delivery 

and meeting the tests of 

soundness. Whilst some 

development could occur 

in the phosphate affected 

areas it would need to 

comply with NRW 

guidance. For future 

developments, policies in 

the plan could reflect a 

criteria based approach 

allowing developments to 

come forward if and when 

mitigations are available. 

some of the legal and procedural 

issues in progressing the Plan it would 

reduce the development opportunities 

arising in the affected areas.  However, 

it should be recognised that the 

implications of the phosphate issue 

would de facto have this affect in any 

case.  Whilst it would not necessarily 

see the settlements in the affected 

areas re-classified in terms of their 

position in the strategy it would see 

their contribution in terms of growth 

significantly downgraded. This plan for 

growth outside of 3 of the main towns 

could have a number of impact 

including on the Welsh speaking rates 

of the area as future growth would be 

restricted (though it is now) it may also 

redistribute growth to smaller 

settlements which could have adverse 

impacts on those Welsh speaking 

DA to WG by end of this 

year. 

P
age 176



Ceredigion County Council - Local Development Plan- July 2021 

33 

communities who may feel there is too 

much growth in their locality. It would 

also see a burden of growth falling on 

Aberystwyth as the only remaining 

regional growth zone identified in 

Future Wales, which may cause 

concern as the town would be 

absorbing all of the growth for 

Ceredigion in one regional growth zone 

instead of two. 

SDP approach This option would see the 

council move towards 

work on a regional 

Strategic Development 

Plan which is now 

required under the Local 

Government Act. This is a 

collaborative plan across 

the GMW region 

including Powys, 

Ceredigion and BBNPA 

The risks involved in such an approach 

include relying on an outdated LDP with 

no drop dead date, and the associated 

implications of having limited ‘locally 

proofed policies’ and thus being reliant 

on national policy for decision making. 

However it must be stated that the 

ability of the LDP to diverge from 

national policy in the rLDP is highly 

constrained, so in effect any rLDP will 

be more closely aligned with Future 

Work could commence on 

an SDP following the first 

meeting of the CJC in July 

2022 whereupon a DA will 

need to be prepared setting 

out the statutory timetable 

for SDP preparation of 

approx. 5 years therefore 

adoption of an SDP could 

be anticipated in 2027 – 

2028. Thus allowing for an 

P
age 177



Ceredigion County Council - Local Development Plan- July 2021 

34 

and will be required 

regardless of the 

approach taken above. 

However if work were to 

commence on this using 

existing resources (as 

sourcing an SDP team is 

likely to prove challenging 

given the difficulty in 

planning role recruitment 

locally) whilst an rLDP on 

pause, it would allow 

existing staff to channel 

resources into this area 

and upon adoption work 

on an LDP lite rather than 

a rLDP which will likely 

need a formal review 

upon adoption of the SDP 

anyway. 

Wales than is perhaps the wider 

expectations of the community. WG 

have been clear in their stance that an 

rLDP should be prepared alongside an 

SDP and thus shifting focus to SDP 

may not be supported at a national 

level. Finally Powys have a plan in 

place with a drop dead date of 2026 

and therefore their focus is on adopting 

an rLDP prior to this deadline so they 

are not out of plan period before any 

SDP is adopted. So there are some ‘out 

of plan sync’ issues locally. 

LDP lite to begin and be 

completed by 2029-2030. 

 

P
age 178



Ceredigion County Council – Local Development Plan- July 2021 

35 

6. Potential Technical Solutions and Policy Based 

Approaches 

6.1. Importance of identifying solutions 

Whilst Section 5 of this Paper sets out ‘avoidance options’ at a macro scale, 

there will still be an expectation that solutions are identified within the affected 

areas themselves. Further research will be undertaken by officers in regards 

potential mitigation measures, however an outline of some initial outcomes 

follows below. Consideration will be given to introducing dedicated local 

policies for the areas affected and as such will require denoting on the 

Proposals Map.  

It is important to note that the rLDP will only be part of the solution. In this 

regard, with a view to reviewing the risks facing the Council, there will be 

some matters which are outside the influence and scope of the Planning 

Service and indeed the Council itself. The scale of the issues, both in terms of 

spatial extent and cross agency responsibility, are likely to mean that a multi 

partnership approach will be required at a landscape scale – e.g., 

Memorandum of Understanding (MoU).  

In terms of limitations and to appreciate the scale of the issues facing the 

Council, reference is drawn to the position in the Brecon Beacons National 

Park. A report (ENC7Item 8) submitted to the Planning, Access and Rights of 

Way Committee on Tuesday, 26th January, 2021 summarised the issues 

faced and these would be of relevance to Ceredigion also. Of particular note 

within the Cover Report is the following extract: 

“3.1 Restricting new planning permissions will only ever have a minimal 

impact on meeting phosphate targets and bringing the designated features 

back into favourable condition; significant factors that are largely outside the 

scope of planning control can have a much greater impact. Unfortunately, the 

situation has not been arrested sooner and we are uncertain as to how long 

‘legacy phosphates’ and phosphate loading introduced by uncontrolled 

activities will mean that new permissions will need to be restricted. This may 

include certain agricultural developments that are submitted via the 'prior 

Page 179

https://governance.beacons-npa.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=135&MId=7764&Ver=4
https://governance.beacons-npa.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=135&MId=7764&Ver=4
https://governance.beacons-npa.gov.uk/documents/s46337/DCRM%20P%20Levels%20Wye%20050121.pdf


Ceredigion County Council – Local Development Plan- July 2021 

36 

notification' procedure. At the very least, it is likely that 'prior approval' will be 

required in most circumstances to allow for the relevant assessments to take 

place. Officers are considering the potential impacts on other forms of 

permitted development, including homeowners' rights to extend and make 

alterations to their property.  

3.2 It is likely that a concerted cross-sector, landscape-scale effort to improve 

environmental quality and sectoral practices alongside regulation and 

enforcement will be required to improve water quality and build the ecological 

resilience of the River Wye so that the designated features it supports are 

returned to favourable condition. We are members of the River Wye Nutrient 

Management Plan Board, its technical advisory group, and the Wye 

Catchment Partnership. Despite the best efforts of these bodies (and others) 

over the last 10 years, the issue is yet to be resolved.  

3.3 Although a very difficult task, establishing the evidence-base, modelling 

and monitoring indicators needed to demonstrate environmental and 

ecological capacity to accept the loading of new development must be a 

priority.  

3.4 The letter received from NRW and its enclosures were sent to agents on 

21 December 2020, with a commitment to meeting with them in the near 

future. Officers have also been asked if they can contact those to whom pre-

application advice has been given during the previous 6 months to alert them 

to the issue. A high-level meeting between representatives of the National 

Park Authority and MP’s took place on 8th January. A verbal update on any 

developments regarding the issue can be provided at PAROW.  

3.5 The development of landscape scale nature-based solutions to the issues 

identified within this report will be a matter for investigation within the next 

iteration of the Management Plan. This will take concerted partnership 

working with a range of stakeholders not least, NRW, DCWW and 

landowners/managers within the affected catchment. The first meeting of such 

a grouping is scheduled to take place on the 18th of January”. 

In noting that the provisions of The Water Resources (Control of Agricultural 

Pollution) (Wales) Regulations 2021 are not directly related to the LDP, it 

Page 180



Ceredigion County Council – Local Development Plan- July 2021 

37 

further frames the cross sectoral dimension to the issues being faced. 

Members are therefore asked to note that the Council, as a corporate body, 

faces challenges in policy terms in terms of reconciling its commitment to 

nature conservation and its declaration of the climate emergency with the 

requirement to recognise and support those agricultural and rural communities 

which form a key component of the social fabric of the County.  

Generally, there will be a requirement for strategic avoidance or mitigation 

solutions. Projects to convert agricultural land to open space/habitat and 

upgrading of WwTW have been evidenced as the primary success measures 

in England.  It is also worth noting that surface water run-off appears to be 

emerging as a further phosphate load consideration, arising from garden 

fertilisers and road salt for example, in relation to protected habitats. 

Reference is made to this website  

  

Page 181

http://www.nashpartnership.com/2020/12/18/phosphates-nitrates-and-the-planning-system/


Ceredigion County Council – Local Development Plan- July 2021 

38 

6.2. Technical Solutions 

Immediate Measures 

Any measures must be undertaken with full regard to the EU Court of Justice, 

2018 ruling known as the ‘Dutch Case’. The judgement ruled that development 

must cause ‘no detriment’ to water quality. The Dutch case ruling applies to all 

stages of the planning process, in a catchment where water quality has been 

identified as an issue. While mitigation is allowed under this ruling the future 

benefit of mitigation measures cannot be relied upon in an appropriate 

assessment, where those benefits are uncertain at the time of the 

assessment. The primary short-term measure that has been employed in 

English counties to address this is the phosphate calculator. The calculator is 

used by developers to calculate the phosphate burden of a development, and 

this information is submitted as part of a planning application. Development is 

only granted if phosphate neutrality is achieved or if certain and measurable 

mitigation can be secured. Fallowing of land has been the primary mitigation 

response in the southern English counties to date. Other developer responses 

have included private wastewater treatment facilities on the development site, 

and developer investment in public WwTW. These have been recognised to 

be cost ineffective and not a viable long-term solution in the South of England. 

The financial unviability is likely to be more pronounced in the affected 

catchment areas of Ceredigion due to lower house prices, smaller profit 

margins, and the need for affordable housing. 

Calculation of Phosphate Loading 

For each qualifying planning application or LDP development allocation, an 

estimate of the additional phosphate load can be made. Phosphate loads are 

estimated on a rate of phosphate produced per dwelling assuming an average 

occupancy of 2.3 people per dwelling, unless there is clear evidence that a 

higher or lower number is appropriate for the type of residential development 

proposed. The phosphate load is calculated on the basis that residential 

development will be built to the highest water efficiency standards provided for 

by the building regulations. Each local planning authority will impose a 

planning condition on all planning permissions for one or more net additional 

Page 182



Ceredigion County Council – Local Development Plan- July 2021 

39 

new dwellings requiring construction to the optimum requirement. Natural 

England and the Environment Agency have provided evidence to justify this 

imposition within England. 

Short-Interim Phosphate Mitigation Measures  

The following mitigation measures have been implemented through a 

Memorandum of Understanding (MoU) within English Counties e.g. Wiltshire 

i. Diverting Surface Water Flows and groundwater ingress away from the 

Foul Sewage Network (long term); 

ii. Addressing misconnections (short term); 

iii. Reducing flows to the Foul Sewage Network through water efficiency 

measures (immediate); 

iv. Silt Traps and small farm wetlands on agricultural land (Short term –

implemented in 1-2 years?); 

v. Taking land out of intensive agricultural (arable or grass) production 

through offsetting (Long-term); 

vi. Change land-use from intensive to Less intensive grass production i.e., 

dairy and pig farming to cattle (Short term 1-2 years); 

vii. Partnership funding for grant applications e.g., measures 4 and 8 (Short 

term) – potential for grant funding uncertain; 

viii. Diverting surface water flows and groundwater ingress away from the 

foul sewage network (Long term). 

Mid-long-term measures 

Memorandum of Understanding (MoU) – A multi-agency agreement to ensure 

that development is ‘phosphate neutral’, and therefore will not have adverse 

effects upon the integrity of the affected SAC catchment area. A MoU 

describes where the parties will work together to help develop and implement 

appropriate phosphate controls and mitigation measures. 

Nutrient Management Board/Plan – a multi-agency board to identify sources of 

nutrients that are entering the river and steps that can be taken to manage 

them. An example of this approach can be seen in Herefordshire. The aim of 

the plan is to manage nutrients in the affected SAC to enable growth in 

Ceredigion whilst conserving the river environment. The remit of the board 

Page 183



Ceredigion County Council – Local Development Plan- July 2021 

40 

would be to gather an evidence base, appraise options, and develop a local 

level action plan. 

Page 184



Ceredigion County Council – Local Development Plan- July 2021 

41 

7. Next Steps   

It is considered that the approaches can be framed within a short / medium-

term and longer-term timescale.  

7.1. Short/Medium Term 

The Collaborative Approach 

Building on the experiences in Somerset, one of the most important aspects 

and roles for the Local Authority will be to facilitate discussion between 

stakeholders. In noting that the discussions may be difficult at times and may 

consist of contrasting viewpoints, a sectoral or isolated approach is unlikely to 

prove productive. In this regard, it is recommended that a terms of reference, 

which includes membership, is established. It is envisaged that there will be a 

key role for elected representatives to lobby and raise awareness. 

The Replacement LDP 

Full Council will need to consider the implications of the options and decide 

upon preferred option.  There will also be a need to amend the Delivery 

Agreement. In the event that withdrawal is identified, consideration will need to 

be given as to whether site promoters are given an opportunity to demonstrate 

mitigation ahead of the removal of a site, or whether the site is removed by the 

Council immediately and it is a matter for the site promoter to demonstrate 

mitigation can be achieved for the Inspector at Examination. Such approaches 

are likely to be site specific solutions given that there is a lack of strategic 

mitigation available. Furthermore, due consideration will be given to providing 

a policy framework that could enable development to proceed in those 

impacted areas within the Plan period should a solution be identified pre-2033.  

The reality in terms of mitigation is that it has to be evidenced based and 

robust in terms of demonstrating neutrality.  

Development Management  

Opportunities are available to utilise some of those solutions set out in Section 

6 of this Paper. This includes the principle of a phosphate calculator and the 

trading of ‘credits and debits’. It is recommended that discussions are held 

Page 185



Ceredigion County Council – Local Development Plan- July 2021 

42 

with neighbouring authorities as to their plans and support in resource terms is 

provided to assist alongside continued work at a national level on the 

Phosphates Planning Sub Group.  

Internal review of council land owned assets should be undertaken to identify 

opportunities for mitigations – a bid has been submitted by the economy and 

regeneration team to finance such works, as yet no decision has been made 

on the funding. 

7.2. Longer Term  

Follow the Science  

Whilst there may be opportunities for mitigation on a site by site / case by case 

basis, it is clear that a high-level strategic approach to mitigation will be 

required longer term.  In order to facilitate this, regional and pan Wales 

approaches should be adopted through shared approaches and integrated 

working. 

A Nutrient Management Board as utilised in English affected areas may be 

established with responsibility for producing and monitoring a Nutrient 

Management Plan for the affected areas.  

Given the levels of expertise required, the procurement of specialist to advise 

will be sought, both in terms of identifying area specific solutions and legal 

advice to ensure that the LA is fulfilling its duty in this growing and complex 

area. As such whilst the Councils can work together to frame this work, it is 

hoped that funding can be provided by the Welsh Government.  The 

appointment of such specialist knowledge may also be sought in developing 

and implementing the short/medium term approaches. 

Page 186



Cyngor Sir Ceredigion County Council - Integrated Impact Assessment (IIA) 

An integrated tool to inform effective decision making 

1 
FINAL VERSION LDP2 / IIA004vs2 Oct 2021 

 

May 2018 

 

 
 

  1.  PROPOSAL DETAILS: (Policy/Change Objective/Budget saving)   

  Proposal Title   Local Development Plan Review and Revision 

 

Service Area 
Performance and Economy 
Services 

Corporate Lead 
Officer 

Russell Hughes-Pickering Strategic Director Barry Rees 

 

  Name of Officer completing the IIA   Sarah Groves-Phillips   E-mail   ldp@ceredigion.gov.uk   Phone no   01545572166 

 

  Please give a brief description of the purpose of the proposal   

Local Development Plan Review and Revision 
This IIA will cover the whole LDP Review and Revision but to date only relates to the LDP Review Report and Delivery Agreement and subsequent 
Phosphates Impact Statement. The other stages (listed below) are the stages when changes to the existing LDP will be realised and it is only at that 
point that how the project will change policies can be considered. 

The findings of the 3rd Annual Monitoring report of the Local Development Plan triggered plan review. 

The LDP review and revision includes the following key stages: 

 The LDP Review Report: This report sets out the extent of changes required to the LDP and the revision procedure to be followed for a replacement Local 
Development Plan. The revision of the current LDP will be informed by the findings of preceding AMRs, updates to the evidence base and ongoing 
surveys. The report must be formally approved by the LPA. 

LDP Revision 

 Delivery Agreement: This agreement requires approval from Welsh Government and sets out the timetable for producing the replacement LDP. The 
agreement also contains a community involvement scheme outlining the process by which any interested groups, individuals or developers can contribute 
to the plan. The local planning authority is then required to make the delivery agreement easily available for inspection by members of the public. 

 Preferred Strategy/Pre-deposit Strategy: A vision, strategic issues, aims and objectives, key polices, monitoring targets and indicators, broad locations for 
delivering sustainable development needs, and spatial interpretation 

 Deposit Plan: The plan will contain: Area-wide polices for development expressed generically where possible, including topic passed policies, Major 

allocations of land and specific policies and proposals for key areas of change or protection 

This Integrated Impact Assessment tool incorporates the principles of the Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 and the Sustainable Development 
Principles, the Equality Act 2010 and the Welsh Language Measure 2011 (Welsh Language Standards requirements) and Risk Management in order to inform 
effective decision making and ensuring compliance with respective legislation. 

P
age 187



Cyngor Sir Ceredigion County Council - Integrated Impact Assessment (IIA) 

An integrated tool to inform effective decision making 

2 
FINAL VERSION LDP2 / IIA004vs2 Oct 2021 

 

May 2018 

 

 Succinct reasoned justification to explain policies and to guide their implementation; and 

 Proposals map on a geographical base (with inset maps, where appropriate) 

 Integrated Sustainability Appraisal/Strategic Environmental Assessment/Habitats Regulations Assessment, Health Impact Assessment, Welsh 
Language Impact Assessment; These assessments cover the social, environmental, health, Welsh Language and economic effects of the LDP and will 
play an important part in demonstrating that the Replacement LDP is sound by ensuring that it reflects sustainable development objectives. 
The 5 main stages of conducting a Sustainability Appraisal that need to be integrated into LDP preparation are: 
Stage A – Scoping. Sets the context and objectives, establishing the baseline evidence and deciding the scope. 
Stage B – Appraisal. Developing and refining options and assessing effects. 
Stage C – Reporting. Preparing the SA Report. 
Stage D – Consulting. Consulting on the preferred option of the development plan and the findings of the SA Report. 
Stage E – Monitoring. Monitoring significant effects of implementing the development plan. 

 LDP Submission, Examination and Adoption: An independent Inspector examines the plan, including compliance with legal and regulatory procedures 
(soundness check). 

 This update relates to the proposed options around formally pausing work on the replacement LDP due to the impact of Phosphates on the Afon Teifi 
SAC and the interim advice provided by NRW which has effectively placed a moratorium on most development within the Teifi catchment for the 
foreseeable future. This is until apportionment work and mitigations can be developed to ensure developments can achieve Nutrient Neutrality or 
Betterment as determined by a test of likely significant effect (tSLE) and an Appropriate Assessment as outlined in the Habitats Regulations.  

Who will be directly affected by this proposal? (e.g. The general public, specific sections of the public such as youth groups, carers, road users, people using 
country parks, people on benefits, staff members or those who fall under the protected characteristics groups as defined by the Equality Act and for whom the 
authority must have due regard). 

All areas of the public will be directly affected by the LDP Review and Revision. 

 

VERSION CONTROL: The IIA should be used at the earliest stages of decision making, and then honed and refined throughout the decision making process. It 
is important to keep a record of this process so that we can demonstrate how we have considered and built in sustainable development, Welsh language and 
equality considerations wherever possible. 
Author Decision making stage Version number Date considered Brief description of any amendments made following 

consideration 
Cath Ranson LDP Review Report  LDP2 / IIA001 September/October 

2017 
This will demonstrate how we have considered and built in 
sustainable development principles and Well-being Goals 
throughout the evolution of a proposal.   

Cath Ranson LDP Delivery Agreement LDP2 / IIA002 September/October 
2017(draft) January 
/ February 2018 

Takes into account responses to Consultation Draft Delivery 
Agreement and Review Report 

 

P
age 188



Cyngor Sir Ceredigion County Council - Integrated Impact Assessment (IIA) 

An integrated tool to inform effective decision making 

3 
FINAL VERSION LDP2 / IIA004vs2 Oct 2021 

 

May 2018 

LDP2 / IIA003 May 2018 Revised Delivery Agreement Timeline, following intervention 
by the WG Cabinet Secretary for the Environment 

Cath Ranson Preferred Strategy/Pre 
deposit Strategy 

 LDP2 / IIA004vs2 May 2019 Preferred Strategy prepared for Council consideration, taking 
into account results of engagement with relevant organisations, 
updating of evidence papers / background papers.  
Proposes revisions to context, key issues , five revised strategic 
policies and addition of one new strategic policy. Public 
consultation proposed late June to September exceeds 6 week 
minimum. 

Sarah Groves-Phillips LDP Pause LDP2/IIA005v1 October 2021 IIA updated to reflect the Phosphates Impact Statement and 
subsequent options relating to plan preparation which include 

 Amending the strategy to exclude phosphate affected 
zones 

 Continuing with the existing strategy 

 Pausing work until greater clarity is ascertained on 
potential phosphate mitigations 

 

 Deposit Plan Public 
Consultation 

   

 Integrated Sustainability 
Appraisal/Strategic 
Environmental 
Assessment, Health 
Impact 
AssessmentHabitat 
Regulations Assessment 

   

 LDP Submission, 
Examination and Adoption 

   

  COUNCIL STRATEGIC OBJECTIVES: Which of the Council’s Strategic Objectives does the proposal address and how?   

P
age 189



Cyngor Sir Ceredigion County Council - Integrated Impact Assessment (IIA) 

An integrated tool to inform effective decision making 

4 
FINAL VERSION LDP2 / IIA004vs2 Oct 2021 

 

May 2018 

 Corporate Strategy 2017-22  The LDP contributes to and helps deliver all four of the Council’s corporate priorities: 

 Boosting the Economy; 

 Investing in people’s futures; 

 Enabling individual and family resilience; 

 Promoting environmental and community resilience.  
 
Development Plans demonstrate how places are expected to change to accommodate development needs for 
the Plan period to provide for housing, employment, commercial, cultural, social needs within the context of 
delivering sustainable development and protecting and enhancing the environment.  This is achieved through 
predicting land use development needs, directing development to the right locations and providing protection for 
important assets, including the county’s culture and environment. In working toward the replacement Plan, the 

Council works with communities, public bodies, businesses, other organisations and the public. The Preferred 
Strategy identifies the scale of growth, proposes a settlement hierarchy for distribution of growth, and seeks to 
provide for affordable housing. 
 
The Plan seeks to provide opportunities for improving individual and collective futures by improving access to 
good quality, energy efficient housing, in well located and vibrant communities, well connected to employment 
opportunities and services and facilitating improved opportunities for the use of Welsh in education, in the home, 
in the local community and the work place. It seeks to do this by identifying land to facilitate school rationalization, 
ways that good design can reduce energy demand, by improving the quality of job opportunities and by providing 
for the use of Welsh in the home, in work and in communities and improving the resilience of energy supplies by 
identifying a target for production of renewable energy. 
Evidence informing LDP decisions, including from infrastructure providers and public comments in response to 
formal consultations is tested through appraisals as the Plan is being prepared and, subsequently, through the 
LDP examination procedure. 
 

 

NOTE:  As you complete this tool you will be asked for evidence to support your views. These need to include your baseline position, measures and studies 
that have informed your thinking and the judgement you are making.  It should allow you to identify whether any changes resulting from the implementation of the 
recommendation will have a positive or negative effect. Data sources include for example: 

• Quantitative data - data that provides numerical information, e.g. population figures, number of users/non-users 
• Qualitative data – data that furnishes evidence of people’s perception/views of the service/policy, e.g. analysis of complaints, outcomes of focus groups, 

surveys 
• Local population data from the census figures (such as Ceredigion Welsh language Profile and Ceredigion Demographic Equality data) 
• National Household survey data 
• Service User data 

P
age 190



Cyngor Sir Ceredigion County Council - Integrated Impact Assessment (IIA) 

An integrated tool to inform effective decision making 

5 
FINAL VERSION LDP2 / IIA004vs2 Oct 2021 

 

May 2018 

• Feedback from consultation and engagement campaigns 
• Recommendations from Scrutiny 
• Comparisons with similar policies in other authorities 
• Academic publications, research reports, consultants’ reports, and reports on any consultation with e.g. trade unions or the voluntary and community 

sectors, ‘Is Wales Fairer’ document. 
• Welsh Language skills data for Council staff 

P
age 191



Cyngor Sir Ceredigion County Council - Integrated Impact Assessment (IIA) 

An integrated tool to inform effective decision making 

6 
FINAL VERSION LDP2 / IIA004vs2 Oct 2021 

 

May 2018 

 
2.  SUSTAINABLE DEVELOPMENT PRINCIPLES:  How has your proposal embedded and prioritised the five sustainable development principles, as outlined in 

the Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015, in its development? 
Sustainable Development Principle Does the proposal demonstrate you have 

met this principle? If yes, describe how. If 
not, explain why. 

What evidence do you have 
to support this view? 

What action (s) can you take to mitigate any 
negative impacts or better contribute to the 
principle? 

Long Term 
Balancing short term need with 
long term and planning for the 
future. 

The LDP Review Report sets out the 
changes required by the LDP and the 
revision procedure to follow. 

 

 The Delivery Agreement  is one of the 
first requirements in the replacement 
LDP procedure which is an agreement 
between Ceredigion Council and the 
Welsh Government to establish: 

 The timetable for adopting a plan 

 Co-ordination with the preparation of 
other plans and strategies/documents 

 Resource commitment 

 Community Involvement Scheme 

The 3rd Annual Monitoring 
Report of the Local 
Development Plan triggered 
Plan review in October 2016. 
 
 
 
The confirmed Delivery 
Agreement incorporated  
changes agreed by Council 
(January 2018) made in 
response to consultation 
responses received and 
feedback from Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee 
 
Following agreement by 
Council (Jan 2018) an 
appendix was attached to the 
Review Report, summarising 
consultation responses 
received and the Council’s 
Comments made thereon 
(January 2018) 
 
Annual Monitoring Reports 4 
and 5 have been undertaken 
subsequently 

The Review Report and Delivery Agreement 
are somewhat procedural in nature. 
Balancing short term need with long term 
need and planning for the future will be 
considered in the later stages (from 
preferred strategy onwards). 
 
 
Response to consultation on the 
Preferred Strategy, together with a 
proposed Council position, will be 
considered by Overview and Scrutiny, 
with feedback considered by Cabinet 
and Council. Recommendations will be 
carried forward into work on the Deposit 
Plan 

P
age 192



Cyngor Sir Ceredigion County Council - Integrated Impact Assessment (IIA) 

An integrated tool to inform effective decision making 

7 
FINAL VERSION LDP2 / IIA004vs2 Oct 2021 

 

May 2018 

 The purpose of the Replacement 
LDP is to provide for the long term 
development needs of the County 
through to March 2033.  

It further aims to provide for WG 
PPW 11 Minerals requirements 
collectively with other authorities 
(Carmarthenshire and 
Pembrokeshire County Councils and 
Pembrokeshire Coast National Park 
Authority) to provide for a minimum 
of. A minimum of 10 years for 
crushed rock and 7 years for land 
won sand and gravel should 
therefore be maintained during the 
entire plan period (i.e. to provide to 
2043 and 2040 respectively)  

The Preferred Strategy proposes 
development to meet identified 
strategic needs, with further more 
detailed work in preparation of the 
Deposit Plan providing detailed 
allocations and evidence  

 

In relation to the Phosphates in the 
Afon Teifi SAC amending the 
councils approach re a 6 town 
strategy to not deliver growth in the 
Teifi Valley would solve a short term 
problem but would not resolve long 
term issues about where the county 
should grow. Thus in considering the 
overall needs of the county it is 
advised an LDP pause is adopted so 
the replacement LDP can effectively 
plan for sustainable growth across all 
the urban centres of Ceredigion 

Preferred Strategy: 
Background papers and 
topic papers set out the 
evidence for the scale of 
Growth needed and the 
proposed settlement 
strategy, accounting for its 
distribution. 

 The Sustainability 
Appraisal/ Strategic 
Environmental 
Assessment Scoping 
Report (SA/SEA); 

 The Habitats Regulation 
Assessment Screening 
Report (HRA); 

 The Welsh Language 
Impact Assessment 
(WLIA); 

 The Health Impact 
Assessment (HIA); 

 
 

 A phosphates position 
paper has been 
developed 

Updated assessments, as necessary, will 
be included for the Deposit Plan, for the 
Plan submission to Welsh Government for 
Examination and for the Pan proposed for 
adoption as follows 

 The Sustainability Appraisal/ Strategic 
Environmental Assessment Scoping 
Report (SA/SEA); Screening Reports; 

 The Habitats Regulation Assessment 
Scoping Report (HRA); 

 The Welsh Language Impact 
Assessment (WLIA); 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 Members of the policy team are driving 
the agenda through the Phosphates 
working group, collaboration with 
neighbouring authorities and the 
council is leading on setting up a 
nutrient management board for the 
Afon Teifi 

P
age 193



Cyngor Sir Ceredigion County Council - Integrated Impact Assessment (IIA) 

An integrated tool to inform effective decision making 

8 
FINAL VERSION LDP2 / IIA004vs2 Oct 2021 

 

May 2018 

 

Collaboration 
Working together with other 
partners to deliver. 

The LDP Process and LDP production is 
based on early and effective community 
involvement (which is outlined in detail in 
the Delivery Agreement). The Community 
Involvement Scheme enables the process 
to consider a wide range of views, with the 
aim of building a broad consensus on the 
strategy and policies for the LDP. 

 

The Delivery Agreement enables a fast and 
responsive approach to plan-making, with 
published timetables for preparation and 
regular strategic monitoring and review to 
enable plans to better reflect changing 
circumstances. 

  

Work on aspects of evidence has been 
and continues to be undertaken by 
authorities across South west and Mid 
Wales, as part of the Growing Mid Wales 
Partnership and as part of the South 
Wales Regional Aggregates Working 
Party.  (Review in progress of RTS 1).  
An all wales Phosphates working group 
has been established and collaboration is 
ongoing with neighbouring authorities on 
the Teifi. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Meeting notes and staged 
delivery. Completed Evidence 
Papers 

For the Deposit Plan a number of key figures 
will be incorporated into the Deposit Plan, 
following the completion of evidence, including 
on Affordable Housing Viability, Cross border 
Housing Market Assessment, Gypsy Traveller 
Accommodation Needs Assessment, Minerals 
(South Wales Regional Aggregates Working 
Party - review of the Regional Technical 
statement 1st Review (in progress) and 
Renewable Energy Assessment. 

P
age 194



Cyngor Sir Ceredigion County Council - Integrated Impact Assessment (IIA) 

An integrated tool to inform effective decision making 

9 
FINAL VERSION LDP2 / IIA004vs2 Oct 2021 

 

May 2018 

Involvement 
Involving those with an interest 
and seeking their views. 

Regulation 14 of the Town and Country 
Planning (LDP) Wales Regulations (2005) 
requires the Council to work with various 
bodies in the preparation of the LDP and to 
consult with the general public. The details 
of involvement are set out in the Delivery 
Agreement between the Council and Welsh 
Government. 

 

The Delivery Agreement  helps to ensure 
that the Council complies with key principles 
for community involvement throughout the 
Revision Process and that such activity is 
carried out in line with the Council’s 
Community Engagement Policy (approved 
by Council 13/12/2012) and Public 
Engagement Toolkit (approved by Cabinet 
01/07/2014). The Community Engagement 
Policy’s objectives are: 

 To ensure that throughout the Council 

there is a clear understanding of and 

commitment to engaging with 

communities about decisions that affect 

their lives. 

 To establish a co-ordinated and 
consistent approach to community 
engagement in Ceredigion in 
accordance with the ‘National 
Principles for Public Engagement in 
Wales’. 

 To ensure that community engagement 
is inclusive by giving every citizen of the 
county the opportunity to express their 
views, particularly people and groups 
which may be harder to reach and that 
those views will be listened to and 
respected. 

Involvement will be 
undertaken in accordance 
with the Regulations. 

 

P
age 195



Cyngor Sir Ceredigion County Council - Integrated Impact Assessment (IIA) 

An integrated tool to inform effective decision making 

10 
FINAL VERSION LDP2 / IIA004vs2 Oct 2021 

 

May 2018 

  To keep our communities informed of 
the outcomes of engagement. 

 To evaluate the effectiveness of 
community engagement activities and 
seek continuous improvement. 

  

 Drawing on the Delivery Agreement 
Community Involvement Scheme, 
preparation of the Preferred Strategy has 
been undertaken with involvement of 
relevant organisations, including 

 Formal public consultation on the Call 
for Candidate Sites; 

 Key Stakeholder meetings including 
with PSB and PSB exec groups / 
Project Groups; Strategic Housing 
Partnership and Social Housing Grant 
meetings; 

 SA/SEA stakeholder meetings 

 Meetings with Senior Welsh 
Government officers to discuss options 
and rural issues  

 Meeting with Dwr Cymru / Welsh Water 
re infrastructure issues;  

 Meetings with Growing Mid Wales 
Partnership;  

 Internal meetings with officers from a 
range of depts. Including Estates, 
Economy, Development Management, 
Flooding, Highways etc. 

 Elected Member meetings including LDP 
Member Working Group meetings, Area 
Member meetings, All Member 
workshops, policy specific pre-committee 
briefings and numerous one to one 
meetings on specific local concerns; 

Meeting notes. Formal consultation to be undertaken in 
accordance with the regulations; 
recognising poor response to the Call for 
Candidate Sites, this will be reopened for 
further submissions alongside the consultation 
on the preferred Strategy and will include 
requests to those submitting inadequate 
information to rectify this. 
 
Comments received in response to the 
Preferred Strategy Consultation will be 
considered by the Council to enable the 
Authority to consider revision to the Strategy 
and to consider any additional work 
requirements for preparation of the Deposit 
Plan. 
The Deposit Plan will also be subject to the 
staged updating of Assessments as identified 
previously.  
 
The LDP team are working closely with NRW, 
DCWW, WG, neighbouring authorities and are 
advising the public through web based 
communication as and when new updates are 
available to the NRW interim advice on 
phosphates 

P
age 196



Cyngor Sir Ceredigion County Council - Integrated Impact Assessment (IIA) 

An integrated tool to inform effective decision making 

11 
FINAL VERSION LDP2 / IIA004vs2 Oct 2021 

 

May 2018 

 
Prevention 
Putting resources into 
preventing problems 
occurring or getting 
worse. 

A key principle of the Plan led system is to direct the 
right scale and type of development to the most 
appropriate locations within Ceredigion, consistent with 
principles of sustainability and explicit sustainability 
objectives and in so doing to provide certainty and 
confidence and to avoid inappropriate development. 

  

In identifying a proposed settlement hierarchy for the 
Preferred Strategy identifies settlements proposed for 
growth, with those not explicitly identified eligible only 
for minor developments in compliance with PPW 10 
(WG policy). 
 

Self explanatory in the 
Preferred Strategy, supported 
by background papers 

The Deposit Plan will provide the opportunity for 
further detail on those areas where development 
isn’t encouraged. 

In relation to Phosphates the Policy team are directing 
existing staff resources to support ongoing work, on 
mitigations, apportionment, seeking external sources 
of funding where appropriate and assisting the ecology 
service in undertaking tSLE and Appropriate 
Assessments 
 

Meeting notes and 
phosphates related ongoing 
work outputs 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Phosphates mitigations work both local and 
nationally is ongoing and the policy and ecology 
team are contributing to the discussion and 
works as requested. 

P
age 197



Cyngor Sir Ceredigion County Council - Integrated Impact Assessment (IIA) 

An integrated tool to inform effective decision making 

12 
FINAL VERSION LDP2 / IIA004vs2 Oct 2021 

 

May 2018 

Integration 
Positively impacting on 
people, economy, 
environment and culture  

The LDP Review and Revision will positively impact on 
people, economy, environment and culture and 
endeavour to benefit all three. The project will do this by: 

 Facilitating Sustainable Development by preparing 
and monitoring the LDP through a process that 
integrates Sustainability Appraisal, (incorporating 
Strategic Environmental Assessment requirements), 
with plan making. 

 Basing the Replacement LDP production on early 
and effective community involvement, to consider a 
wide range of views, with the aim of building a broad 
consensus on the strategy and policies. 

 Ensuring policy integration by producing a 
Replacement LDP that is internally consistent and 
integrated with other main policies and strategies at 
national, regional and local level (without 
unnecessary repetition). 

 

  

P
age 198



Cyngor Sir Ceredigion County Council - Integrated Impact Assessment (IIA) 

An integrated tool to inform effective decision making 

13 
FINAL VERSION LDP2 / IIA004vs2 Oct 2021 

 

May 2018 

 

  Delivering a fast and responsive 
approach to plan-making, with 
published timetables for preparation, 
fewer iterations of the plan before 
adoption, and regular strategic 
monitoring and review to enable plans 
to better reflect the changing 
circumstances in contemporary Wales. 

 Delivering a Revised LDP that is 
strategic, concise and distinctive in 
setting out how Ceredigion will 
develop and change, based on a 
robust understanding of relationships 
between places, including across 
administrative boundaries, and drivers 
for change. 

 Delivery of sustainable development, 
taking account of infrastructure 
requirements, availability of resources, 
viability and market factors. 

  

P
age 199



Cyngor Sir Ceredigion County Council - Integrated Impact Assessment (IIA) 

An integrated tool to inform effective decision making 

14 
FINAL VERSION LDP2 / IIA004vs2 Oct 2021 

 

May 2018 

The Preferred Strategy identifies those 
National, regional and local plans and 
policies that have informed it’s preparation.  

see proposed Preferred 
Strategy chapter 2 

Emerging national policy (Welsh Government 
National Development Framework) (Welsh 
Government proposed review of PPW 10 
2020) and regional / Area plans (Natural 
Resources Wales Mid Wales and Marine Area 
Statements and the SWRAWP Regional 
Technical Statement 2nd Review) will help 
improve integration as the Plan progresses 
through Deposit and Submission. 
Soundness of the Plan, as submitted, will need 
to take account of relevant updated legislation, 
strategies and Plans. 
Updated assessments, as necessary, will be 
included for the Deposit Plan, for the Plan 
submission to Welsh Government for 
Examination and for the Pan proposed for 
adoption as follows 

 The Sustainability Appraisal/ Strategic 
Environmental Assessment Scoping 
Report (SA/SEA); 

 The Habitats Regulation Assessment 
Scoping Report (HRA); 

 The Welsh Language Impact Assessment 
(WLIA); 

 

P
age 200



Cyngor Sir Ceredigion County Council - Integrated Impact Assessment (IIA) 

An integrated tool to inform effective decision making 

15 
FINAL VERSION LDP2 / IIA004vs2 Oct 2021 

 

May 2018 

 

 
3.  WELL-BEING GOALS:  Does your proposal deliver any of the seven National Well-being Goals for Wales as outlined on the Well-being of Future 
Generations (Wales) Act 2015? Please explain the impact (positive and negative) you expect, together with suggestions of how to mitigate negative impacts or 
better contribute to the goal. We need to ensure that the steps we take to meet one of the goals aren’t detrimental to meeting another. 
Well-being Goal Does the proposal contribute to 

this goal? Describe the positive 
or negative impacts. 

What evidence do you have to support 
this view? 

What action (s) can you take to 
mitigate any negative impacts or 
better contribute to the goal? 

Generality  
Yes, intrinsic to plan preparation 

The Preferred Strategy has been subject 
to: 

 an integrated Sustainability Appraisal 
(SA), incorporating Strategic 
Environmental Assessment (SEA); 

 a Habitats Regulations Appraisal 
Screening Report (HRA); 

 a Health Impact Assessment (HIA) 
Report; and  

 an Integrated Impact Assessment 
(IIA) 

Through rigorous assessment and 
appraisal these documents seek to 
demonstrate the extent to which the 
Council has sought to deliver on the 
seven goals of the Wellbeing Act.  
 
This is complemented by an evidence 
paper that sets out the relationship 
between these Goals and the objectives 
of the Plan1.   
All these appraisals / assessments have 
sought to deploy the Act’s five ways of 

working. 

These assessments are iterative such 
that at each stage the Plan should 
improve on delivery of the Wellbeing 
goals. 
Assessments will be updated at each 
formal stage of Plan preparation, 
taking into account any negative 
responses to consultation on the 
Preferred Strategy and building in any 
newly identified Policy 

3.1. A prosperous Wales 
Efficient use of resources, skilled, 
educated people, generates wealth, 
provides jobs. 

N/A at LDP Review Report and 
Delivery Agreement stage. 
Impacts of the project will be 
realised from Preferred Strategy 
stage onwards. 

  

                                                           
1  

P
age 201



Cyngor Sir Ceredigion County Council - Integrated Impact Assessment (IIA) 

An integrated tool to inform effective decision making 

16 
FINAL VERSION LDP2 / IIA004vs2 Oct 2021 

 

May 2018 

 The Preferred Strategy 
proposes the strategic 
approach to delivering the right 
development to the right 
locations / places to support 
economic growth and housing 
delivery. 
Compliance with PPW 10 
means that housing and 
economic growth may not be 
appropriate in all locations. 

as General row above  Assessments will be updated at each formal 
stage of Plan preparation, taking into 
account any negative responses to 
consultation on the Preferred Strategy and 
building in any newly identified Policy 

3.2. A resilient Wales 
Maintain and enhance biodiversity and 
ecosystems that support resilience 
and can adapt to change (e.g. climate 
change). 

N/A at LDP Review Report and 
Delivery Agreement stage. 
Impacts of the project will be 
realised from Preferred Strategy 
stage onwards. 

  

 The Preferred Strategy 
identifies the mechanisms to 
ensure that environmental 
resilience is delivered and 
climate change is taken into 
account in proposals going 
forwards. 

as General row above 
Soundness of the Plan requires consistency 
with the requirements of section 6 of the 
Environment (Wales) Act 2016 

Assessments will be updated at each 
formal stage of Plan preparation, taking 
into account any negative responses to 
consultation on the Preferred Strategy 
and building in any newly identified 
Policy  

 In relation to Phosphates in 
light of the interim guidance 
from NRW it is vital to meet 
our statutory duties that 
development in the Teifi SAC 
catchment achieves nutrient 
neutrality or betterment 
therefore development is 
subject to tSLE and 
Appropriate Assessment 
where required 

Ongoing phosphates work Assessments are ongoing and work on 
identifying long term solutions and 
mitigations is active 

P
age 202



Cyngor Sir Ceredigion County Council - Integrated Impact Assessment (IIA) 

An integrated tool to inform effective decision making 

17 
FINAL VERSION LDP2 / IIA004vs2 Oct 2021 

 

May 2018 

3.3. A healthier Wales 
People’s physical and mental 
wellbeing is maximised and health 
impacts are understood. 

N/A at LDP Review Report and 
Delivery Agreement stage. 
Impacts of the project will be 
realised from Preferred Strategy 
stage onwards. 

  

 The Preferred Strategy 
proposes growth compatible 
with travel by public Transport  
and active travel routes 

 as General row above Assessments will be updated at each 
formal stage of Plan preparation, taking 
into account any negative responses to 
consultation on the Preferred Strategy 
and building in any newly identified 
Policy 

3.4. A Wales of cohesive 
communities 
Communities are attractive, viable, 
safe and well connected. 

N/A at LDP Review Report and 
Delivery Agreement stage. 
Impacts of the project will be 
realised from Preferred Strategy 
stage onwards. 

  

Placemaking is a central 
principle of Planning Policy 
Wales, reflected in the thrust of 
the Preferred Strategy  

as General row above  as above 
Further detail is proposed to be included 
in the Deposit Plan; 
Assessments will be updated at each 
formal stage of Plan preparation, taking 
into account any negative responses to 
consultation on the Preferred Strategy 
and building in any newly identified 
Policy 
There will be the opportunity for 
emerging Community place plans to be 
adopted as supplementary planning 
guidance to the replacement LDP on or 
following adoption, provided that they 
are consistent with LDP policy 

P
age 203



Cyngor Sir Ceredigion County Council - Integrated Impact Assessment (IIA) 

An integrated tool to inform effective decision making 

18 
FINAL VERSION LDP2 / IIA004vs2 Oct 2021 

 

May 2018 

3.5. A globally responsible Wales 
Taking account of impact on global 
well-being when considering local 
social, economic and environmental 
well-being. 

N/A at LDP Review Report and 
Delivery Agreement stage. 
Impacts of the project will be 
realised from Preferred Strategy 
stage onwards. 

  

The Preferred Strategy sets 
out the vision for the LDP ‘By 

2033, Ceredigion will be a 
county of vibrant, bilingual 
and engaged communities, 
where people choose to live, 
study, work and visit, 
committed to the resilience 
of its economy, culture, 
heritage, environment and 
natural resources and to 

health and wellbeing.’  

 As General row above  as above 
Further detail is proposed to be 
included in the Deposit Plan; 
Preparation of details in the Deposit 
Plan will assist in the improvement of 
sustainable development and 
responses to climate change. 
 
Assessments will be updated at each 
formal stage of Plan preparation, 
taking into account any negative 
responses to consultation on the 
Preferred Strategy and building in any 
newly identified Policy 
The Deposit Plan will draw on 
emerging WG NDF proposals and 
NRW proposals for Area Statements   

P
age 204



Cyngor Sir Ceredigion County Council - Integrated Impact Assessment (IIA) 

An integrated tool to inform effective decision making 

19 
FINAL VERSION LDP2 / IIA004vs2 Oct 2021 

 

May 2018 

 

3.6. A more equal Wales 
People can fulfil their potential no matter what their 
background or circumstances. 

 

In this section you need to consider the impact on 
equality groups, the evidence and any action you 
are taking for improvement. 
You need to consider how might the proposal impact 
on equality protected groups in accordance with the 
Equality Act 2010? 
These include the protected characteristics of age, 
disability, gender reassignment, marriage or civil 
partnership, pregnancy or maternity, race, religion or 
beliefs, gender, sexual orientation. 
Please also consider the following guide:: 
Equality Human Rights - Assessing Impact & 
Equality Duty 

Describe why it will have a 
positive/negative or negligible 
impact. 

 

Using your evidence consider the 
impact for each of the protected 
groups.  You will need to consider 
do these groups have equal 
access to the service, or do they 
need to receive the service in a 
different way from other people 
because of their protected 
characteristics.  It is not 
acceptable to state simply that a 
proposal will universally 
benefit/disadvantage everyone. 
You should demonstrate that you 
have considered all the available 
evidence and address any gaps 
or disparities revealed. 

What evidence do you have to 
support this view? 

 

 

Gathering Equality data and 
evidence is vital for an IIA. You 
should consider who uses or is 
likely to use the service.  Failure 
to use data or engage where 
change is planned can leave 
decisions open to legal challenge. 
Please link to involvement box 
within this template. Please also 
consider the general guidance. 

What action (s) can you take to 
mitigate any negative impacts or 
better contribute to positive 
impacts? 

 

These actions can include a 
range of positive actions which 
allows the organisation to treat 
individuals according to their 
needs, even when that might 
mean treating some more 
favourably than others, in order 
for them to have a good outcome. 
You may also have actions to 
identify any gaps in data or an 
action to engage with those who 
will/likely to be effected by the 
proposal.  These actions need to 
link to Section 4 of this template. 

Age 
Do you think this proposal will have a positive or a 
negative impact on people because of their age? 
(Please tick ) 

N/A at LDP Review Report and 
Delivery Agreement stage. 
Impacts of the project will be 
realised from Preferred Strategy 
stage onwards. 

  

Children and 
Young People 
up to 18 

Positive Negative None/ 
Negligible 

Yes   
People 18-50 Positive Negative None/ 

Negligible 

Yes   

Older People 
50+ 

Positive Negative None/ 
Negligible 

Yes   

 

 

 

P
age 205

https://www.equalityhumanrights.com/sites/default/files/assessing_impact_and_the_equality_duty_wales_0.pdf
https://www.equalityhumanrights.com/sites/default/files/assessing_impact_and_the_equality_duty_wales_0.pdf


Cyngor Sir Ceredigion County Council - Integrated Impact Assessment (IIA) 

An integrated tool to inform effective decision making 

20 
FINAL VERSION LDP2 / IIA004vs2 Oct 2021 

 

May 2018 

Disability 
Do you think this proposal will have a positive or a 

N/A at LDP Review Report and 
Delivery Agreement stage. 

  

 

negative impact on people because of their 
disability? (Please tick ) 

Impacts of the project will be 
realised from Preferred Strategy 
stage onwards. 

  

Hearing 
Impartment 

Positive Negative None/ 
Negligible 

  Yes 

Physical 
Impairment 

Positive Negative None/ 
Negligible 

yes   

Visual 
Impairment 

Positive Negative None/ 
Negligible 

Preferred Strategy Settlement 
Strategy proposes improved 
access to services  

Lifetime Homes Standard 
This is a requirement of the 
current Plan which is intended to 
be continued into the Deposit 
Plan for LDP2.   
Proposals for housing to be 
delivered in more sustainable 
locations, on Public Transport / 
Active Travel Route, thereby 
providing improved access to 
services for all sectors of the 
community. 

To ensure that the Lifetime 
Homes standard is detailed and 
that allocations are made in 
accordance with the proposed 
Preferred Strategy 

Yes   

Learning 
Disability 

Positive Negative None/ 
Negligible 

Yes   

Long Standing 
Illness 

Positive Negative None/ 
Negligible 

Yes   

Mental Health Positive Negative None/ 
Negligible 

Yes   

Other Positive Negative None/ 
Negligible 

   

 

Transgender 
Do you think this proposal will have a positive or a 
negative impact on transgender people? (Please tick 
) 

N/A at LDP Review Report and 
Delivery Agreement stage. 
Impacts of the project will be 
realised from Preferred Strategy 
stage onwards. 

  

Transgender Positive Negative None/ 
Negligible 

  Yes 
 

P
age 206



Cyngor Sir Ceredigion County Council - Integrated Impact Assessment (IIA) 

An integrated tool to inform effective decision making 

21 
FINAL VERSION LDP2 / IIA004vs2 Oct 2021 

 

May 2018 

Marriage or Civil Partnership 
Do you think this proposal will have a positive or a 
negative impact on marriage or Civil partnership? 

N/A at LDP Review Report and 
Delivery Agreement stage. 
Impacts of the project will be 

  

 

(Please tick ) realised from Preferred Strategy 
stage onwards. 
 
Preferred Strategy: impacts 
identified 

  
Marriage Positive Negative None/ 

Negligible 

  Yes 

Civil 
partnership 

Positive Negative None/ 
Negligible 

  Yes 

Pregnancy or Maternity 
Do you think this proposal will have a positive or a 
negative impact on pregnancy or maternity? (Please 
tick ) 

N/A at LDP Review Report and 
Delivery Agreement stage. 
Impacts of the project will be 
realised from Preferred Strategy 
stage onwards. 

  

Pregnancy Positive Negative None/ 
Negligible 

   Yes 

Maternity Positive Negative None/ 
Negligible 

  Yes 

Race 
Do you think this proposal will have a positive or a 
negative impact on race? (Please tick ) 

N/A at LDP Review Report and 
Delivery Agreement stage. 
Impacts of the project will be 
realised from Preferred Strategy 
stage onwards. 

  

White Positive Negative None/ 
Negligible 

  Yes 

Mixed/Multiple 
Ethnic Groups 

Positive Negative None/ 
Negligible 

  Yes 

Asian / Asian 
British 

Positive Negative None/ 
Negligible 

  Yes 

Black / African / 
Caribbean / 
Black British 

Positive Negative None/ 
Negligible 

  Yes 

P
age 207



Cyngor Sir Ceredigion County Council - Integrated Impact Assessment (IIA) 

An integrated tool to inform effective decision making 

22 
FINAL VERSION LDP2 / IIA004vs2 Oct 2021 

 

May 2018 

 

Other Ethnic 
Groups 

Positive Negative None/ 
Negligible 

   

   

 

Religion or non-beliefs 
Do you think this proposal will have a positive or a 
negative impact on people with different religions, 
beliefs or non-beliefs? (Please tick ) 

N/A at LDP Review Report and 
Delivery Agreement stage. 
Impacts of the project will be 
realised from Preferred Strategy 
stage onwards. 

  

Christian Positive Negative None/ 
Negligible 

  Yes 

Buddhist Positive Negative None/ 
Negligible 

  Yes 

Hindu Positive Negative None/ 
Negligible 

  Yes 

Humanist Positive Negative None/ 
Negligible 

  Yes 

Jewish Positive Negative None/ 
Negligible 

  Yes 
Muslim Positive Negative None/ 

Negligible 

  Yes 

Sikh Positive Negative None/ 
Negligible 

  Yes 

Non-belief Positive Negative None/ 
Negligible 

  Yes 

Other Positive Negative None/ 
Negligible 

  Yes 

P
age 208



Cyngor Sir Ceredigion County Council - Integrated Impact Assessment (IIA) 

An integrated tool to inform effective decision making 

23 
FINAL VERSION LDP2 / IIA004vs2 Oct 2021 

 

May 2018 

 
Sex 
Do you think this proposal will have a positive or a 
negative impact on men and/or women? (Please tick 
) 

N/A at LDP Review Report and 
Delivery Agreement stage. 
Impacts of the project will be 
realised from Preferred Strategy 
stage onwards. 
 
 

  

Men Positive Negative None/ 
Negligible 

  Yes 

Women Positive Negative None/ 
Negligible 

  Yes 
Sexual Orientation 
Do you think this proposal will have a positive or a 
negative impact on people with different sexual 
orientation? (Please tick ) 

N/A at LDP Review Report and 
Delivery Agreement Stage. 
Impacts of the project will be 
realised from Preferred Strategy 
stage onwards. 

  

Bisexual Positive Negative None/ 
Negligible 

   Yes 

Gay Men Positive Negative None/ 
Negligible 

  Yes 

Gay Women / 
Lesbian 

Positive Negative None/ 
Negligible 

  Yes 

Heterosexual / 
Straight 

Positive Negative None/ 
Negligible 

  Yes 

 

Having due regards in relation to the three aims of the Equality Duty - determine whether the proposal will assist or inhibit your ability to eliminate 
discrimination; advance equality and foster good relations. 
3.6.2. How could/does the proposal help advance/promote equality of opportunity? 
You should consider whether the proposal will help you to: Remove or minimise disadvantage To meet the needs of people with certain characteristics 
 Encourage increased participation of people with particular characteristics 

The details of the project can be assessed from the preferred strategy stage which is the stage at which a vision, strategic issues, aims and objectives, key 
polices, monitoring targets and indicators, broad locations for delivering sustainable development needs, and spatial interpretation are determined. 

P
age 209



Cyngor Sir Ceredigion County Council - Integrated Impact Assessment (IIA) 

An integrated tool to inform effective decision making 

24 
FINAL VERSION LDP2 / IIA004vs2 Oct 2021 

 

May 2018 

The Preferred Strategy has been subject to: 
 an integrated Sustainability Appraisal (SA), incorporating Strategic Environmental Assessment (SEA); 
 a Habitats Regulations Appraisal Screening Report (HRA); 
 a Health Impact Assessment (HIA) Report; and  
 an Integrated  Impact Assessment (IIA) 

Through rigorous assessment and appraisal these documents seek to demonstrate the extent to which the Council has sought to deliver on the seven 
goals of the Wellbeing Act; this is complemented by an evidence paper that sets out the relationship between these Goals and the objectives of the Plan2.   
All these appraisals / assessments have sought to deploy the Act’s five ways of working. 
Assessments will be updated at each formal stage of Plan preparation, taking into account any negative responses to consultation on the Preferred 
Strategy and building in any newly identified Policy 
Undertaking an LDP pause to allow for mitigations and solutions to the Phosphates issue on the river Teifi will ensure that the replacement plan does not 
only direct development to select unaffected areas of Ceredigion but rather maintains the councils 6 town approach and provides equal opportunity for 
development in sustainable locations countywide. Preparing a plan which identifies ‘no development zones’ in 3 of the 6 main towns would disadvantage a 
significant proportion of the population of the county in terms of realising housing options, starting businesses, providing for Welsh Language opportunities 
etc. By pausing the LDP until mitigations can be developed it is hoped that when replacement plan preparation is restarted development will be able to be 
directed to all 6 sustainable locations across Ceredigion. 

 

3.6.3. How could/does the proposal/decision help to eliminate unlawful discrimination, harassment, or victimisation? 
You should consider whether there is evidence to indicate that: The proposal may result in less favourable treatment for people with certain characteristics  
The proposal may give rise to indirect discrimination The proposal is more likely to assist or imped you in making reasonable adjustments 

The project will aim to eliminate discrimination by being prepared in accordance with the principles of sustainable development. Impacts of the project will be 
realised from preferred strategy stage onwards. 

The Preferred Strategy has been written to deliver sustainable development that meets the requirements of all sectors of the community  

3.6.4. How could/does the proposal impact on advancing/promoting good relations and wider community cohesion? 
You should consider whether the proposal with help you to: Tackle prejudice  Promote understanding 

Impacts of the project will be realised from preferred strategy stage onwards. 

 
The LDP is founded on Welsh Government’s Planning Policy Wales, on its central principles of placemaking, Growing our economy in a sustainable manner, 
Creating and sustaining communities; making best use of resources, facilitating accessible and healthy environments and maximizing environmental protection and 
limiting environmental impact.  It is considered that these key principles underpin wider community cohesion.  

                                                           
2 Topic Paper:  Local Development Plan and Well-being and the soundness of the Plan 

P
age 210



Cyngor Sir Ceredigion County Council - Integrated Impact Assessment (IIA) 

An integrated tool to inform effective decision making 

25 
FINAL VERSION LDP2 / IIA004vs2 Oct 2021 

 

May 2018 

 
3.7. A Wales of vibrant culture and thriving Welsh language 
Culture, heritage and Welsh Language are promoted and 
protected. 
In this section you need to consider the impact, the evidence 
and any action you are taking for improvement. This in order to 
ensure that the opportunities for people who choose to live their 
lives and access services through the medium of Welsh are not 
inferior to what is afforded to those choosing to do so in English, 
in accordance with the requirement of the Welsh Language 
Measure 2011. 

Describe why it will have a 
positive/negative or 
negligible impact. 

What evidence do you have 
to support this view? 

What action (s) can you take to 
mitigate any negative impacts 
or better contribute to positive 
impacts? 

Will the proposal be 
delivered bilingually (Welsh 
& English)? 

Positive Negative None/ 
Negligible 

The project will be delivered 
bilingually in accordance 
with the Council’s legal 
obligations under the 
statutory requirements of 
the Welsh Language 
Standards. 
 

Procedures set out in the Delivery 
Agreement / Community 
Involvement Scheme (June 2018) 

 

   

Will the proposal have an 
effect on opportunities for 
persons to use the Welsh 
language? 

Positive Negative None/ 
Negligible 

N/A at LDP Review Report 
& Delivery Agreement 
stage. 
Impacts of the project will 
be realised from Preferred 
Strategy stage onwards. 

  

   

P
age 211



Cyngor Sir Ceredigion County Council - Integrated Impact Assessment (IIA) 

An integrated tool to inform effective decision making 

26 
FINAL VERSION LDP2 / IIA004vs2 Oct 2021 

 

May 2018 



 
  The Preferred Strategy proposes 

that the entire county is 
classified as linguistically 
sensitive for the assessment as 
to the potential for 
Development proposals to 
impact on the Welsh language. 

Preferred Strategy proposed 
policy SP06 
 
The Plan facilitates land being 
brought forward to deliver 
Schools rationalisation 
programme 

Detailed policies to be defined 
during preparation of the Deposit 
Plan 
Language Impact assessments to be 
undertaken to inform decision on  
proposed allocations for inclusion 
within the Deposit Plan  
Assessments will be updated at each 
formal stage of Plan preparation, 
taking into account any negative 
responses to consultation on the 
Preferred Strategy and building in 
any newly identified Policy 

Will the proposal increase 
or reduce the opportunity 
for persons to access 
services through the 
medium of Welsh? 

Positive Negative None/ 
Negligible 

The project will be delivered 
bilingually in accordance 
with the Council’s legal 
obligation under the 
statutory requirements of 
the Welsh Language 
Standards. 

  

   

How will the proposal treat 
the Welsh language no less 
favourably than the English 
language? 

Positive Negative None/ 
Negligible 

The project will: 

 be delivered bilingually in 
accordance with the 
Council’s legal obligation 
under the statutory 
requirements of the 
Welsh Language 
Standards; 

 At later stages will 
consider the impact of 
proposed development 
on Language sensitive 
areas. 

  

   

P
age 212



Cyngor Sir Ceredigion County Council - Integrated Impact Assessment (IIA) 

An integrated tool to inform effective decision making 

27 
FINAL VERSION LDP2 / IIA004vs2 Oct 2021 

 

May 2018 

 Detailed Language impacts 
to be assessed as work in 
preparation for the Deposit 
Plan 

 Welsh Language Topic Paper and 
Welsh Language Impact 
Assessment 
 

Plan and supporting evidence base 
to be published bilingually 

 

Will it preserve promote 
and enhance local culture 
and heritage? 

Positive Negative None/ 
Negligible 

N/A at LDP Review Report 
and Delivery Agreement 
stage. 

Impacts of the project will 
be realised from Preferred 
Strategy stage onwards. 

  

P
age 213



Cyngor Sir Ceredigion County Council - Integrated Impact Assessment (IIA) 

An integrated tool to inform effective decision making 

28 
FINAL VERSION LDP2 / IIA004vs2 Oct 2021 

 

May 2018 

 

4.  STRENGTHENING THE PROPOSAL:  If the proposal is likely to have a negative impact on any of the above (including any of the protected characteristics), 

what practical changes/actions could help reduce or remove any negative impacts as identified in sections 2 and 3? 
 

  4.1 Actions.    

What are you going to do? When are you going to do it? Who is responsible? Progress  

Impacts of the project will be realised from Preferred 
Strategy stage onwards. 

    

No negative impacts are considered to arise from 
the proposed Preferred Strategy. Some 
requirements for further information are identified 
through assessments  to ensure that decisions are 
fully informed and to identify potential negative 
assessments moving forwards  

In response to consultation  and in 
preparing the Deposit Plan: Autumn / 
Winter 2019 

Planning Policy manager 
Senior Ecologist 

 Assessments undertaken on the preferred 
Strategy 

 

     
  
  
4.2. If no action is to be taken to remove or mitigate negative impacts please justify why. 
(Please remember that if you have identified unlawful discrimination, immediate and potential, as a result of this proposal, the proposal must be changed or 
revised). 

 

Impacts of the project will be realised from preferred strategy stage onwards.  

No negative / discriminatory  impacts are considered to arise from the proposed Preferred Strategy  

4.3. Monitoring, evaluating and reviewing. 
How will you monitor the impact and effectiveness of the proposal? 

 

The 2004 Act requires authorities to keep under review matters that may affect the planning and development of their areas. Following the review and revision of 
the LDP the replacement LDP will include a monitoring framework, to be prepared as part of the Deposit Plan. 

 

 

  5.  RISK: What is the risk associated with this proposal?   

P
age 214



Cyngor Sir Ceredigion County Council - Integrated Impact Assessment (IIA) 

An integrated tool to inform effective decision making 

29 
FINAL VERSION LDP2 / IIA004vs2 Oct 2021 

 

May 2018 

Impact Criteria 1 - Very low 2 - Low 3 - Medium 4 - High 5 - Very High 

Likelihood Criteria 1 - Unlikely to occur 2 - Lower than average 
chance of occurrence 

3 - Even chance of 
occurrence 

4 - Higher than average 
chance of occurrence 

5 - Expected to occur 

Risk Description Impact (severity) Probability (deliverability) Risk Score 

Risks of the project will be realised 
from Preferred Strategy stage 
onwards. 

  Probability x Impact e.g. 3 x 5 = 15 

The main risks identified within the 
Integrated Impact Analysis have to 
do with the Plan being consistent 
as it progresses forward, with 
emerging national and area 
policies that are not yet available, 
even in draft and that late 
availability as the Plan progresses 
may introduce delay to Plan 
preparation and late stage 
modifications to secure 
consistency.  The team has past 
experience of updating plans to 
take new policy into account  
 
These risks include:  

   

The Welsh Government National 
Development Framework 
[Draft July 2019; Published Plan 
September 2020] 

3 5 15 

Natural Resources Wales: Mid 
Wales and Marine Area 
Statements [Autumn 2019 draft, 
Spring 2020 publication] 

2 5 10 

P
age 215



Cyngor Sir Ceredigion County Council - Integrated Impact Assessment (IIA) 

An integrated tool to inform effective decision making 

30 
FINAL VERSION LDP2 / IIA004vs2 Oct 2021 

 

May 2018 

SWRAWP emerging Regional 
Technical Statement (Aggregates ) 
revision 2 Likely to require working 
into the Deposit Plan 

2 5 10 

Planning Policy Wales Update  
[Autumn 2020, likely to require 
compliance update to the 
Inspector, during the Examination 
of the Plan] 

2 5 10 

The main risks associated with an 
LDP pause stem from Phosphates 
mitigations proving difficult or 
unviable along the Teifi in the 
medium term 

5 4 20 

Another main risk form the LDP 
pause stems from the existing LDP 
being out of date and pressure 
from external developments that 
do not accord with local policy, 
thus relying on national policy 
where local policy does not fit 

3 2 6 

P
age 216



Cyngor Sir Ceredigion County Council - Integrated Impact Assessment (IIA) 

An integrated tool to inform effective decision making 

31 
FINAL VERSION LDP2 / IIA004vs2 Oct 2021 

 

May 2018 

 

    

  Does your proposal have a potential impact on another Service area?   

Development Management; 
Housing Policy; 
Economy and Growth 
Highways 
Ecology 
Waste 
Carbon Reduction 

 

  6.  SIGN OFF   

Position Name Signature Date 

Service Manager Cath Ranson Cath Ranson 31 August 2017 

     Preferred Strategy 
Cath Ranson 

   24th May 2019 

Phosphates Update Sarah Groves-Phillips Sarah Groves-Phillips 4th of October 2021 

Corporate Lead Officer Russell Hughes-Pickering Russell Hughes-Pickering    24th May 2019 

    

    

Chief Executive Eifion Evans   

    

    

Portfolio Holder Cllr Rhodri Evans   

    

    

 

P
age 217



T
his page is intentionally left blank



1 
 

CEREDIGION COUNTY COUNCIL 
 
Report to: Council 

 
Date of meeting: 21st October 2021 
  
Title: Democratic Services Committee Annual Report, 

2020/21. 
 

Purpose of the report: To present the Annual Report of the Democratic 
Services to Council. 
 

For: Information 
 

Chair of Democratic 
Services Committee: 

Councillor Ceredig Davies, Chair of Democratic 
Services Committee 

 
The Local Government (Wales) Measure 2011 requires each County Council to 
establish a Democratic Services Committee. The Measure prescribes the functions 
of the Democratic Services Committee and states that the Committee must make a 
report at least annually to the Council. 
 
The Democratic Services Annual Report is used to: 
a) Highlight the work carried out by the Democratic Services Committee; 
b) Show how the Democratic Services Committee has made a difference; 
c) Support continuous improvement for Councillors. 
 
The Annual Report will be published on the Council website. 
 

Wellbeing of Future 
Generations: 

Has an Integrated Impact Assessment been 
completed? If, not, please state why. 
No. This report is not related to a new Policy or change in 
service 
Summary: 
Long term: N/A 
Integration: N/A 

Collaboration: N/A 
Involvement: N/A 

Prevention: N/A 
 
Recommendation(s): To note the Democratic Services Annual Report, 

2020/21. 
 

Reasons for decision: To inform Council of the work being undertaken by 
the Democratic Services Committee. 

 
Overview and 
Scrutiny: 

Not applicable. Endorsed by the Democratic Services 
Committee. 
 

Policy Framework: Not applicable. 

Page 215

Agenda Item 10



2 
 

Strategic Objectives:  Ceredigion Council is an organisation that is fit-for-
purpose to deliver improving services to meet the 
needs of our citizens. 

Financial 
implications: 

None.  

Statutory Powers: Local Government (Wales) Measure 2011 

Background Papers: None. 
 

Appendices: Appendix A – Democratic Services Committee Annual 
Report 2020/21. 

 
Corporate Lead 
Officer: 

Lowri Edwards, Corporate Lead Officer: Democratic 
Services (Head of Democratic Services) 
 

Date: 15th October 2021. 
 

Page 216



1 
 

 

Democratic Services 

Committee  
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Annual Report 

2020/21 

 

 

 

Page 217



2 
 

Contents 
 

 

 Page  

Foreword by the Chair of the Committee 

 

3 

Terms of Reference of the Committee 4 

 

Members of the Committee 2020/21 

 

6 

The activities of the Committee 

 

7 

The year ahead 

 

11 

Attending the Committee / Contact us 

 

12 

 

  

Page 218



3 
 

Foreword from the Chair of the 

Committee 

 

The Local Government (Wales) Measure 2011 required each County and 
County Borough Council to establish a Democratic Services Committee 
and it has been a privilege to return to the role of the chair of the 
Democratic Services Committee following the Local Election in 2017. 
 
The Committee has focussed its work on ensuring that the needs and 
requirements of Members are addressed and that appropriate 
arrangements are made to support Members in their duties. During the 
year we reviewed developments in relation to the ‘Local Government and 
Elections (Wales) Act’ including a duty to encourage participation in 
decision-making, duty to make a petition scheme, duty to publish official 
addresses, electronic broadcasting of meetings, enabling job sharing for 
Leader and Cabinet Member positions as well as non-executive offices, 
family absence for Members, standards of conduct, and making 
information available to Overview and Scrutiny Committees.   Many of 
these changes will come into force from May 2022, however due to the 
pandemic, several have already been implemented. It was agreed to 
review these following the publication of guidance documents by the 
Welsh Government which is anticipated post November 2021.  The 
Committee also reviewed the size of the Governance and Audit 
Committee, revisions to the ‘Motions on Notice’, ‘Call In’ procedures, and 
voting procedures,  
 
 
The last 12 months have been extremely challenging, due to the Covid-
19 pandemic, with both Members and Officers working from home. 
Members have adapted extremely well to the new arrangements, thanks 
to all the support and training provided by the Democratic Services 
Officers.  I would like to extend my thanks and appreciation to the 
Committee for their time, dedication and support, and Officers who have 
supported the work of the Committee and all Members and I thank them 
all for their willingness, commitment and continued support. 
 
There are several matters that the Committee will be considering during 
the remainder of 2020/21, including continuing to ensure that the needs 

Page 219



4 
 

and requirements of Members are addressed in relation to  new facilities 
in the Council Chamber as well as ICT solutions for Members. 
 
 
Councillor Ceredig Davies 
Chairman of the Democratic Services Committee, Ceredigion County 
Council 
2020/21 

 

  

Page 220



5 
 

Terms of Reference of the 

Committee 

 

Democratic Services Committee Terms of Reference 

The Local Government (Wales) Measure 2011 (the Measure) requires the 
local authority to appoint a Democratic Services Committee. At its first 
meeting in July 2012, the Terms of Reference were agreed as follows: 
 
The functions of the Democratic Services Committee are to: 

 Carry out the local authority’s function of designating the Head of 
Democratic 
Services (HDS) 

 Keep under review the provision of staff, accommodation and other 
resources 
made available to the HDS, in order to ensure that it is adequate for 
the responsibilities of the post 

 Make reports, at least annually, to the full council in relation to these 
matters 

 To consider, and make recommendations to the Council, 
concerning the timing of meetings 

 To oversee the training and development of Members. 
 
Membership 
The Committee will comprise 6 Members as appointed by the Council. 
 
Chairman 
The Chairman will be appointed by the Council and will serve for a term 
of two consecutive municipal years (in accordance with Article 5.2 of Part 
2 of the Constitution). 
 
Co-option 
The Measure does not provide the Committee with powers to co-opt 
persons onto the Committee. 
 
Sub-committees 
The Committee may appoint sub-committees as and when required and 
delegate functions to them. 

Page 221



6 
 

 
The Committee will appoint the Chairman of any sub-committee. 
 
Attendance to answer questions 
The Committee (and any sub-committee) has the power to require the 
attendance of any Members or Officers of the Council to answer questions 
and can invite anyone else it likes to do so also. If a member or officer is 
required to attend they must answer any questions unless the question is 
one which they would be entitled to refuse in a court. 
 
Access to information 
The Committee’s proceedings are subject to the Council Access to 
Information Rules as found in Document B Part 4 of the Constitution. 
 
Frequency of meetings 
The Committee will meet at least three times in any municipal year. 
 
A meeting of the Committee can also be convened if the full Council so 
decides or at least a third of the members of the Committee demands a 
meeting. 
 
The onus lies on the Chairman to ensure that meetings are held when 
required. 
 
Welsh Government Guidance 
The Committee must have regard to guidance from Welsh Ministers when 
exercising its functions. 
 
Reports of the Head of Democratic Services 
Any report presented to the Committee by the HDS must be considered 
by the Committee within three months. Similarly, any report made by the 
Committee must be considered by the full Council within three months. 

  

Page 222



7 
 

Membership of the Committee 

 

Members of the Democratic Services Committee 

2020/21 

The Committee is made up of 6 Members and is politically balanced. In 
2020/21 it was chaired by Councillor Ceredig Davies. The Members have 
worked together to progress the work of the Democratic Services 
Committee: 

 

Councillor Possible Actual 

Councillor Ceredig Davies (Chair) 

Liberal Democrats 

1 1 

Councillor Clive Davies 

Plaid Cymru 

1 1 

Councillor Lloyd Edwards 

Liberal Democrats 

1 1 

 

Councillor Gwyn James 

Independent 

1 1 

Councillor Dai Mason 

Independent Voice 

1 1 

Councillor Wyn Thomas 

Plaid Cymru 

1 1  

 

Due to the COVID-19 outbreak in March 2020, it was not possible to 

convene the meeting in May 2020, as scheduled.   

Page 223



8 
 

The activities of the Committee 

2020/21 

 

In the past year, the Democratic Services Committee has undertaken a 

range of activities. The information below highlights the issues discussed 

and the views expressed by the Committee: 

 
Remote Meetings 
 
 

It was noted that Council’s Annual General Meeting had been held prior 
to lock-down in March.  Following an extensive review of the various 
systems and mechanisms for holding remote meetings, it was decide that 
‘zoom’ would be the most appropriate mechanism as it provided for 
simultaneous translation.  At that time, Microsoft were developing a 
platform for translation via ‘Teams’, however this facility has yet to be 
launched.  
 
One-to-one training was offered to every Member, and since meetings 
resumed over the summer, all Councillors have been able to attend via 
‘zoom’ with one Councillor joining the meeting by telephone.   
 
Guidance notes and a good practice guide for attending and participating 
at remote meetings were agreed and published on the website. 
 
 

 
Self-Evaluation of Overview and Scrutiny Survey 
 
Consideration was given to the findings of the self-evaluation survey 
which considered the effectiveness of Overview and Scrutiny 
Committees. It was noted that the number of respondents was twenty-
five, an increase of five from the previous year.  The Committee was 
pleased to note that overall, the response to the survey were reassuring.  
It was noted that on the recommendation of this committee, the number 
of questions had been reduced to 9 with an aim to increase participation, 
which had been successful.   
 

Page 224



9 
 

The committee noted that each time the review is held in relation to the 
timing of the meetings, the majority have asked that the current pattern 
continue.  It was noted that attending remote meetings is less demanding 
on the time of those who work during the day and that there would be 
additional challenges to holding remote meetings outside of office hours. 
 
The Committee agreed that the self-evaluation should be undertaken 
annually, that the number of questions should be reduced with an aim to 
increase participation and to review the format of the report presented to 
the Committee 
 
 
Webcast system for the Council Chamber 

 

 

It was noted that during a previous meeting, the Committee decided to 

postpone the purchase of a webcast system for the Council Chamber until 

further information becomes available, and to monitor and review 

developments in relation to the ‘Local Government and Elections (Wales) 

Bill’.  In December 2020, the Welsh Government Announced a support 

package to support the implementation of the Local Government and 

Elections (Wales) Act with £500,000 of that allocated to support the digital 

transformation of democracy to underpin many of the provisions contained 

within the Act.  Ceredigion County Council submitted an application, and 

were notified on 31 March 2021, that we had been successful in obtaining 

funding in order to upgrade the equipment within the Council Chamber 

which would enable us to host hybrid meetings, where Councillors and 

Members of the public are able to attend in person or remotely from May 

2022 in accordance with the requirement of the Act.  

 

A tender process followed and the successful bidder will commence the 

work from November of this year.  Training will be provided to all 

Members, as well as guidance to members of the public who may wish to 

attend. 

 

 

Implementation of the ‘Modern.gov’ Meeting Management 

System. 

 

Page 225



10 
 

During the lock-down, the ‘Modern.gov’ meeting management system 

was also implemented and 3 workshops were held to provide training 

to Members. 

 

Members’ Training and Development 

 

The following training / briefing sessions have been available remotely 

to Members during 2020/21: 

 Development Control Committee Workshops 28.09.2020 / 
09.11.2020 / 08.12.2020 

 Census 16.12.2020 

 Porth Ceredigion 16.12.2020 

 Budget Workshop 19.01.2021 

 Overview and Scrutiny – Learning Communities workshop 
01.02.2021 

 CYSGA (Language Committee) 08.02.2021 

 Cyber Fraud 30.04.2021 

 Modern.gov 29.04.2021 / 30.04.2021 / 04.05.2021 
 

 
  

Page 226



11 
 

The Year Ahead 

 

The key areas the Democratic Services Committee will consider during 

2021/22 are as follows: 

 

 Consideration to the results of the annual self-evaluation of 

Overview and Scrutiny survey; 

 To review participation in relation to the Members’ Annual Reports; 

 Monitoring implementation of the Local Government and Elections 

(Wales) Act in relation to: 

 

- Candidate guide for the 2022 election 

- Revised job-descriptions for Members 

- Training for new and returning Members following the election in 

2022 

- IT provision for Members post the election in 2022 

- E-Petition 

- Facilitating hybrid meetings 

 

 Review the size of all Committees in relation to reduction in overall 

Members from 2022, following the Local Elections; 

 Developing an action Plan following approval of the Diversity in 

Democracy Declaration; 

 Ensuring adequate support is provided to Members; 

 Any matters that are raised by Members that requires the 

Committee’s consideration. 

 

  

Page 227



12 
 

Attending the Democratic Services 

Committee / Contact us 

 

Attending meetings of the Democratic Services Committee 

The Council is keen to see members of the public attend Democratic 

Services Committee meetings and all other Council meetings, including 

Council itself, Cabinet, the Overview and Scrutiny Committee meetings, 

Development Control Committee and the Licensing Committee. 

 

With the exception of confidential items, all business is held in public. All 

of the public papers are published online 3 working days in advance of the 

meeting  

http://www.ceredigion.gov.uk/your-council/councillors-

committees/committees/  

 

Contact us 

If you wish to find out more about the Democratic Services Committee or 

make a comment or suggestion, please contact us:  

 

Democratic Services, Neuadd Cyngor Ceredigion, Penmorfa, Aberaeron, 
SA46 0PA 
 
01545 570881          democracy@ceredigion.gov.uk 
 

Follow the Council on Facebook and Twitter 

 

www.facebook.com/CeredigionCC 

 

 

@CeredigionCC 

Page 228

http://www.ceredigion.gov.uk/your-council/councillors-committees/committees/
http://www.ceredigion.gov.uk/your-council/councillors-committees/committees/
mailto:democracy@ceredigion.gov.uk
http://www.google.co.uk/imgres?imgurl=http://www.site-seeker.com/wp-content/uploads/twitter-logo.png&imgrefurl=http://www.site-seeker.com/case-study-twitter-ads-target-audience/&h=790&w=2100&tbnid=UG8p4n8HrmOp6M:&zoom=1&docid=hB0zxVBZKDrOuM&ei=oPyGVLn_CMT9UJuTg9gI&tbm=isch&ved=0CEMQMygJMAk&iact=rc&uact=3&page=1&start=0&ndsp=30


 

1 
 

CEREDIGION COUNTY COUNCIL 
 
Report to: Council 

 
Date of meeting: 21st October 2021 
  
Title: The County of Ceredigion (Electoral Arrangements) 

Order 2021 
 

Purpose of the report: To inform Council of the legislation that amends the 
electoral arrangements for the County of Ceredigion 
 

For: Information 
 

Cabinet Portfolio and 
Cabinet Member: 

N/A 
 

 
Background 
 
The Local Democracy and Boundary Commission for Wales conducted a review of 
electoral arrangements in Ceredigion in accordance with the Local Government 
(Democracy) (Wales) Act 2013, publishing its Final Recommendations on 31 May 
2019.  
 
The Commission proposed a Council of 38 Councillors, a reduction from the present 
42 members, with a county average of 1,384 electors per Member. It also 
recommended 34 electoral wards, a reduction from the 40 existing wards. 
 
On 14 September 2021, the Minister for Finance and Local Government issued a 
Written Statement accepting the recommendations of the Local Democracy and 
Boundary Commission for Wales for electoral arrangements in Ceredigion. 
 
The County of Ceredigion (Electoral Arrangements) Order 2021 
 
On 11th October 2021, the Minister for Finance and Local Government Made the 
Order, accepting the recommendations made by the Local Democracy and 
Boundary Commission for Wales. 
 
The Order comes into force on the ordinary day of election of councillors in 2022 i.e. 
5th May 2022. 
 
The changes are summarised as follows: 
 

 A reduction of Councillors from 42 to 38; 

 A reduction of electoral wards from 40 to 34; 

 There are 18 changes to electoral wards in all; 

 There will be 4 multi-member electoral wards.  
 
Full details, including the Welsh and English names of each electoral ward, the area 
and the number of members can be found in Appendix A. 

Page 229

Agenda Item 11



 

2 
 

Wellbeing of Future 
Generations: 

Has an Integrated Impact 
Assessment been completed? 
If, not, please state why 

None – report refers 
to legislation 

Summary: 
Long term: N/A 
Integration: N/A 
Collaboration: N/A 
Involvement: N/A 
Prevention: N/A 

 
Recommendation(s): For Council to note the contents of The County of 

Ceredigion (Electoral Arrangements) Order 2021, 
which will come into force on the ordinary day of 
election of councillors in 2022. 
 

Reasons for decision: For Council to be aware of the changes to the 
electoral arrangements for the County of Ceredigion 
from the local elections to be held 5th May 2022. 

 
Overview and 
Scrutiny: 

N/A 

Policy Framework: N/A 
Corporate Priorities: 
 

N/A 

Finance and 
Procurement 
implications: 

N/A 

Legal Implications: 
 

N/A 

Staffing implications: 
 

N/A 

Property / asset 
implications: 
 

N/A 

Risk(s):  
 

N/A 

Statutory Powers: 
 

The County of Ceredigion (Electoral Arrangements) Order 
2021 
 

Background Papers: 
 

N/A 

Appendices: Appendix A – The County of Ceredigion (Electoral 
Arrangements) Order 2021 

 
Chief Executive: Eifion Evans, Chief Executive 

 

Corporate Lead 
Officer: 

Lowri Edwards, Corporate Lead Officer: Democratic 
Services 
 

Date: 13th October 2021 

Page 230



 

3 
 

 

Page 231



Status:  This is the original version (as it was originally made). This
item of legislation is currently only available in its original format.

WELSH STATUTORY INSTRUMENTS

2021 No. 1140 (W. 277)

LOCAL GOVERNMENT, WALES

The County of Ceredigion (Electoral Arrangements) Order 2021

Made       -      -      -      - 11 October 2021
Coming into force in accordance with article 1(2) and
(3)

The Local Democracy and Boundary Commission for Wales(1) has, in accordance with section 36(5)
of the Local Government (Democracy) (Wales) Act 2013(2) (“the 2013 Act”), submitted to the Welsh
Ministers a report dated May 2019 containing its recommendations for change and the details of its
review of the electoral arrangements for the County of Ceredigion.
The Welsh Ministers have, after consideration of the matters referred to and set out in section 37(2)
(a) and (c) of the 2013 Act, decided to give effect to those recommendations with modifications.
In accordance with section 37(3) of the 2013 Act, more than 6 weeks have elapsed since those
recommendations were submitted to the Welsh Ministers.
The Welsh Ministers make the following Order in exercise of their powers conferred by section 37(1)
of the 2013 Act.

Title, commencement and interpretation

1.—(1)  The title of this Order is the County of Ceredigion (Electoral Arrangements) Order 2021.
(2)  For any purpose set out in regulation 4(1) of the Local Government Area Changes Regulations

1976(3), this Order comes into force on the second day after the day on which it is made.
(3) For all other purposes, this Order comes into force on the ordinary day of election of

councillors in 2022(4).
(4) In this Order—

“electoral ward” (“ward etholiadol”) means any area for which members are elected to
Ceredigion County Council;

(1) The Local Government Boundary Commission for Wales was established by section 53 of, and Schedule 8 to, the Local
Government Act 1972 (c. 70) (“the 1972 Act”). Section 53 and Schedule 8 were repealed by section 73(2) of, and Schedule 2
to, the Local Government (Democracy) (Wales) Act 2013 (anaw 4) (“the 2013 Act”). The 2013 Act re-names the Local
Government Boundary Commission for Wales as the Local Democracy and Boundary Commission for Wales (see section 2).

(2) 2013 anaw 4.
(3) S.I. 1976/246. Section 74(3) of the 2013 Act provides that these Regulations continue to have effect in relation to orders made

under Part 3 of the 2013 Act, as if those orders were made under Part 4 of the 1972 Act.
(4) The Local Authorities (Change to the Years of Ordinary Elections) (Wales) Order 2019 (S.I. 2019/1269 (W. 220)) amends

section 26(1) of the 1972 Act to provide that the year in which the ordinary elections of councillors of local authorities shall
take place is 2022 instead of 2021.

APPENDIX A

Page 232

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/id/ukpga/1972/70
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/id/anaw/2013/4
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/id/anaw/2013/4
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/id/uksi/1976/246
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/id/wsi/2019/1269


Document Generated: 2021-10-13
Status:  This is the original version (as it was originally made). This
item of legislation is currently only available in its original format.

words and expressions used in this Order have the same meaning as they have in Part 3 of
the Local Government (Democracy) (Wales) Act 2013, except so far as a contrary intention
appears.

Electoral arrangements for the County of Ceredigion

2.—(1)  The electoral wards of the County of Ceredigion, as they exist immediately before the
ordinary day of election of councillors in 2022, are abolished.

(2)  The County of Ceredigion is divided into 34 electoral wards each bearing the English language
name listed in column 1 and the Welsh language name listed in column 2 of the Table in the Schedule
to this Order.

(3)  Each electoral ward comprises the areas specified in relation to that electoral ward in column
3 of the Table in the Schedule to this Order.

(4)  The number of members of the council to be elected for each electoral ward is the number
specified in column 4 of the Table in the Schedule to this Order.

(5)  The provisions in this Order take precedence over any conflicting provision in any previous
statutory instrument made under section 58(2) of the Local Government Act 1972(5).

11 October 2021

Rebecca Evans
Minister for Finance and Local Government, one

of the Welsh Ministers

(5) 1972 c. 70; section 58 of the 1972 Act was repealed by section 73(2) of, and Schedule 2 to, the 2013 Act, subject to savings
provisions specified in section 74 of the 2013 Act.

2

Page 233

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/id/ukpga/1972/70


Document Generated: 2021-10-13
Status:  This is the original version (as it was originally made). This
item of legislation is currently only available in its original format.

SCHEDULE Article 2

NAMES AND AREAS OF ELECTORAL WARDS
AND NUMBER OF MEMBERS OF THE COUNCIL

Table

Column (1) Column (2) Column (3) Column (4)
English language name
of electoral ward

Welsh language name
of electoral ward

Area of electoral ward Number of
members of the
council

Aberaeron and Aberarth Aberaeron ac Aber-arth The town of Aberaeron
and the Llanddewi
Aberarth ward of the
community of Dyffryn
Arth

1

Aberporth and Y Ferwig Aber-porth a’r Ferwig The communities of
Aberporth and Y Ferwig

2

Aberystwyth Morfa a
Glais

Aberystwyth Morfa a
Glais

The Bronglais, Canol/
Central and Gogledd/
North wards of the town
of Aberystwyth

2

Aberystwyth Penparcau Aberystwyth Penparcau The Penparcau ward of
the town of Aberystwyth

2

Aberystwyth Rheidol Aberystwyth Rheidol The Rheidol ward of the
town of Aberystwyth

1

Beulah and Llangoedmor Beulah a Llangoedmor The communities of
Beulah, and
Llangoedmor

2

Borth Y Borth The communities of
Borth, and Geneu’r Glyn

1

Ceulan a Maesmawr Ceulan a Maesmawr The communities of
Ceulanamaesmawr,
Llangynfelyn, and
Ysgubor-y-Coed

1

Ciliau Aeron Ciliau Aeron The communities of
Ciliau Aeron, and
Henfynyw

1

Faenor Faenor The community of
Faenor

1

Lampeter Llanbedr Pont Steffan The town of Lampeter 1

Llannarth Llannarth The community of
Llanarth

1

Llanbadarn Fawr Llanbadarn Fawr The community of
Llanbadarn Fawr

1

3

Page 234



Document Generated: 2021-10-13
Status:  This is the original version (as it was originally made). This
item of legislation is currently only available in its original format.

Column (1) Column (2) Column (3) Column (4)
English language name
of electoral ward

Welsh language name
of electoral ward

Area of electoral ward Number of
members of the
council

Llandyfriog Llandyfrïog The community of
Llandyfriog

1

Llandysilio and
Llangrannog

Llandysilio a
Llangrannog

The communities of
Llandysiliogogo, and
Llangrannog

1

Llandysul North and
Troedyraur

Gogledd Llandysul a
Throed-yr-aur

The community of
Troedyraur, and the
Pontshaen and Tregroes
wards of the community
of Llandysul

1

Llandysul South De Llansysul The Capel Dewi and
Trefol wards of the
community of Llandysul

1

Llanfarian Llanfarian The community of
Llanfarian

1

Llanfihangel Ystrad Llanfihangel Ystrad The community of
Llanfihangel Ystrad, and
the Nantcwnlle and
the Trefilan wards
of the community of
Nantcwnlle

1

Llangeitho Llangeitho The communities of
Llanddewi Brefi, and
Llangeitho

1

Llangybi Llangybi The communities of
Llanfair Clydogau, and
Llangybi, and the
Gartheli ward of
the community of
Nantcwnlle

1

Llanrhystyd Llanrhystud The communities of
Llangwyryfon, and
Llanrhystyd

1

Llansanffraid Llansanffraid The community of
Llansantffraed, and the
Llanbadarn Trefeglwys
ward of the community
of Dyffryn Arth

1

Llanwenog Llanwenog The communities of
Llanwenog, and
Llanwnnen

1

4

Page 235



Document Generated: 2021-10-13
Status:  This is the original version (as it was originally made). This
item of legislation is currently only available in its original format.

Column (1) Column (2) Column (3) Column (4)
English language name
of electoral ward

Welsh language name
of electoral ward

Area of electoral ward Number of
members of the
council

Lledrod Lledrod The communities of
Lledrod, Ystrad Meurig,
and Ysbyty Ystwyth

1

Melindwr Melindwr The communities of
Blaenrheidol,
Pontarfynach, and
Melindwr

1

Mwldan Mwldan The Mwldan ward of the
town of Cardigan

1

New Quay and
Llanllwchaearn

Ceinewydd a
Llanllwchaearn

The town of New Quay
and the community of
Llanllwchaiarn

1

Penbryn Penbryn The community of
Penbryn

1

Teifi Teifi The Rhyd-y-Fuwch and
Teifi wards of the town of
Cardigan

1

Tirymynach Tirymynach The community of
Tirymynach

1

Trefeurig Trefeurig The community of
Trefeurig

1

Tregaron and Ystrad
Fflur

Tregaron ac Ystrad-Fflur The town of Tregaron
and the community of
Ystrad Fflur

1

Ystwyth Ystwyth The communities of
Llanilar, and Trawsgoed

1

EXPLANATORY NOTE

(This note is not part of the Order)

This Order implements the recommendations of the Local Democracy and Boundary Commission
for Wales (“the Commission”) which reported in May 2019 on its review of the electoral
arrangements for the County of Ceredigion. The Commission’s Report proposed a reduction in the
number of electoral wards from 40 to 34 and a reduction in the number of councillors from 42 to 38.

This Order implements the Commission’s recommendations with modifications.

5

Page 236



Document Generated: 2021-10-13
Status:  This is the original version (as it was originally made). This
item of legislation is currently only available in its original format.

Article 2 of this Order abolishes the existing electoral arrangements for the County of Ceredigion
and introduces a Schedule which sets out the new electoral arrangements for the electoral wards
within the County of Ceredigion.

The Welsh Ministers’ code of Practice on the carrying out of Regulatory Impact Assessments
was considered in relation to this Order. As a result, it was not considered necessary to carry out a
regulatory impact assessment as to the likely costs and benefits of complying with this Order.

6

Page 237



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	5 To confirm the Minutes of the Meetings of the Council held on 23 September 2021
	6 To confirm the Minutes of the Special Meetings of the Council held on 27 September 2021
	7 To consider the Joint report of the Corporate Director on the Through Age & Wellbeing Strategy 2021 - 2027 and Action Plan
	Council report TAW Strategy  Action Plan_LE
	Through Age and Wellbeing Strategy 2021-2027 and Action Plan
	TAW Strategy action plan template V5S
	Ceredigion TAWM Strategy final agreed draft 300721
	Slide Number 1
	Slide Number 2
	Slide Number 3
	Slide Number 4
	Slide Number 5
	Slide Number 6
	Slide Number 7
	Slide Number 8
	Slide Number 9
	Slide Number 10
	Slide Number 11
	Slide Number 12
	Slide Number 13
	Slide Number 14
	Slide Number 15
	Slide Number 16
	Slide Number 17
	Slide Number 18
	Slide Number 19
	Slide Number 20
	Slide Number 21
	Slide Number 22
	Slide Number 23
	Slide Number 24
	Slide Number 25
	Slide Number 26
	Slide Number 27
	Slide Number 28
	Slide Number 29
	Slide Number 30
	Slide Number 31
	Slide Number 32
	Slide Number 33
	Slide Number 34
	Slide Number 35
	Slide Number 36



	8 To consider the report of the Corporate Lead Officer for Policy, Performance and Public Protection on the Draft Well-being & Improvement Objectives Annual Report 2020-21
	Council Report 21 October 2021 eng
	Appendix A Review of Well-being Objectives
	Appendix B Well-being and Improvement Objectives Annual Report 2020-21

	9 To consider the report of the Corporate Lead Officer for Economy and Regeneration on the implications of phosphate levels in the Teifi SAC catchment on delivery of the replacement LDP
	council-report-Phosphates Position Paper for the LDP v3
	Phosphate position paper V3 Aug 2021
	Integrated impact assessment LDP2-IIA0005 for Phosphates

	10 To consider the Democratic Services Committee Annual Report 2020-21
	DS Cttee Annual report - covering report
	Democratic Services Committee Annual Report 2020-21

	11 To consider the report of the Chief Executive in relation to The County of Ceredigion (Electoral Arrangements) Order 2021
	Council report re Electoral Arrangements Order 2021
	The County of Ceredigion (Electoral Arrangements) Order 2021




